
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Applications Sub-Committee 

 
Date: TUESDAY, 13 FEBRUARY 2024 

Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: LIVERY HALL - GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Deputy Shravan Joshi (Chairman) 

Graham Packham (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Brendan Barns 
Ian Bishop-Laggett 
Deputy Michael Cassidy 
Deputy Simon Duckworth 
Mary Durcan 
John Edwards 
Anthony David Fitzpatrick 
Deputy John Fletcher 
Dawn Frampton 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Jaspreet Hodgson 
Amy Horscroft 
Alderman Robert Hughes-Penney 

Deputy Charles Edward Lord 
Antony Manchester 
Deputy Brian Mooney 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
Alderwoman Jennette Newman 
Deborah Oliver 
Alderwoman Susan Pearson 
Judith Pleasance 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
Alderman Simon Pryke 
Ian Seaton 
Hugh Selka 
Luis Felipe Tilleria 
Shailendra Kumar Kantilal Umradia 
William Upton KC 
Jacqui Webster 
Vacancy 

 
 
Enquiries: Zoe Lewis 

zoe.lewis@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London Corporation by following 

the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of the public meeting 
for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not constitute the formal minutes of the 
meeting; minutes are written and are available on the City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may 
be edited, at the discretion of the proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 

 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible due to technical 
difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded following the end of the meeting. 

 
Ian Thomas CBE 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

AGENDA 
 

NB: Certain matters for information have been marked * and will be taken without discussion, 
unless the Committee Clerk has been informed that a Member has questions or comments 
prior to the start of the meeting. These information items have been collated in a 
supplementary agenda pack and circulated separately. 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 
 

2. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes of the Planning Applications Sub-Committee meeting 
held on 26 January 2024. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 5 - 16) 

 
 

3. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 
 

4. MIDDLESEX STREET ESTATE, GRAVEL LANE, LONDON, E1 7AF 
 

 Report of the Planning & Development Director. 
 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 17 - 228) 

 
 

5. PORTSOKEN PAVILION 1 ALDGATE SQUARE LONDON EC3N 1AF 
 

 Report of the Planning & Development Director. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 229 - 296) 

 
 

6. * VALID PLANNING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED BY DEPARTMENT OF THE 
BUILT ENVIRONMENT 

 

 Report of the Planning & Development Director. 
 
 

 For Information 
  

 



3 
 

7. * DELEGATED DECISIONS OF THE CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER AND 
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 

 

 Report of the Planning & Development Director. 
 
 

 For Information 
  

 
8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-

COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
Friday, 26 January 2024  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Applications Sub-Committee held at Livery 

Hall - Guildhall on Friday, 26 January 2024 at 10.30 am 
 

Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Shravan Joshi (Chairman) 
Graham Packham (Deputy Chairman) 
Brendan Barns 
Ian Bishop-Laggett 
Mary Durcan 
John Edwards 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Jaspreet Hodgson 
Deputy Charles Edward Lord 
Deputy Brian Mooney 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
Alderwoman Susan Pearson 
Ian Seaton 
Hugh Selka 
Jacqui Webster 
 

 
Officers: 
Zoe Lewis      -    Town Clerk’s Department 
Baljit Bhandal    - Comptroller and City Solicitor’s  

Department 
Mark Butler      -  Environment Department 
James Hammond     -  Environment Department 
David Horkan -          Environment Department 

Kerstin Kane -      Environment Department 

Tom Nancollas  
Taluana Patricio 
Joseph Penn 
Gwyn Richards  
Anna Tastsoglou 
Alex Thwaites 
Robin Whitehouse 
Morgan Wild 

-      Environment Department 
-      Environment Department 
-      Environment Department 
-      Environment Department 
-      Environment Department 
-      Environment Department 
-      Environment Department 
-      Environment Department 

Peter Wilson -      Environment Department 

  

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies had been received from Deputy Randall Anderson, Anthony 
Fitzpatrick, John Fletcher, Dawn Frampton, Alderman Hughes-Penney, Judith 
Pleasance, Deputy Henry Pollard, Shailendra Umradia and William Upton. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
Deputy John Fletcher requested that it be noted that he was not in attendance 
on the advice of the City Solicitors as he lived close to the proposed scheme. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
Ian Seaton declared that in relation to Agenda Item 4, a member of his 
immediate family was an employee of Patrizia. 
 

3. MINUTES  
The Sub-Committee considered the public minutes of the last meeting held on 
8 December 2023 and approved them as a correct record. 
 

4. 30-33 MINORIES AND WRITERS HOUSE, 13 HAYDON STREET, LONDON, 
EC3N 1PE  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Planning and Development 
Director concerning the demolition of existing building at 30-33 Minories and 
partial demolition of The Writers House and erection of a building comprising 
lower ground, one basement level and ground floor (with mezzanine) and 12 
storeys above (69.005m AOD) for office use (Class E) and town centre uses 
(Classes E and Sui Generis). Refurbishment of Writers House, 13 Haydon 
Street for office use (Class E) and cultural/community uses (Classes F1, F2 
and Sui Generis). Provision of new public realm, dedicated servicing bay, 
ancillary cycle parking and plant and other associated highway works. 
 
The Town Clerk referred to those papers set out within the main agenda pack 
as well as the Officer presentation slides and an addendum that had been 
separately circulated and published.  
 
Officers presented the application, highlighting that the application site was  
located on the eastern edge of the City of London, near the boundary with the 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets. It was located to the east of Minories, to 
the north of Haydon Street, to the south of St. Clare’s and to the west of the 
Guinness Estate. An Officer stated that the site was not located within a 
conservation area,but was located within the backdrop views of the Tower of 
London. The site comprised St. Clare’s House, which was a t-shaped 1950s 
building with a 5-storey block to the front and a 13- storey element to the rear. 
 
Members were shown the view of the building from Ibex House with taller 
buildings to the north and also the view from St. Clare Street. 
 
The Sub-Committee were informed that the development included Writers 
House, which was a Victorian former warehouse building which had been 
identified as a non-designated heritage asset due to its architectural, historic 
and archaeological interest. 
 
Members were shown a view from the eastern elevation of the building from 
within the open space of the Guinness Estate. They were also shown a view 
from the east, showing the application site within the eclectic mix of the 
buildings along Minories.  

Page 6



 
The Officer stated that the proposed development comprised the demolition of 
the existing building at 30 to 33 Minories and the erection of a building 
comprising lower ground, one basement level and ground floor with 12 storeys 
above for office use to the upper floors and town centre uses including retail, 
cafe, restaurant, bar and fitness centre at ground and lower ground floor levels. 
The Officer stated that the proposal would also involve the refurbishment of 
Writers House for office use to the upper floors and cultural and community 
uses at ground and lower ground levels. 
 
Members were shown an axonometric plan, showing the different uses 
proposed. They were informed that the entrance to the offices would be on 
Minories with retail and leisure uses on either side. The Officer outlined the 
space that would provide flexible town centre and office uses and also the 
entrances to the cycle parking for the Minories Building. Cycle access for the 
Minories building would be from Hayden Street and for Writers House it would 
be from St. Clare Street. There would be a total of 305 long stay and 41 short 
stay spaces. Policy compliance cycle spaces would be provided along with 
showers and locker facilities. 
 
Two off-site servicing bays were proposed south of St. Clare Street. It was 
expected that up to 30 consolidated vehicle trips a day would be generated by 
the development, and this was considered acceptable. 
 
Members were informed that following public engagements the proposal for 
Writers House was to utilise the ground floor for a combination of quiet working 
and studying space and space for social interaction activities whilst the lower 
ground would be used for knowledge sharing and skills development. There 
would be community and cultural uses at ground and lower ground levels. 
Members were also informed that archaeology would play an important role in 
Writers House as a cultural destination, through the potential exposure and 
display of the archaeological remains surviving on the west wall of Writers 
House and also the display of a curated exhibition of artifacts recovered from 
the site. This would be in association with the Museum of London archaeology. 
Writers House would include affordable workspace to the upper floors, which 
would fulfil the City's vision for providing inclusive workspace. 
 
The Officer stated that the proposal would introduce a new public open space, 
Sheppy Place, to the north of Writers House. This would provide seating, 
greening, landscaping, new surface materials and spill-out space from the 
ground floor. It would be accessed from both Writers House and 30 Minories. 
The proposed development would involve some alterations in the building 
alignment, resulting in a gain of public highway on the corner of Minories and 
Haydon Street of just under 31 square metres. There would be a minor loss on 
St. Clare Street. 
 
Members were shown floor plans of the lower ground and basement of the 
proposed development and typical floor plan of Levels 1-6, Level 7, 8,9, 10 and 
11. The Officer stated that the building stepped back from Minories and Haydon 
Street. Members were shown the roof plan and Level 12 floor plan as well as a 

Page 7



cross section of the building, and the east elevation of the building, which would 
be the view from the Guinness Estate. They were also shown the north 
elevation from St. Clare Street, the elevation from Minories, stepping away and 
down towards Ibex House to the right-hand side and the elevation from Haydon 
Street with the building stepping backwards from Minories. 
 
The Sub-Committee were shown an image of the view of the proposed building 
from Minories. The Officer stated that in terms of massing, height and 
colouration, the development would appear as a complete city block, broken 
down to match the existing urban grain of Minories. The development would 
also be stepped down towards Ibex house with a taller element retained to the 
north, adjacent to the hotel Motel One. 
 
Members were shown an image of a closer view of the building. The Officer 
highlighted the high-quality design and the level of landscaping proposed 
through terraces and balconies. They were also shown a view of the building 
from a pedestrian point of view, with the southwestern corner chamfered to 
reveal the characteristic corner of the curved corners of Ibex House. 
 
The Officer stated that whilst the highest option in terms of whole life carbon 
emissions, the redevelopment options would have the opportunity for greater 
floor to ceiling heights, would provide greater operational efficiency, higher 
quality of grade A office space, substantial uplift and greening, biodiversity and 
greater climate resilience. The development would also receive excellent 
BREAAM assessment and it would reach the GLA embodied carbon emissions 
admission targets. In terms of urban greening, the development would achieve 
an urban greening factor score of 0.34, using the City of London factors which 
was 8.5 times more than the existing conditions.  
 
Members were informed that extensive assessment was carried out in terms of 
daylight and sunlight and this had been updated in the addendum. Members 
were shown images outlining the adverse impacts to Fenchurch House and 27 
Minories. The Officer stated that it should be noted that the effects would be to 
rooms that were bedrooms and a kitchen which according to the BRE 
standards, required less light. The Officer further stated that the overall daylight 
and sunlight available to the flats would be sufficient and acceptable living 
standards would be able to be achieved. 
 
Members were shown the Guiness Estate open space, which would still be able 
to receive at least two hours of sunlight, which accorded with the 
overshadowing requirements. Members were informed that the development 
would provide appropriate wind and thermal comfort conditions for the intended 
users. 
 
The Officer showed Members local townscape views illustrating that the 
development would sit quite comfortably with the massing and the eclectic mix 
of architectural style of the buildings in the vicinity and in particular, Ibex House. 
They were shown a view from the north towards the south with the building to 
the left. They were also shown a view towards the north with Ibex House to the 
right and a view from Mansell Street. They were shown existing, proposed and 

Page 8



cumulative scenario images of the development within the townscape views 
from Queen’s Walk and Tower Bridge, North Bastion. 
 
The Officer stated that the proposal would occupy approximately the same 
amount of sky space as the existing St. Clare’s House and Haydon buildings. 
Officers considered that the proposal would not have an effect on the clear sky 
backdrop of Writers House, and it would have a neutral impact to the world 
heritage asset. 
 
In conclusion, the Officer stated that the proposal would create a high-quality 
office-led commercial development with new community use, affordable 
workspace and an archaeological cultural destination within Writers House. The 
development would provide a significant uplift in flexible Grade A office 
floorspace (over 12,000 square metres) and a significant increase in the 
number of full-time jobs (over 1900). The proposal would support the 
regeneration of the Aldgate area, which had recent schemes addressing 
primarily residential and hotel needs. The proposal would provide a high-quality 
development which would significantly enhance the wider street block. It would 
provide extensive urban greening, active space with retail, leisure and 
community cultural uses, which would result in a positive contribution to the 
vibrancy of the area offering social and economic benefits and a new 
destination for the City. Officers considered that the development would have 
an acceptable impact on the living conditions of the nearby occupiers. To 
preserve residential amenity, robust conditions had been imposed in relation to 
demolition and construction. The Officer stated that the development would be 
acceptable in principle in terms of its transport, sustainability, townscape, 
design and environmental impacts, and it would provide significant public 
benefits. Officers recommended the approval of the application subject to the 
conditions in the agenda and as amended in the addendum, and also subject to 
the execution of planning obligations. 
 
The Chairman invited the registered objector to address the meeting but he 
was not in attendance. 
 
The Chairman invited the applicant to speak. 
 
Mr Richard Scutt, Development Director at Patrizia stated that he was 
presenting the plans for the future of 30-33 Minories and Writers House on 
behalf of Morgan Capital and the wider development team. He informed 
Members that the existing site was significantly under-optimised. It comprised a 
vacant car park on Hayden Street, an outdated tower and a podium structure 
provided low-quality office accommodation. He stated that the applicants were 
committed to opening up the site, delivering a new destination which would act 
as a genuine gateway between the City and its communities to the east, whilst 
also respecting the immediate context. He stated that an extensive carbon 
optioneering exercise had been undertaken and this had been endorsed by 
independent third-party review. The review had concluded that whilst there 
were additional carbon costs at the outset for the redevelopment option, there 
were significant improvements to the operational energy performance through 
the replacement of the buildings. Mr Scutt stated that the assessment 

Page 9



concluded therefore, that there was little value, in carbon terms, of retaining the 
existing buildings when compared to the redevelopment option across the 
building's lifespan. Furthermore, significant long-lasting benefits could be 
provided by replacing the existing buildings with new ones with leading 
sustainability credentials and which were targeting leading industry 
accreditations. 
 
Mr Scutt stated that a key element of the benefits package would see the 
refurbishment and opening up of the historic Writers House, a non-designated 
heritage asset on Haydon Street. Following a series of public and stakeholder 
engagements, sessions and discussions with local representatives, there had 
been positive dialogue with three delivery partners to create the future of 
Writers House - Poplar HARCA, Arbeit Studios and Museum of London 
Archaeology (MOLA). Poplar HARCA was an award-winning housing and 
regeneration community association founded in East London, which was 
committed to realising the community potential through creating thriving places. 
Mr Scutt explained that they were voted into existence by residents 25 years 
ago and had grown to now be leading on a £2.5 billion place shaping 
programme, which included new education, healthcare, business and 
community spaces. They had proposed to create a long-term community offer 
at Writers House, offering a new creative programme for younger people and 
initiatives to improve health and wellbeing events and networking and this was 
set out in the Cultural Strategy. 
 
Members were informed that the upper floors of Writers House would be 
designated as affordable workspace, targeting creative and cultural users, 
including start-ups and small businesses. The income from the affordable 
workspace would in turn provide core funding to the community use areas at 
lower levels. Arbeit Studios had been identified as an appropriate affordable 
workspace provider with extensive experience in creating attractive and 
interesting space for a wide-ranging mix of cultural and creative tenants. 
 
Acknowledging the archaeological interest of the site, MOLA had been 
identified to provide a unique cultural offer through the provisions of an 
education engagement programme during the course of the construction 
programme. In addition, they would provide a permanent display and hold talks 
following completion. 
 
Mr Scutt stated that in line with the commitment to reanimate the site, the 
applicant would deliver an active ground floor, a reinstated Haydon Street 
frontage, extensive new urban greening and landscaping. Sheppy Place would 
be transformed into a new hidden gem pocket park activated by the new 
development and Writers House would be transformed. To meet the City's 
demands for new high-quality, wellbeing-led office space, and by optimising the 
site, a significant uplift in premium workspace would be delivered to meet 
occupiers’ latest demands. In addition, the floor plates would also be flexible 
and capable of subdivision to be future proofed and capable of accommodating 
a range and mix of tenants for generations to come. 
 

Page 10



Mr Scutt stated that the applicant had been open and transparent with local 
communities throughout the process as ideas and plans for the site had been 
developed over the past two years. The City’s adopted engagement guidance 
had been exceeded with the applicant proactively undertaking door knocking on 
the neighbouring Mansell Street Estate as well as hosting community days and 
exhibitions in Writers House to open up the site and test ideas. 
 
Ms Amy Holtz, a Director at PLP Architecture stated that she was speaking on 
behalf of the design team about the scheme to deliver over 25,000 square 
metres of new office space for the City of London. 
 
She stated that the applicant aspired to support the ambitions of Destination 
City by providing meaningful and welcoming community benefits, creating high-
quality and active public realm, improving biodiversity and wellbeing through 
meaningful urban greening, and by delivering a flexible and sustainable new 
workplace. A holistic approach had been taken to sustainability and reducing 
carbon emissions with circular economy principles embedded in design 
decisions. 
 
Ms Holtz stated that the team had engaged in a rigorous assessment of the 
opportunities to best maximise the sustainable development potential of the 
site. This included design optioneering and whole life carbon analysis. Ms Holtz 
added that Writers House was identified early on as an asset warranting 
retention, celebration and opening up to neighbouring communities, whereas 
the qualitative benefits and future flexibility of the full redevelopment of the rest 
of the site far outweighed the refurbishment alternatives. 
 
Members were informed that the design team had worked closely with Officers 
to craft an architecture that minimised impacts to daylight, sunlight and 
overshadowing of nearby properties, was sensitive to its residential neighbours 
as well as the Grade 2 listed Ibex House, was responsive to the eclectic and 
varied context and was sculpted in response to local and distant townscape 
views. 
 
Members were informed that the design team had worked closely with Kim 
Wilkie and Gillespie's to bring nature back to this area of the City and 
significantly improve the quality of the urban environment through accessible 
urban greening in the form of pocket green spaces that wrapped the site and 
culminated in the new Sheppy Place pocket park. A widened foot path along 
Minories would be created by pushing the new ground floor one metre on the 
north and up to three metres on the south, as compared to the existing building. 
 
Ms Holtz stated that there would be an allocation of nearly 14% of the GIA to 
the amenities that provided active yet sensitive uses on all street frontages, a 
reduction in vehicular traffic through the use of a consolidation centre and a 
discretely located and enclosed servicing bay with reduced hours of operation 
on the corner of St. Clare Street. The landscape typologies would also help 
carve the architectural forms into a terrace massing with green spaces on every 
floor that could easily be enjoyed by both the tenants of the building and 
passers-by. Ms Holtz stated that the green balconies and terraces were framed 

Page 11



by carefully articulated high-quality architecture with rounded corners and 
glazing set into deep self-shading brick reveals. She stated that the 
development would deliver a flexible and sustainable workplace environment 
with all electric systems. There would be zero emissions from fossil fuels, using 
heat recovery and air source heat pumps. There would be flexible and efficient 
floor plates with floor-by-floor ventilation that accessed fresh air drawn through 
the facades. There would be high floor to ceiling heights with exposed thermal 
mass and sustainable and maintainable green terraces on each floor. 
 
The Chairman asked Members if they had any questions of the applicant.  
 
A Member asked for clarification on who could use the balconies and terraces. 
The applicant stated that the terraces were just for the tenants, but the greening 
increased the amount of biodiversity in the area and connecting the biodiversity 
throughout the City of London so that there would be greenery all the way down 
to the street level in the pocket parks which could be enjoyed by passers-by. 
 
A Member asked why a lift to the workspace area in Writers House had not 
been included in the planning application drawings. The applicant stated that 
the original proposals for Writers House were for a change of use to the lower 
floors only and access was developed to the lower ground and ground floor. 
Now there would not be a change of use, but discussions had taken place with 
Officers and the applicants were committed to bringing access to all the floors. 
They would develop the detail of that to try to meet the access requirements up 
to the top of the building in the conditions discharge. 
 
A Member asked for clarification on the blue badge parking space which would 
need to be on site. The applicant stated that there was a central area in the 
service yard which would be designated for blue badge parking. 
 
A Member asked about the capacity and speed of the cycle lift. The applicant 
stated it was a single cycle lift which would be fully compliant with the London 
Cycling Design Standards in terms of its size and was fully accessible. It could 
either accommodate a single adaptable bike, or a minimum of two standard 
bikes flat at any given time. She added that the distance between the ground 
floor and the lower ground floor was very shallow, so the travel time for the 
cycles would be short and the single lift would have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate peak arrivals and departures. There were also stairs as an 
alternative for able-bodied cyclists to move their cycles the shallow distance 
very easily. 
 
A Member asked about servicing and raised concern about the turning circle 
drawings. She stated that it appeared that some trucks reversing into one of the 
spaces would have to go over the pavement and she asked why a turntable 
had not been included. The applicant stated that in relation to the vehicle 
movements on St. Clare Street the space that would be provided for the 
vehicles to turn was a shared flat surface and there was not a defined foot way 
along that frontage as it currently stood. There was a large crossover area that 
currently accommodated for the turning movements of third parties along St. 
Clare Street as well as the turning movements into and out of the at the parking 

Page 12



spaces that were provided along the St. Clare Street frontage. In relation to the 
use of a turntable, the applicant stated they had sought throughout the design 
development of the scheme to actively remove on-street servicing activity which 
currently took place on Haydon Street so that it would be moved to the area 
within the site to the north. She stated that St. Clare Street was traditionally 
used as a servicing route for the hotel to the north and also the St. Clare 
building. The service yard had been designed to accommodate a maximum of 
an 8 metre rigid vehicle. The area that has been allocated was large enough to 
accommodate the turning movements of a vehicle and unloading and loading 
activity within the space. 
 
The applicant stated that that space did not allow for the provision of a 
turntable. If one was included, there would only be space for one vehicle, 
whereas at the moment there were two loading bays. A turntable would remove 
the flexibility and the efficiency of the loading bays. Members were informed 
that within the Delivery Servicing Plan there would be a condition for a suitably 
trained member of staff to either act as a banksman or a traffic marshal to 
monitor the movement in and out of that service yard and the movements 
themselves would be restricted to outside peak activity period. 
 
A Member raised concern that the pocket park was not large enough to 
accommodate all those occupants of the building who would want to use it so 
there would be increased pressure on other local open space. She suggested 
some funding could be put towards improving existing open space to cater for 
higher footfall. The applicant stated that there was no existing green space on 
the site and the pocket park would be fully accessible through St Clare’s House 
and Writers House.  
 
In response to a Member’s suggestion that further consideration should be 
given to reducing the times the terraces and balconies could be used, the 
applicant stated that they were willing to reduce timings. 
 
A Member requested that the leisure and fitness centre could be made 
accessible to local residents at affordable prices. The applicant stated that an 
operator had not yet been appointed but this could be explored with the 
operator when they were appointed. 
 
A Member stated that there was a lack of community space for arts and crafts 
in the vicinity and that community space should be kept for community benefit 
so there were long-term community benefits. The applicant stated that 
consultation would take place of the surrounding area to understand the needs 
and requirements of  local residents and ascertain what they would want to see 
within this building.  
 
The Chairman suggested that the Sub-Committee now move to any questions 
that they might have of Officers at this stage. 
 
The Chairman asked for clarification on Condition 36 of the addendum. The 
Officer stated that the access time had been reduced and would end at 9pm 
rather than 11pm.  

Page 13



 
A Member stated that there had been numerous representations from residents 
concerned about disruption during demolition and construction. 
He asked what steps would be taken to minimise this and control weekend 
working. An Officer stated that Conditions 25 and 26 would offer protection in 
terms of noise, dust and other environmental effects. There would also be 
acoustic insulation at the periphery of the site, which would further reduce noise 
levels and dust. In addition, included into the section 106, was the provision of 
an amenity space/respite area for the nearby occupiers to access offsite during 
demolition and construction. The Member asked if a working party could be set 
up between residents and the developers, in contact with environmental health 
officers. Officers stated that this could be included within the Section 106. 
 
A Member asked for clarification on the whole life carbon optioneering and the 
reasons Officers recommended Option 2. An Officer stated that the major 
refurbishment and redevelopment options were recommendable in terms of 
their sustainability benefits but the applicant had elected to pursue the 
redevelopment option, which would provide the greater quantum of the best in 
class office space, including improved floor to ceiling heights, improved 
daylighting, greater efficiency and flexibility of the floor space and it allowed for 
improved greening and biodiversity. 
 
A Member asked for clarification on the difference in floor to ceiling heights 
between the existing and proposed building. An Officer stated that the existing 
floor to the underside of the slab was 3035mm and the redevelopment offered 
slab heights between 3050mm and 3550mm. There was a difference of 500mm 
for the majority of the floors. 
 
A Member requested that the hours in Condition 22 should be reduced to 
reduced disturbance to nearby residents. An Officer stated that vehicle 
servicing was already restricted and this condition related to people walking in 
and out of the building e.g. to use the gym rather than vehicle servicing. The 
Officer stated that there were conditions on the closing of doors and windows 
within the retail units there. Officers did not consider that people walking into 
and out of the building would impact unduly on residents given that this would 
be a limited number of people. 
 
A Member raised concern that people could buy food and drink and the 
reference to the word mostly. An Officer stated this word was included in 
legislation. This was a separate use class from takeway. 
 
Seeing no further questions, the Chairman asked that Members now move to 
debate the application.  
 
A Member commented on the importance of having enforceable conditions. 
 
A Member commended the architect on the appearance of the proposed 
development. Another Member also commended the appearance. 
 

Page 14



A Member stated that in relation to urban greening, plants should be replaced if 
they died. 
 
A Member stated that the developer and construction team should recognise 
the impact on residents and work with the local community and liaise on noisy 
hours.  
 
Having fully debated the application, the Committee proceeded to vote on the 
recommendations before them. 
 
Votes were cast as follows: IN FAVOUR – 14 votes 
     OPPOSED – None 
     There was 1 abstention. 
 
The recommendations were therefore carried. 
 
RESOLVED – That Members of the Sub-Committee 
 
1. Authorise the Planning and Development Director, subject to the 

execution of a planning obligation or obligations in respect of the matters 
set out under the heading ‘Planning Obligations’, to issue a decision 
notice granting planning permission for the above proposal in 
accordance with the details set out in the schedule in the officer report 
as amended by the addendum; and  

2.  Instruct Officers to negotiate and execute obligations in respect of those 
matters set out in "Planning Obligations" under Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and any necessary agreements under 
Sections 278 and 38 of the Highway Act 1980 in respect of those 
matters set out in the report. 

 
5. * VALID PLANNING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED BY DEPARTMENT OF THE 

BUILT ENVIRONMENT  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer and 
Development Director detailing development applications received by the 
Department of the Built Environment since the report to the last meeting.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

6. * DELEGATED DECISIONS OF THE CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER AND 
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer and 
Development Director detailing development and advertisement applications 
determined by the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director or those so 
authorised under their delegated powers since the report to the last meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

7. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 

Page 15



 
8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  

There were no additional, urgent items of business for consideration. 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 11.25 am 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Zoe Lewis 
zoe.lewis@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 16



Committee: Date: 

Planning Applications Sub Committee  13 February 2024 

Subject: 

Middlesex Street Estate, Gravel Lane, London, E1 7AF 

Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and 

part first floor levels of six retail units and ancillary 

residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a 

police facility (sui generis) and ancillary residential 

parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part 

ground and part first floor levels from gym use to 

community space (Class F2); and external alterations 

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, 

erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to podium 

level and associated landscaping including erection of 

garden room, associated highways works to Gravel 

Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; 

and associated works. 

Public 

Ward: Portsoken For Decision 

Registered No: 23/00882/FULL 
Registered on:  

4 September 2023  

 

Conservation Area:  No  Listed Building: No 

Summary 

The site is Middlesex Street Estate which is located in the Portsoken Ward.  

The Applicant is the City Surveyor’s Department on behalf of the City of London Police 

(CoLP). The City of London is the Applicant therefore a Handling Note has been 

prepared in accordance with the procedure.  

Middlesex Street Estate comprises 234 residential units, 3,819 sqm retail floorspace 

and a library. It comprises a central podium/garden area, four residential blocks (five 

storeys above a podium level) with a taller tower in the centre (Petticoat Tower).  

Planning permission is sought for the change of use of part of the site from ancillary 

residential parking and retail units, to a police facility and ancillary community uses. 

The total uplift in floorspace is 24 sqm for the proposed Garden Room for residents at 

podium level. 

As a proposed operational facility, the Eastern Base would only be occupied by 

uniformed City of London Police officers, who report to the Base and then go out on 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



patrol to serve the community. No custodial facilities or a public reception facility would 

be included. Rapid response vehicles will not be based at the Site.  

The application includes change of use from gym to community space, external 

alterations related to the new use, new plant, new landscaping to resident podium level 

and associated works. The proposal also includes associated highway works to Gravel 

Lane.  

The Applicant states the east of the City contains significant demand for the CoLP with 

night time-related offences and highlights future development in the area will increase 

future demand. This strategic operational need in the east of the City is reinforced by 

the planned closured of Bishopsgate Police Station.  

There is an existing police facility at Middlesex Street Estate approved in 2019 (app. 

ref.19/00127/FULLR3) for police parking at basement level, however additional 

functions are needed for the Eastern Base which cannot be provided within the current 

secure compound in the Estate. Therefore this application seeks to extend the existing 

police use at the site.  

The Community and Children’s Services Committee met on 23 January 2023 and 

resolved that identified spaces at car parks and seven shop units in Gravel Lane were 

surplus to housing need. 

The Applicant has confirmed that alternative sites were considered and discounted due 

to security and structural concerns, because the City of London is not the freeholder, 

or it did not meet location requirements. In addition, significant resources have already 

been invested into the site as a base for police vehicles following approval in 2019.   

During the determination period, amendments were made by the Applicant in response 

to comments received and included improved accessibility to podium/garden level, 

changes to landscaping at Gravel Lane and additional details for operational 

management.  

A comprehensive statutory consultation was undertaken. A total of 74 objections from 

the public were received citing a wide range of issues including impact to amenity of 

residents and transport impacts.  

The Environmental Health team were consulted and stated that due to the proposals 

being within a highly residential area, the development will require close adherence to 

the supplied Operational Management Plan, compliance with internal City of London 

Police operational codes and will require diligent monitoring by CoLP coupled with 

detailed complaint investigation and resolution protocols and regular resident liaison 

to prevent unacceptable noise impacts particularly at night, between 2300 and 0700. 

The applicant has confirmed that the implementation of night time shift patterns would 

ensure a lower number of Officer movements attending the facility as a non-operational 

base overnight. The number of trips to / from the site would reduce during overnight 

periods owing to the proposed shift structure. In addition, the majority of vehicle activity 

at this time is likely to be via the vehicle ramp, with the external pavement noise being 

very limited.  

The Environmental Health team state there is likely to remain some residual noise 

impacts for residents during the ultimate end use of the facility, specifically from vehicle 

Page 18



and officer movements. In addition, the Environmental Health team state that the 

construction phase will be highly impactive due to its location, the number of residents 

above the site and the unique construction of the estate leading to heavy noise 

transference throughout. There are also cumulative impacts from significant 

development adjoining the estate e.g. 115 Houndsditch. The Scheme of Protective 

Works for the Demolition and Construction phases may need to adopt controls in 

excess of the standards outlined in the existing Code of Construction Practice. 

For vehicle trips, there will be 24 operating vehicles associated with these teams and 

18 of these vehicles will be in operation on a 24-hour basis across the City. Vehicles 

would arrive / depart the site upon inception and cessation of specific shifts. Police 

officers travelling to / from the site from home would travel by public transport. It is 

expected there will be up to 6 vehicle movements during a 30 min period either side of 

a shift. A further 6 vehicles (associated with the dog handlers) would enter and exit on 

an ad-hoc basis across the day only. It is also expected that there will be 9 motorcycles 

in use during the core part of the day. It is noted that the existing site already generates 

some vehicle movements and the expected vehicle trips are therefore not considered 

significant. 

In summary, the relocation of the CoL Police to the Eastern Base will increase vehicle 

movements in the area. However, the increase in trips is not expected to be significant 

and can be accommodated on the existing local road network. These trips would also 

not be new trips on the wider CoL road network, as they would represent displaced 

trips. Therefore, there will be no overall increase in vehicle trips within CoL area. 

The existing development provides 67 car parking spaces for the residents, 38 of these 

are located at basement level and 29 at ground floor level. It is proposed to reduce the 

number of car parking spaces used by residents to 43 (a reduction of 24 car parking 

spaces) and increase the number of car parking spaces of the CoL Police to 52 car 

parking spaces. The residents parking area would be improved as part of the proposals 

via the introduction of CCTV, new surfacing, better access control and vehicle charging 

points with seven chargers will be installed in the resident area, with ‘passive provision’ 

for an additional seven bays to be easily converted in the future. 

It is understood that 34 resident parking permits are in circulation in total and this 

current allocation of spaces for residents would be maintained as part of the proposals. 

Based on the results of the surveys, the applicant considers that the reduction in 

resident parking would not adversely affect the operation of the car park as the 

recorded maximum demand for private car parking would be provided for, and this 

would be in excess of the number of identified permit holders (+11 in circulation and 

+17 as recorded in the maximum parking surveys) providing some level of parking 

contingency. The Applicant states there will be enhanced car parking management 

procedures implemented. 

The volume of traffic that would be generated by the site would be spread across the 

day dictated by shift patterns, and would generally avoid the typical network ‘peak 

hours’. The applicant states that the proposals are not intended as rapid response 

operations, and therefore vehicle speeds would be typical of ordinary traffic. The 

volume of traffic expected does not create traffic safety concerns in and of itself given 

the moderate increase expected and the fact that existing trips already exist on the 

network. 

Page 19



The existing Blue Badge parking space on Gravel Lane is to be retained and relocated.  

For existing cycle parking, there are 26 covered spaces at ground floor and 24 spaces 

on the podium level. It is proposed to provide 44 cycle parking spaces within the police 

compound. For the commercial units, 24 cycle parking spaces are proposed at ground 

floor level. For the residential element, new storage is proposed for up to 205 cycle 

parking spaces at basement level. In addition, there will be 11 wider space cycle bays 

provided in a new secure area at ground level. There would be an increase in the 

number of cycle parking spaces and improvements to the cycle parking facilities 

(notably for accessible users), and this is welcomed. 

The delivery and servicing area will be maintained at ground floor level. The applicant 

has undertaken a servicing vehicle survey, which shows 12 vehicles per day were 

undertaking servicing / deliveries and this includes 2 visits for refuse vehicles which is 

considered acceptable, subject to conditions. 

Highway improvement works are proposed along the section of Gravel Lane fronting 

the site. The works include (but not limited to) partial footway widening to maintain an 

improved road alignment and footway width. Any proposed changes to on-street car 

parking would also be subject to public consultation but it is at this stage proposed that 

there would be the relocation of an existing disabled bay to the south with changes. 

The site is not within a Conservation Area and is not listed; it is not adjacent to any 

listed buildings. 

As the Middlesex Street Estate is not considered to meet the criteria to be identified as 

a non-designated heritage asset, there would be no impact in this respect. The 

proposals would preserve the character, appearance and significance of the 

Wentworth Street Conservation Area, the only designated heritage asset identified as 

having the potential to be impacted by the proposals. As such, the proposals are 

considered to accord with Local Plan Policies CS 12 and DM 12.1, emerging City Plan 

policies S11 and HE1, London Plan Policy HC1 and the relevant NPPF paragraphs in 

relation to heritage. 

There would be a degree of visual impact by expanding the existing police facility within 

the Estate, and this would be particularly noticeable on Gravel Lane. Although the 

detailed design conditions would further seek to mitigate any visual impacts and refine 

the delivery of the proposals, by virtue of their impact on Gravel Lane the proposals 

are considered to be contrary to Local Plan policies CS10 and DM10.1. However this 

is considered acceptable given other material considerations, in this case, the strategic 

operational requirements of the police. In addition, a public art display is proposed in 

the windows to mitigate this impact.  

In sustainability terms, the application is predominantly a change of use scheme with 
limited strip out, opening up, and new build works proposed to improve layout, security, 
and operational performance of the facility as outlined below. This limited scope of 
works helps to minimise upfront carbon emissions. Conditions are recommended. 
  
For urban greening and biodiversity, the podium currently contains a lush and well-
established green space with vegetation predominantly in raised planters. The planting 
beds include a wide range of plant species. The landscaping proposal will increase 
greening in the region of 25% by area and 30% in terms of biodiversity. An Ecological 
Management Plan (EMP) is recommended by condition to be produced and 

Page 20



implemented for the site providing a high level of detail on the ecological landscaping 
features selected, and to ensure they retain their ecological benefit in the long term.  
 
Overall, the proposed scheme is expected to provide a range of sustainability benefits 
compared to the existing building. The City supports schemes which prioritise retrofit 
over new build and the development makes use of a constrained site with load grade 
structure, which has limited access to daylight and ventilation. Heating, power and 
ventilation strategies are further restricted by strict security requirements connected to 
the occupier and use. The installation of all electrical plant (except for emergency 
generators), a combined heating and cool system and domestic hot water supply 
equipped with Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHPs) will significantly improve operational 
efficiency and reduce carbon emissions.  

The proposal includes additional amenities for the exclusive use of residents including 

improved cycle storage at basement level, new dedicated cycle storage and entrance 

at ground level, a new garden room at podium level, a new landscaped podium area, 

an estate meeting room and facility at ground floor level, and public art in the windows 

of Gravel Lane.  

The principle of the police use is considered acceptable, subject to conditions, in this 

location to support the strategic operational need identified by the police and to provide 

essential infrastructure required in the City.  

There will be a loss of six retail units and a gym unit in proposals with two of the existing 

units already vacant. The applicant has demonstrated that the impacts to the retail 

provision in the wider area will not be adversely affected. The Applicant has confirmed 

that three of the units have relocated in or near the City, and one relocated to East 

London.  

Although there has been some relocation of retail units and active frontage is proposed 

through public art, the proposal is considered to be contrary to Local Plan policies 

CS20 and DM20.3, and draft City Plan Policy RE3, due to the loss of retail in proximity 

to residential uses and in the absence of active marketing and vacancy information for 

these units. However, due to the provision of active frontage through the installation of 

public art on the Gravel Lane frontage, the wider provision of shops in the area, and 

the strategic operational need for the police use, the loss of retail is considered 

acceptable in this case. 

The proposed development will require planning obligations to be secured in a Section 

106 unilateral undertaking to mitigate the impact of the development to make it 

acceptable in planning terms.  

Virtually no major development proposal is in complete compliance with all policies and 

in arriving at a decision it is necessary to assess all the policies and proposals in the 

plan and to come to a view as to whether in the light of the development plan when 

taken as a whole the proposal does or does not accord with it. The Local Planning 

Authority must determine the application in accordance with the development plan 

unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that there is presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. For decision taking that means approving development proposals that 

accord with an up to date development plan without delay.  

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should promote public 

safety and should take into account wider security and defence requirements including 

Page 21



by recognising and supporting development required for operational defence and 

security purposes.  

The London Plan states that proposals that provide high quality, inclusive social 

infrastructure that addresses a local or strategic need and supports service delivery 

strategies, and that seek to make best use of land including the public-sector estate, 

should be supported. 

The adopted Local Plan Policy CS3 states the importance of ensuring the City is secure 

from crime, disorder and terrorism which includes proactively managing night-time 

entertainment to minimise disturbance to residents and workers, and to ensure that 

development takes account of the need for resilience so that the residential and 

business communities are better prepared for, and able to recover from, emergencies. 

Officers consider this to be a finely balanced case whereby the impact to residential 

amenity has been considered in detail. The proposed use represents a strategic need 

to maintain safety and security in the east of the City. The proposal would make the 

best use of land, optimising the site capacity to facilitate these essential operational 

facilities.  

In addition, Officers consider there to be additional amenities for exclusive use of 

residents from the proposal including a dedicated estate office with meeting space, 

new cycle storage at ground with dedicated cycle lifts to basement, improved cycle 

facilities at basement level, and a new garden room at podium level. 

Therefore it is the view of Officers that as the proposal complies with the Development 

Plan when considered as a whole and taking into account all material planning 

considerations, it is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to all 

the relevant conditions and obligations being applied in order to secure benefits and 

minimise the impact of the proposal including ensuring the Operational Management 

Plan is complied with. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



Recommendation 

 

1. That the Planning and Development Director be authorised to issue a decision 
notice granting planning permission for the above proposal in accordance with the 
details set out in the attached schedule, subject to: 

 
a. the City Corporation as landowner giving a commitment (through a 

resolution or delegated decision) that it will comply with the planning 
obligations in connection with the development; and  
 

b. a unilateral undertaking being executed in respect of those matters set out 
in the report, the decision notice not to be issued until the 
commitment/resolution has been given and a unilateral undertaking has 
been completed. 

 
2. That your Officers be instructed to negotiate the unilateral undertaking. 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

Page 24



Site photographs 

 
Image 1: Aerial view of Middlesex Street Estate  

 
Image 2: Existing podium level with garden  

 

Image 3: Existing Gravel Lane street view  

Page 25



Main Report 

 
Site and Surroundings  

1. The site is the Middlesex Street Estate, located in the Portsoken Ward. It is on the 

boundary of the City of London and the London Borough of Tower Hamlets. The 

Estate is bounded by Middlesex Street, Gravel Lane, White Kennett Street, and 

Harrow Place.  

 

2. The Estate comprises a mixed-use development that includes 234 residential 

units, 3,819 sqm retail floorspace and a library and community centre. It comprises 

four residential blocks (five storeys above a podium level) with a taller tower in the 

centre (Petticoat Tower). The residential units are accessed via an elevated 

podium. 

 

3. The existing basement level is access via a ramp from Artizan Street and is 

currently split into a section for secure parking for police vehicles, and for 

residential parking and storage.  

 

4. The existing ground floor comprises car parking and refuse storage for commercial 

and residential uses and is accessed from Artizan Street. In addition, servicing 

takes place at this level.  

 

5. The existing first floor car park was taken out of use and a ramp leading to it 

previously removed.  

 

6. There are six existing retail units and one existing gym included in this application 

and these extend over basement, ground and first floor levels.  

 

7. In addition, the Artizan Street Library and Community Centre is based at the site.  

 

8. The site is not within a Conservation Area. The nearest Conservation Area to the 

site in the City is the Bishopsgate Conservation Area to the northwest. The site is 

opposite the Wentworth Street Conservation Area in the London Borough of Tower 

Hamlets to the northeast. 

 

9. The Site does not contain any listed buildings and is not immediately adjacent to 

any listed buildings. The buildings on the site are not considered to be non-

designated heritage assets. 

 

Planning history 

10. Relevant planning history at the site:  

 

• App. ref. 21/00527/FULL – Granted on 25 July 2022 for the installation of 

external horizontal and vertical pipework across the site including: five vertical 

risers and pipework at levels two (podium level), four and six; elements of which 

will be boxed in and painted to match background materials.  

 

• App. ref. 19/00127/FULLR3 – Granted on 14 May 2019 under Section 73 of 

the Town and County Planning Act 1990 to vary condition 2 of the planning 

Page 26



permission (app. ref. 4361) in order to allow part of the car park accommodation 

(2,100 sqm) at basement level for the construction of a secure parking area 

with ancillary uses and a small office. 

 

• App. ref. 14/00371/FULLR3 – Granted on 11 September 2014 for: Removal of 

existing redundant car park ramps in order to create a new communal and 

public space to include new pedestrian space, paving, green walls and lighting. 

Installation of a new entrance canopy to Petticoat Tower. 

 

• App. ref. 4361 – Granted on 16 February 1965 for the construction of 

Middlesex Street Estate.  

 

Proposals  

11. The development proposals comprise the creation of a new operational base 

(‘Eastern Base’) for the City of London Police (CoLP), providing a location in the 

east side of the CoL area which will complement the new police headquarters at 

Salisbury Square. It would include police car parking, office and ‘touch-down’ 

facilities for the police.  

 

12. Planning permission is sought for the change of use of part of site from ancillary 

residential parking and retail units, to a police facility and ancillary community 

uses, and for external alterations. The application relates to part of the basement, 

ground, first floor, and podium level where the resident garden is located.  

 

13. There is an existing police facility at Middlesex Street Estate approved in 2019 

(app. ref. 19/00127/FULLR3) for police parking at basement level, however 

additional functions are needed for the Eastern Base which cannot be provided 

within the current secure compound in the Estate. Therefore this application seeks 

to extend the existing police use at the site.  

 

14. The proposed Eastern Base will only be occupied by uniformed City of London 

Police officers, who report to the Base and then go out on patrol to serve the 

community. No custodial facilities or a public reception facility would be included. 
In addition, there will be a small number of kennels for dog unit officers to place 

their dogs at the start and end of their shift; these dogs are not left in their kennels 

overnight. Rapid response vehicles will not be based at the Site. 

 

15. The application includes change of use from gym to community space, external 

alterations related to the new use, new plant, new landscaping to resident podium 

level and associated works.  

 

16. The proposal would comprise the following: 

• Basement: resident cycle and car parking and storage, and police parking and 

offices;  

• Ground floor: accessible bays, servicing, resident cycle parking, estate office, 

police parking and offices, and commercial parking; 

• First Floor: police office facilities, and resident gym; 

• Podium level: new landscaping and new garden room.   

 

Page 27



17. The scheme would result an overall floorspace uplift of 24 sqm GEA for the 

proposed garden room at podium level.  

 

18. There would be a loss of retail as a result of proposals of 1,104 sqm GEA and loss 

of gym use of 198 sqm GEA.  

 

19. The proposals would provide the following floorspace:  

• Police facility (sui generis) – 4,380 sqm GEA; and 

• Estate facilities / community use (Use Class F2) – 198 sqm GEA.  

 

20. The proposal also includes associated works to Gravel Lane including landscaping 

with bollards and planting and associated highway works including amendments 

to parking bays.  

 

21. The existing redundant first floor car park is proposed as Eastern Base 

accommodation and is located below the podium/garden level. As a result, the 

Applicant is proposing to replace the current failed waterproof membrane and to 

install insulation for on the Podium slab above. This results in a change of levels 

at podium level and results in proposed new landscaping at podium level with a 

new raised datum level established for the central part of the podium. The podium 

is proposed to be raised by 370mm.  

 

22. There would be external changes as a result of proposals, principally to the 

existing Gravel Lane and Artizan Street elevations and landscaping changes to 

podium / garden level. 

 

23. Amendments to the scheme have been made from the original submission to 

respond to comments received which includes: internalising a proposed external 

flue; amendments to podium level design to improve accessibility; and revised 

design to bollard and planter layout on Gravel Lane.  

 
Image 4: Visual for Gravel Lane incuding landscaping  

Page 28



 
Image 5: Proposed visual for podium/garden area, south-east view 

 
Image 6: Proposed visual for podium/garden area, south view 

 

 

Consultation 

Statement of Community Involvement 

 

24. The Applicants have submitted a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 

outlining their engagement with stakeholders between January and July 2023. In 

addition, the applicant states that prior to this current consultation, a series of 

surveys, door-knocking and public meetings took place in 2022 as part of a 

statutory consultation process as part under Section 105 of the Housing Act. 

 

25. The SCI states that the current public consultation has included a public meeting, 

resident workshops and walk-arounds, the formation of a Community Steering 

Group, and regular letters to residents and updates to the project. The applicant 

states that reports collating resident feedback have been produced throughout the 

process and shared on the project website and at consultation events.  

 

Page 29



26. There was a public exhibition on 24 May 2023 and the local community was invited 

to view the proposed plans and provide comments. Invitations were sent to 666 

addresses in and around the Estate, posters were placed around the Estate, 

messages were posted on resident association Whatsapp groups and emails were 

sent to people who have signed up for updates and letters sent to political 

stakeholders.  

 

27. The applicant states that the design aspects covered by the consultation included 

the podium redesign and refurbishment, the basement, ground floor and first floor 

car park areas, the frontages of Artizan Street and Gravel Lane, the usage of Unit 

20 Gravel Lane and the impact that the works will have on service charges and 

utilities for the residents of the estate.  

 

28. The SCI highlights a range of issues that were raised by residents including for 

operational use and impacts, the raised podium, security, current police use, noise 

and disruption, construction, and parking management. 

 

Statutory Consultation 

 

29. Following receipt of the application, it has been advertised on site and in the press 

and has been consulted upon in accordance with article 15 of the Development 

Management Procedure Order (as amended). Copies of all received letters and 

emails making representations are attached in full and appended to this report. A 

summary of the representations received, and the consultation responses is set 

out in the table below.  

 

30. In accordance with the SCI, notification letters were sent to residential properties 

in the vicinity in addition to the site and press notices as set out above.  

 

31. Following comments received, the proposals were revised and additional 

information provided. Therefore two subsequent re-consultation periods took 

place. 

 

32. A total of 74 objections from the public were received. Table 1 below summarises 

the public consultation responses received and the corresponding Officer 

responses. The public objections received included representations received from 

the Petticoat Square Holders Association and the Middlesex Estate Residents 

Association.  

 

33. A representation in support and one neutral comment was received from a 

member of the public. 

 

34. The applicant has provided detailed responses to matters raised in consultee and 

third-party responses.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



Table 1: Public consultation responses  

Issue  Officer response  

Impact to residential 
amenity of proposed 
police use and sirens  
 

There will be no rapid response vehicles at the site.  
 
The ‘Environmental Impacts’ are considered further in the 
report including operational impacts from the proposed 
use. Officers propose a number of conditions to mitigate 
impacts to residential amenity.  
 

Traffic impacts 
including road and 
pedestrian safety and 
turning spaces 
 

This is considered further in the ‘Transport’ section of the 
report.  

Loss of retail 
 

This is addressed in the ‘Proposed uses’ section of the 
report.  
 

Residential amenity 
impact from disruption 
from new plant 
 

The ‘Environmental Impacts’ are considered further in the 
report including operational impacts from the proposed 
use. Officers propose a number of conditions to mitigate 
impacts to residential amenity.  
 

Disruption from 
existing police use 
and existing plant and 
fans from basement  
 

The ‘Environmental Impacts’ are considered further in the 
report including operational impacts from the proposed 
use. Officers propose a number of conditions to mitigate 
impacts to residential amenity.  
 
No formal complaints have been recorded by the 
Environmental Health team for the existing use.  
 
Regarding the fans/plant, the Applicant has confirmed 
these will be designed to acoustic requirements and that 
they are aware through attendance of the Community 
Steering Group meetings of residents’ issues with the 
existing ventilation systems and any retained fans in this 
area will be checked and upgraded as necessary to 
overcome the current noise issues. Conditions are 
recommended to control plant noise in line standards. 
 

New podium design 
and accessibility 
issues including 
changing existing 
routes, and loss of 
level access due to 
raising of podium, 
safety issues  
 

The applicant has amended design to improve 
accessibility and this now includes ramps at each side of 
the proposed raised podium.  
 
The Access officer has reviewed and this is considered 
acceptable subject to conditions.  
 
Further design details would be required through condition 
to ensure the highest levels of accessibility. 
 

There is an increased 
security risk for the 
proposal to the Estate  
 
 
 

The proposal is considered to improve security due to the 
police presence. The Applicant has confirmed that the 
threat level would not be considered high.  

Page 31



Temporary loss of 
access to podium 
 

The ‘Environmental Impacts’ are considered further in the 
report including operational impacts from the proposed 
use. Officers propose a number of conditions to mitigate 
impacts to residential amenity. Construction works will 
inevitably affect access to parts of the estate for a 
temporary period and Officers recommend a respite area 
during construction.  
 

Redevelopment of the 
podium/garden and 
removal of existing 
podium greening and 
mature plants, less 
play space, risk to 
children and disabled 
people, noise from 
activity, and loss of 
privacy 

Regarding privacy, there is currently no planting around 
the base of the Tower. New planting beds will provide 
planted buffer for screening and prevent access to 
windows. Planting bed width 4.0m fronting the community 
space and 2.2m fronting the ball court. The new buffer 
planting is to be added to address residents’ concerns 
over screening and prevent people walking directly in front 
of apartment windows.  
 
There is existing seating at podium level therefore impacts 
are considered to remain as existing. A condition is 
recommended for the final details for landscaping which 
would also include details of how residential impact has 
been considered within the proposed design.  
 
The Applicant confirms that Petticoat Tower is separated 
from the raised amenity space by new planters which act 
as a buffer zone. The windows to the apartments at the 
base of Petticoat Tower have solid spandrel panels at low 
level with the glazed windows starting at approximately 
1100mm above the current podium.  
 
Existing playspace floor area = 88m2, and proposed 
playspace floor area = 97m2 which represents an 
increase. In addition, the Applicant confirms additional 
equipment would be provided. 
 
The existing and proposed planting is addressed in the 
‘Sustainability’ section of the report. A condition is 
recommended to retain existing planting where possible.  
 

Residential windows 
below floor level and 
any new podium 
surface touching will 
cause damp  
 

Regarding damp, the Applicant states that these planters 
will be constructed of brickwork built against the existing 
face of the Petticoat Tower brickwork. This detail is to be 
developed at detailed design and the Applicant states will 
include vertical damp proofing and separation membranes 
to avoid any damp transferring into the masonry of 
Petticoat Tower. The Applicant further states that the 
windows and solid spandrel panels are also set back from 
the existing face of the Tower by approximately 150mm 
creating additional space between the new planter walls 
and the window screen eliminating any risk of damp in the 
apartments.  
 

New corridors and 
windowless passages 
reduces sense of 
safety  

In reference to the new circulation routes created each 
side of the ground floor compound, there will be covered 
by new CCTV cameras included as part of the upgrades 
proposed to the residential areas for enhanced security. 

Page 32



 This is secured by condition. Both of these circulation 
routes are a minimum of 2300mm wide and are to enable 
refuse bins to be brought from existing stores to the 
collection points in the new service yard area. These 
spaces currently have no windows or surveillance and 
require residents to walk through areas where vehicles 
manoeuvre. The applicant states that by rationalising the 
ground floor to a service space (deliveries and refuse 
collections) and putting all the residents’ car parking in to 
the enhanced basement area, there is a significantly 
reduced need for residents’ to use these ground floor 
circulation spaces other than occasional access for those 
who live on the Gravel Lane side of the Estate to bring 
items to the ground floor recycling area. 
 
The Applicant states that a new ‘link corridor’ has been 
added at the request of residents’ in the basement to 
connect their new car park to the Middlesex Street stair 
core (running behind the Eastern Base compound). This 
will be a secured by access control entry doors with CCTV 
coverage of both the entry point and the corridor. 
 

New plant systems 
are not sustainable 
 

Addressed in ‘Sustainability’ section of the report. 
 

Construction 
disruption including 
from recent heating 
project and 
mismanagement of 
previous projects  
 

This is considered further in the ‘Environmental impacts’ 
section of the report. A number of conditions are proposed 
to mitigate impacts to residential amenity. The previous 
construction impacts of unrelated works are not relevant 
to the consideration of this planning application however 
the environmental Scheme of Protective should seek to 
mitigate future works on site.  
  

Applicant lack of 
consultation and 
misinformation to 
residents, and 
undertaken during 
working hours  
 

Details of the consultation undertaken by application is 
included in the ‘Consultation’ section of the report.  
 

Fumes from new plant  
 

This is considered further in the ‘Environmental impacts’ 
section of the report. A number of conditions are proposed 
to mitigate impacts to residential amenity.  
 
In addition, the Air Quality Officer has reviewed the 
proposals and has no objection subject to recommended 
conditions.  
 

Increasing security 
will result in more 
difficult exit for 
disabled and older 
residents  
 

The applicant has confirmed that the works proposed to 
the existing entrance doors into the estate to improve their 
security comprise omitting the current PIR detection (that 
unlocks the doors as someone approaches) to a push to 
exit button and that this avoids unwanted unlocking of the 
doors by people in the stair core (compromising security) 
but would not introduce any features that will make it more 
difficult for people to use these entrances. 

Page 33



 For those using vehicles the current entry control 
principles will remain for opening gates and barriers 
(ANPR or similar) just the gates and barriers will be more 
robust and not repeatedly fail as currently occurs.  
 
A condition is recommended for an Access Management 
Plan to be submitted and approved. 
    

Changes to 
architecture of estate  
 

There are limited external building design changes as a 
result of the proposal. This is addressed further in the 
‘Design’ section. 
 

Violation of the lease 
due to changes to 
rights to use parts of 
building and 
increases in service 
charge. Cost heating 
system will increase 
as a result of 
removing commercial 
premises from this 
 

This has been passed onto the Applicant to resolve. The 
existing lease arrangements are not a material 
consideration and should be discussed directly with the 
Applicant. 
 
The Applicant states that the commercial units that are 
being replaced with CoLP accommodation will not be 
using the communal heating system therefore will not 
generate additional cost.  
  

Disruption to business 
/ loss of retail  
 

Addressed in the ‘Loss of retail’ section of report.  
 
This is considered further in the ‘Environmental impacts’ 
section of the report. A number of conditions are proposed 
to mitigate impacts to residential amenity.  
  

Encasement of one of 
the characteristic 
chutes 

The Applicant confirms that following feedback from 
residents and officers during the consultation period, the 
route of the new generator flue has been revised and the 
originally proposed cladding enclosure around both the 
flue and existing refuse chute has been omitted. 
Therefore, no change is now proposed to the external 
appearance of the stair cores with their external refuse 
chutes. 
 

Request for large 
lockable green house 
that we can use for 
the plants to save 
 

A condition is recommended for the applicant to seek to 
retain existing plants where possible and with details to be 
submitted.  
 

Not suitable location 
for use with no 
benefits for residents 
 

The Applicant has confirmed that alternatives were 
considered and discounted for a range of reasons 
including structural, security and location requirements.  
 
The Community and Children’s Services Committee met 
on 23 January 2023 and resolved that identified spaces at 
car parks and seven shop units in Gravel Lane were 
surplus to housing need. 
 
The proposal would deliver a number of additional 
amenities for the exclusive use of residents including new 
including cycle parking facilities, a garden room at podium 
level, a resident gym at first floor and an estate office at 

Page 34



ground. 
 
Conditions are proposed to mitigate impacts to the 
amenity of residents.  
 

Not enough cycle 
storage for all 
 

The proposal maximises cycle parking within the existing 
constraints of the building. New and improved provision 
exceeds policy requirement for an application of this type. 
This is addressed in the ‘Transport’ section of the report.  
 

Loss of resident car 
parking and storage 
facilities 
 

The proposed number of residential car parking exceeds 
the current allocation of permits and the improved car 
park management measures proposed by the applicant 
will prevent unauthorised car parking. This is addressed in 
the ‘Transport’ section of the report.  
 

Health and wellbeing 
impacts of 
construction and 
operational use  
 

This is considered further in the ‘Environmental impacts’ 
section of the report. A number of conditions are proposed 
to mitigate impacts to residential amenity. The applicant 
should provide details of a respite area during 
construction works as part of environmental scheme of 
protective works that would be required to be submitted. 
 
The recommended conditions relate to the operational 
and construction phases of the development.  
 

Impact to on-street 
parking  
 
 
 
 

Surplus car parking to the number of formal permits 
issued would be re-provided on site. Existing number of 
permits will be retained and this is secured by condition. 
The Applicant has confirmed that an improved car parking 
management strategy will be in place. 
 

Ground floor large 
item bin access 
removed  
 

The Applicant has confirmed that this cage is retained and 
will remain accessible from the new service yard space for 
residents’ to use, along with the re-organised recycling 
bins area. The Applicant notes that use of these two 
recycling areas is the only reason residents will 
occasionally need to access the ground floor service yard 
area. 
 

Existing police parking 
on Artizan street on 
double yellow lines 

The proposed facility would enable police parking 
internally therefore would result in less on street parking 
as currently is the case. 
 

 

35. Table 2 below highlights the external consultation responses received and officer 

responses:  

Table 2: External Consultation responses  

Greater London 
Archaeological 
Advisory Service 
(GLAAS), Historic 
England   
 

Confirmed the application lies in an area of archaeological 
significance. Concluded that as no below ground works are 
proposed, the proposal is unlikely to have a significant 
effect on heritage assets of archaeological interest and no 
further assessment or conditions are considered necessary.  
 

Page 35



 Officer response: Noted.  

 
Health and Safety 
Executive  

Following a review of the information provided in the 
planning application, HSE is content with the fire safety 
design relating to the project description, to the extent that  
it affects land use planning.  
 
HSE made a number of recommendations including for a 
retrospective fire strategy for the whole of Petticoat Square, 
installation of wet fire mains, improved fire service access 
and firefighting facilities, provision of firefighting lifts, 
installation of sprinkler systems, external wall system and 
fire hydrant details. These comments have been passed 
onto the applicant to address and are outside the remit of 
this application.  
 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority  

Responded to confirm no comments. 
 
 

London Borough 
of Tower Hamlets 
 

No objection, subject to the City of London being satisfied 
that the loss of parking and the new delivery and 
servicing arrangements would create no unacceptable 
impacts on the capacity and safety of the highway network. 
 
Officer response:  
Addressed in the ‘Transport’ section of report.  
 

London 
Underground 

No objection in principle. Identified a number of potential 
constraints on works to a site situated close to London 
Underground (LU) infrastructure and stated that highways 
in this area and over LU structures are registered as 
Streets of Special Engineering Difficulty (SED) with the 
local authority under the New Roads & Street Works Act 
1991 – Section 63. The blue dotted area highlights streets 
of engineering difficulty below. Recommended condition.  
 

 
 
Officer response: 
A condition is recommended.  
 

Page 36



Thames Water  No objection. Recommended informatives.  
 

Transport for 
London 

Commented the following:  
1. Queried whether the applicant is proposing 

additional signage for the entrance to the 
basement, given there may be a rise in faster 
vehicles entering/exiting the site.  

2. Queried whether there a need for a change in the 
road layout on the City roads directly outside of the 
site, given that Harrow Place or Petticoat Square is 
a left turn only southbound directly outside the site, 
or whether police would just turn as they please 
given it may be an emergency. 

3. The proposal appears to be offering a surplus of 
residential car parking spaces within the site in 
comparison to the number of permits. Queried 
whether a reduction in this number of if can be 
more restrictive in the Parking Design and 
Management Plan. 

Officer response:  
1. No response police vehicles are proposed at the 

site. Currently the basement ramp has no rising arm 
barrier at the top and the new proposal would 
reinstate this barrier to both control exit speeds 
possible up the ramp (for both police and residents’ 
vehicles) as well as give a clear visual warning to 
passing pedestrians that a gate is opening and a 
vehicle is approaching. In addition, traffic light 
controls will also stop vehicles being able to enter 
down the ramp if another is exiting for added safety.  
In terms of signage, the applicant proposes adding 
a headroom notice to stop taller vehicles 
proceeding down the ramp and no additional 
signage is considered necessary. 

2. The Applicant confirmed there is no emergency 
response activity other than under exceptional 
circumstances and therefore considers the existing 
route network suitable for making day to day patrols 
given the moderate number of vehicle trips 
expected. Stoney Lane and Wentworth Street 
(subject to market stalls) provide the most 
convenient routes to the main road network from 
which police vehicles can take the routes they need. 
Cutler Street (one way) is not accessible to Eastern 
Base other than on the return to base. Vehicles 
leaving the site via Artizan Street can turn left 
(West) or right (East) into Harrow Place. If vehicles 
go right up to Middlesex Street there are then routes 
available to the East to work through to the A11 to 
then head South, North East or West as required. 
The applicant states this may not be possible during 
market days so as an alternative turning left (west) 
in Harrow Place and left (south) again into White 
Kennett street enables vehicles to connect through 
via to Stoney Lane (West) on to the A1211 to head 
South, East or West. In addition, turning right (north) 

Page 37



at the end of Harrow Place enables vehicles to go 
north and west along Cutler Street to then go across 
the Southbound A1211 carriageway (via Goring 
Street – westwards) to get on to the Northbound 
A1211 carriageway. 

3. The applicant responded that there is a modest 
level of headroom in the capacity of the permit 
parking area at the Estate as there are existing day 
to day operational needs for the residential and 
commercial tenants and that the proposed level of 
parking offers an appropriate balance between the 
number of permits currently issued, the observed 
levels of parking demand and the monitoring and 
enforcement of informal/unauthorised parking 
activity.  The applicant confirmed that the current 
residents’ parking permit system is being reviewed 
to address residents’ concerns such as the current 
system does not allow carers attending at weekends 
to obtain passes to park, and following on-site 
surveys it became apparent the need to address 
accessible parking and carer/essential visitor needs 
on site. Therefore the applicant states the number of 
spaces required needs to be greater than the 
number of actual permits currently issued. This input 
has resulted in the proposals for 43 spaces in the 
basement (instead of the current 34 permits) to 
better reflect actual demand. In addition, the 
applicant states that as part of the updating of the 
MSE Management Plan to reflect the changes 
created by the Eastern Base, the role of a ‘car park 
attendant’ is proposed to better control use of the 
parking spaces and assist carers and essential 
visitors when arriving (particularly at weekends). 

Following the response from the Applicant, TfL confirmed 
no further comments.  
 
This is considered further in the ‘Transport’ section of 
report. 
 

The City of London 
Archaeological 
Trust (CoLAT) 

Suggested requiring an archaeological assessment to 
cover all excavations in and around the present structures.  

Officer response: GLAAS reviewed and recommended 
that no assessment or condition was required due to no 
below ground works.   
 

The Gardens Trust  No response.  
 

Twentieth Century 
Society 

No response. 
 

 

36. It is noted that all material planning considerations raised in the representations 

above are addressed within this report.  

 

Page 38



Policy Context  

37. The Development Plan consists of the London Plan 2021 and the City of 

London Local Plan 2015. The London Plan and Local Plan policies that are 

most relevant to the consideration of this case are set out in Appendix A to this 

report. 

 

38. The City of London (CoL) has prepared a draft plan, the City Plan 2036, which 

was published for Regulation 19 consultation in early 2021. Onward progress 

of the Plan has been temporarily paused to enable further refinement, but it 

remains a material consideration in the determination of applications (although 

not part of the Development Plan). The Draft City Plan policies that are most 

relevant to the consideration of this case are set out in Appendix A to this report. 

 

39. Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) December 2023 and the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) which is 

amended from time to time.  

 

40. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states at paragraph 2 that 

“Planning Law requires that applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise”. 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 

41. The NPPF states at paragraph 8 that achieving sustainable development has 

three overarching objectives, being economic, social and environmental. 

 

42. Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that “at the heart of the Framework is a 

presumption in favour of sustainable development. That presumption is set out 

at paragraph 11.  

 

43. For decision-taking this means:  

a) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 

development plan without delay; or  

b) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 

are most important for determining the application are out of date, granting 

permission unless:  

• the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 

proposed; or  

• any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 

Framework taken as a whole. 

 

44. Paragraph 48 states that local planning authorities may give weight to relevant 

policies in emerging plans according to: 

  a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 

preparation the greater the weight that may be given); 

Page 39



  b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 

(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 

may be given) and 

  c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 

this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies 

in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 

45. Chapter 8 of the NPPF seeks to promote healthy, inclusive and safe places. 

Paragraph 96 states that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 

inclusive and safe places which promote social interaction, are safe and 

accessible and enable and support healthy lifestyles. 

 

46. Paragraph 97 states that planning decisions should provide the social, 

recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs.  

 

47. Chapter 9 of the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable transport. Paragraph 109 

states that “Significant development should be focused on locations which are 

or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a 

genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce congestion and 

emissions and improve air quality and public health”.  

 

48. Paragraph 101 states that planning decisions should promote public safety and 

should take into account wider security and defence requirements by: 

a) anticipating and addressing possible malicious threats and natural hazards, 

especially in locations where large numbers of people are expected to 

congregate… and the layout and design of developments, should be informed 

by the most up-to-date information available from the police and other agencies 

about the nature of potential threats and their implications. This includes 

appropriate and proportionate steps that can be taken to reduce vulnerability, 

increase resilience and ensure public safety and security; and 

b) recognising and supporting development required for operational defence 

and security purposes, and ensuring that operational sites are not affected 

adversely by the impact of other development proposed in the area. 

 

49. Paragraph 116 states that applications for development should give priority first 

to pedestrian and cycle movements and second to facilitating access to high 

quality public transport; it should address the needs of people with disabilities 

and reduced mobility in relation to all modes of transport; it should create places 

that are safe, secure and attractive and which minimise the scope for conflicts 

between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles; it should allow for the efficient 

delivery of goods and access by service and emergency vehicles.  

 

50. Paragraph 117 states that “All developments that will generate significant 

amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the 

application should be supported by a transport statement or transport 

assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed”.  

 

51. Chapter 11 of the NPPF seeks to achieve effective use of the land. Paragraph 

123 advises that “Planning policies and decisions should promote an effective 

use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding 

Page 40



and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living 

conditions.”  

 

52. Chapter 12 of the NPPF seeks to achieve well designed places. Paragraph 131 

advises that “The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings 

and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process 

should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 

creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development 

acceptable to communities.”  

 

53. Paragraph 135 sets out how good design should be achieved including 

ensuring developments function well and add to the overall quality of the area, 

not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development, are visually 

attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 

landscaping, are sympathetic to local character and history, including the 

surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or 

discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities), 

establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 

spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 

distinctive places to live, work and visit; optimise the potential of the site to 

accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development 

(including green and other public space) and create places that are safe, 

inclusive and accessible and which promote health and wellbeing.  

 

54. Paragraph 136 of the NPPF states that “Trees make an important contribution 

to the character and quality of urban environments and can also help mitigate 

and adapt to climate change. Planning policies and decisions should ensure 

that new streets are tree-lined, that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees 

elsewhere in developments (such as parks and community orchards), that 

appropriate measures are in place to secure the long-term maintenance of 

newly planted trees, and that existing trees are retained wherever possible...”. 

 

55. Paragraph 139 sets out that significant weight should be given to outstanding 

or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability or help raise 

the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the 

overall form and layout of their surroundings.  

 

56. Chapter 14 of the NPPF relates to meeting the challenge of climate change. 

Paragraph 152 states that the planning system should support the transition to 

a low carbon future in a changing climate. It should help to; shape places in 

ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, 

minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing 

resources, including conversion of existing buildings.  

 

57. Paragraph 159 states that new developments should avoid increased 

vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change. When new 

development is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be 

taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation 

measures. 

 

58. Chapter 15 of the NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the natural 

environment. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF advises that planning policies and 

Page 41



decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 

by, inter alia, minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, 

including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient 

to current and future pressures. It is also stated that development should, 

wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air 

and water quality. 

 

59. Local Planning Authorities should identify and assess the particular significance 

of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by 

development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the 

available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this into 

account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid 

or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any 

aspect of the proposal. 

 

60. Chapter 16 of the NPPF relates to conserving and enhancing the historic 

environment. Paragraph 201 of the NPPF advises that Local Planning 

Authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage 

asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting 

the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and 

any necessary expertise. They should take this into account when considering 

the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict 

between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 

 

61. Paragraph 203 of the NPPF advises, “In determining applications, local 

planning authorities should take account of: 

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 

heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 

conservation;  

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can 

make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and  

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 

local character and distinctiveness.”  

62. Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states “Where a development proposal will lead to 

less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 

this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 

including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use”.  

 

63. Paragraph 209 of the NPPF states “The effect of an application on the 

significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account 

in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly 

affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 

having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 

heritage asset”.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



Statutory Duties 

64. The Corporation, in determining the planning application has the following main 

statutory duties to perform:  

• To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material 

to the application and to any other material considerations. (Section 70 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990);  

• To determine the application in accordance with the development plan 

unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. (Section 38(6) of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

 

Main Considerations  

65. In determining the planning application before you, consideration has to be 

taken of the documents accompanying the application, the updated 

information, the consultation responses, the development plan, and other 

material considerations including SPGs, SPDs and emerging policy.  

 

66. There are policies in the Development Plan which support the proposal and 

others which do not. It is necessary to assess all the policies and proposals in 

the plan and come to a view as to whether in light of the plan as a whole the 

proposal does or does not accord with it.  

 

67. The principal issues in considering this application are: 

 

a) The extent to which the proposals comply with Government policy advice 

(NPPF) and with the relevant policies of the Development Plan. 

b) The principle of development and proposed uses.  

c) The impact of the proposed development on the amenity of nearby residential 

and other occupiers.  

d) The impact of the proposal on public safety and security in the City. 

e) The economic impact of the proposal. 

f) The impact of the development on the character and appearance of the area 

and the design of the building itself.   

g) The impact of the development on designated and non-designated heritage 

assets. 

h) The impact of the development on public realm. 

i) The impact of the development on ecology. 

j) The accessibility and inclusivity of the development. 

k) The impact of the development on any potential archaeological assets 

beneath the site. 

l) The impact of the development on highway and transportation terms.  

m) The impact of the development in terms of energy, sustainability and climate 

change. 

n) The impact of the development on air quality.  

o) The impact of the development on health and wellbeing. 

p) The impact of the development on fire safety. 

q) The impact of the development on flood risk. 

r) Duties under the Public Sector Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 

2010). 

s) The Human Rights Act 1998. 

Page 43



Principle of Development  

Police use 

68. The NPPF states in paragraph 96 that planning decisions should aim to achieve 

healthy, inclusive and safe places and provide social, recreational and cultural 

facilities and services the community needs.   

 

69. Paragraph 101 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should recognise 

and support development required for operational defence and security 

purposes, and ensuring that operational sites are not affected adversely by the 

impact of other development proposed in the area. 

 

70. London Plan Policy GG2 sets out the Mayor’s good growth policy with regard 

to making the best use of land. These include prioritising sites which are well-

connected by existing or planned public transport; proactively explore the 

potential to intensify the use of land to support workspaces, promoting higher 

density development; applying a design–led approach to determine the 

optimum development capacity of sites; and understanding what is valued 

about existing places and use this as a catalyst for growth, renewal, and place-

making, strengthening London’s distinct and varied character  

 

71. London Plan Policy S1 states that development proposals should provide high 

quality, inclusive social infrastructure that addresses a local or strategic need, 

and that development proposals that seek to make best use of land, including 

the public-sector estate, should be encouraged and supported. This includes 

the co-location of different forms of social infrastructure and the rationalisation 

or sharing of facilities. 

 

72. London Plan Policy D11 states that development proposals should maximise 

building resilience and minimise potential physical risks. The supporting text 

states that new developments, including building refurbishments, should be 

constructed with resilience at the heart of their design. 

 

73. Local Plan CS3 states the importance of ensuring the City is secure from crime, 

disorder and terrorism which includes proactively managing night-time 

entertainment to minimise disturbance to residents and workers, and to ensure 

that development takes account of the need for resilience so that the residential 

and business communities are better prepared for, and able to recover from, 

emergencies. 

 

74. The Site is within the ‘Key City Places: Aldgate’ policy area (CS8) which states 

proposals should regenerate the amenities and environment including for 

businesses, workers and visitors. This includes identifying and meeting needs 

of residents.  

 

75. The Applicant is proposing a police facility for an ‘Eastern Base’ in the City to 

meet strategic operational requirements.  

 

76. The Applicant states the east of the City contains significant demand for the 

CoLP with night time-related offences and highlights future development in the 

area will increase future demand. This strategic operational need in the east of 

the City is reinforced by the planned closure of Bishopsgate Police Station. 

Page 44



Therefore, there is a need for the City to maintain the high visibility presence 

and response. In addition, from a counter terrorism perspective there is key 

infrastructure such as transport hubs, crowded places and business premises. 

Therefore having a high level of police presence based in the east will 

complement the overall security posture, coverage and deployments across 

the Square Mile and enable Officers to be based near to highest demand areas. 

In addition, the proposed new base is also in close proximity to large residential 

populations including Middlesex Street and Golden Lane Estates. 

 

77. The applicant states that the majority of the community-based teams patrol on 

foot or bikes therefore being based in the east of the city will be essential for 

visibility, quick response to calls for service and essential in reducing the fear 

of crime through good visibility of police in the local area.  

 

78. In respect of activities, the applicant states this will include:  

• The Eastern Base will be used by operational police officers from various 

Local Policing Teams who will muster at the base and then go out on patrol 

by foot and in vehicles to serve the community.  

• Office areas are not currently provided in the existing compound but will be 

created in the new Eastern Base to allow teams to carry out their 

administrative functions such as report writing.  

• The new Eastern Base will continue to provide vehicle parking for these 

teams, in similar numbers to the existing compound, which will be accessed 

via the existing ramp to the basement and service yard to the ground floor.  

• It will also provide police officers with storage areas for kit and equipment 

that is essential for their duties. Lockers and showers and associated 

welfare facilities will be incorporated in internal areas where they cannot be 

seen or overheard from residential areas. 

• Response vehicles are not included within the new facility and vehicles 

have been relocated to Salisbury Square.  

 

79. The Applicant has confirmed that alternative sites were considered and 

discounted due to security and structural concerns, or because the City of 

London were not the freeholder, or because they did not meet location 

requirements. In addition, significant resources have already been invested into 

the site as a base for police vehicles following approval in 2019.   

 

80. Therefore, the principle of the use is considered acceptable in this location 

subject to conditions.  

 

Loss of retail  

81. London Plan Policy E9 states that development proposals involving the 

redevelopment of surplus retail space should support other planning objectives 

and include alternative town centre uses on the ground floor where viable and 

residential development. 

 

82. The site is not within a Principal Shopping Centre (PSCs) or retail links. Local 

Plan Policy CS20 states that importance of maintaining a scattered distribution 

of convenient local services elsewhere in the City by protecting existing retail 

facilities unless it is demonstrated that they are no longer required.  

Page 45



83. Local Plan Policy DM20.3 states development should resist the loss of isolated 

and small groups of retail units outside the PSCs and Retail Links that form an 

active retail frontage, particularly ‘A1’ units near residential areas, unless it is 

demonstrated that they are no longer needed. Officers note the change from 

Use Class ‘E’ in this case following legislation changes.  

 

84. Supporting text for DM20.3 states that in many parts of the City, retail units are 

grouped together to form active retail frontages which comprise a mix of retail 

uses and provide valuable services. It states that when considering proposals 

for loss of retail uses, particular consideration will be given to the contribution 

that individual units make to the locality, having regard to:  

• the size of a unit and the length of its frontage;  

• the composition and distribution of retail uses locally;  

• the location of the unit within the identified frontage;  

• the length of vacancy and active marketing. 

 

85. The draft City Plan Policy RE3 states that the loss of convenience retail units 

that meet a local residential need will be resisted unless it is demonstrated that 

they are no longer required. 

 

86. To facilitate the police facility and community space, the Applicant is proposing 

the loss of six retail units and one gym unit on Gravel Lane.  

 

87. The Community and Children’s Services Committee met on 23 January 2023 

and resolved that identified spaces at car parks and seven shop units in Gravel 

Lane were surplus to housing need. 

 

88. The Applicant has submitted a Town Centre Use Statement which considers 

the re-use of the six retail units and a gym unit on Gravel Lane. The assessment 

states that the demand for retail floorspace in the Petticoat Market area has 

decreased, which is evident by the number of shop unit vacancies (c25% 

compared to a national average of 14% in August 2022) and concludes  that 

the implications of the loss of 6 x retail units (in an out of centre location) is 

limited, particularly in the wider context of around 140 retail units in the Petticoat 

Market area of which 35 units are currently vacant.  

 

89. The assessment states there is a clear surplus of retail floorspace in the area 

and there is no longer a requirement for all the retail floorspace along Gravel 

Lane. In addition, none of the existing retail units provide a local convenience 

goods offer and with one specialist musical instrument shop. 

 

90. The Applicant has confirmed that assistance has been provided to all tenants 

for relocation to an alternative premises on the estate or elsewhere, and has 

confirmed that the existing units have either been relocated, no longer at the 

premises or closed down business: 

• 8 Gravel Lane (Accessories Zone) – relocating to unit on Middlesex Street; 

• 10 Gravel Lane (Smoking accessories) – relocated to a warehouse facility 

in East London;  

• 12 Gravel Lane – was vacant prior to the unit being declared surplus; 

• 14 Gravel Lane (Instrument shop) – tenant relocated to Whitecross Street; 

• 16 Gravel Lane (Printing shop) – tenant relocated to 88 Fenchurch Street;  

Page 46



• 18 Gravel Lane (Hairdressers) – tenant wanted to close the business; 

• 20 Gravel Lane (Gym) - tenant was no longer occupying the premises. 

 

91. Paragraph 3.20.10 of the Local Plan that active frontages should include shops 

but other uses will be acceptable provided that an active frontage is retained. It 

states that where proposals to change from shops to other uses, particular 

consideration will be given to the contribution that individual units make to the 

locality. 

 

92. Although there has been some relocation of retail units and active frontage is 

proposed through public art, the proposal is considered to be contrary to Local 

Plan policies CS20 and DM20.3, and draft City Plan Policy RE3, due to the loss 

of retail in proximity to residential uses and in the absence of active marketing 

and vacancy information for these units.  

 

93. However, due to the provision of active frontage due to window design and the 

installation of public art on the Gravel Lane frontage, the wider provision of 

shops in the area, and the strategic operational need for the police use, the 

loss of retail is considered acceptable in this case. 

Community uses  

94. London Plan Policy S1 states that development proposals should provide high 

quality, inclusive social infrastructure that addresses a local or strategic need.  

 

95. Local Plan policies CS22 and DM 22.1 support the provision of community 

services. It is advised that development of “new social and community facilities 

should provide flexible, multi-use space suitable for a range of different uses 

and will be permitted: 

• where they would not be prejudicial to the business City and where there is 

no strong economic reason for retaining office use;  

• in locations which are convenient to the communities they serve;  

• in or near identified residential areas, providing their amenity is 

safeguarded;  

• as part of major mixed-use developments, subject to an assessment of the 

scale, character, location and impact of the proposal on existing facilities 

and neighbouring uses.”  

 

96. Similar requirements are set in Draft City Plan 2036 policies S1 and HL5. 

 

97. The Applicant is also proposing redevelopment and reprovision of the 

podium/garden area which will include a new community room, a resident gym 

at first floor level, and an estate office at ground floor level to include meeting 

room and other facilities.  

 

98. In addition, on Gravel Lane, there will be vitrines introduced into 'shop fronts' 

with approximately 800mm depth available for accommodating artwork and/or 

community history information to animate the street scene. The Applicant has 

confirmed that this will be curated and managed by an external specialist and 

would be secured by condition. 

 

Page 47



99. This complies with London Plan Policy S1, and Local Plan policies CS22 and 

DM22.1, and draft City Plan policies S1 and HL5 to provide social infrastructure 

as part of developments.  

 

Conclusion for proposed uses 

100. For the reason stated above, it is considered that the scheme meets the aims 

of policies in the Local Plan and London Plan and meets key strategic 

operational need of the police.  

 

101. The police use is considered to be acceptable in this location due to need for a 

base in the east of the City and subject to conditions to mitigate impacts to 

residential amenity and wider area.  

 

102. A loss of six retail units and a gym is proposed and it is considered to be 

contrary to Local Plan policies CS20 and DM20.3, and draft City Plan Policy 

RE3, due to the loss of retail in proximity to residential uses and in the absence 

of active marketing and vacancy information for these units. Although the loss 

of retail is not supported in principle, the applicant has demonstrated that this 

is acceptable in this case having regard to other material considerations in the 

context of this strategic operational police need. In addition, some active 

frontage would be retained on Gravel Lane through window design and public 

art installation.   

 

103. Therefore, the proposal would support the main function of the City and the 

aims of the development plan and accord with the relevant planning policies, 

as stated above. 

 

Design and Heritage  

Design  

104. Local Plan policies CS10 and DM10.1 and draft City Plan policies S8 and DE2 

require a high standard of design of buildings, streets and spaces, and that 

plant and building services equipment are fully screened from view and 

integrated into the design of the building. Policy DM10.1 also requires 

developments to have attractive and visually interesting street level elevations, 

providing active frontages wherever possible to maintain or enhance the vitality 

of the city’s streets. Developments or installations that would adversely affect 

the character and appearance of buildings or amenities will be resisted. Local 

Plan Policy DM10.1 and draft City Plan IN1 require infrastructure to be 

designed into and integrated within development. 

 

Gravel Lane 

 

105. The proposals include a change of use from retail to a police facility, including 

the alterations to the existing shopfronts on Gravel Lane. The facades at 

ground floor level would be replaced, with an additional layer of glazing 600mm 

behind the existing frontage for security purposes. The second layer of glass 

would have a privacy film, obscuring views through into the office space behind. 

The void between these two layers of glazing would have artwork, this would 

contain historical photographs of the area or similar, which has been guided by 

Page 48



consultation with the residents and would be secured via condition. There 

would be a loss of active frontage as a result of the proposals, although, the 

designs have sought to replicate shopfront proportions, incorporating a fascia 

and stall riser to simulate the character and appearance of the existing 

shopfronts. The doors of each shop unit would remain in the same location. 

The proposed gym facility for residents would also have a shopfront design 

similar to the police station.  

 

106. The proposed design and materiality of the shopfronts would reflect the existing 

arrangement, with the final details to be secured via condition. The windows at 

first floor level above the existing shopfronts would be replaced with details and 

specification to be reserved for condition. 

 

107. The proposals for Gravel Lane would represent a degree of conflict with policy 

CS10 and DM10.1, and would lead to a reduction in the quality of the street. 

Gravel Lane currently has locally run shops with a character reflective of the 

wider estate, albeit of modest architectural quality. The existing shopfronts do 

contribute to an active and vibrant character of the street scene which would 

be diminished as a result of the proposed use, this is however considered to 

be inevitable as a result of the nature of the proposals. 

 

108. The proposed use would make the street more private, by expanding the police 

facility from a basement car park into a larger car park with ancillary office 

facilities with a visible   presence at ground floor level, the essence of the 

proposals is defensive and private by its nature. The installation of bollards 

would reduce the inclusivity and attractiveness of the environment and visual 

amenity of Gravel Lane. Policy DM10.1, new development, requires 

developments to be of a high standard of design, to avoid negative impacts to 

the townscape and public realm. The architectural move to ‘echo’ the design of 

the existing shopfronts is appropriate and sensitive to a degree, maintaining 

the proportions and arrangement of the façade is positive, however, the 

secondary glazing and reduction of active frontage, compounded by the loss of 

public access would reduce the vibrancy and vitality of the street in a residential 

neighbourhood with a distinct community feel. The design, materiality and 

installation of artwork are appropriate attempts to mitigate the impact of the 

proposed use, however, it is the function and essence of the proposed use, an  

expanded police facility and its security requirements, which would represent 

non-compliance with the City of London Plan design policies by diminishing the 

function, visual amenity and vitality of the street scene. This is however 

considered to be justified on balance, and is considered inevitable given the 

nature of the proposals. 

 

109. The prevalence of the security requirements would be evident, the loss of active 

frontage, obscured secondary glazing and security bollards would diminish a 

public facing, residential, local to street. Policy CS3 of the local plan, security 

and safety, seeks to ensure security requirements are well integrated into the 

design of buildings, streets and spaces. The environmental impact of the 

security measures is considered to be negative. Along Gravel Lane, the 

proposals would visually segregate publicly accessible pedestrian areas when 

compared to the existing street scene. The bollards and security compliant 

planters to provide soft landscaping would be secured through condition and 

delivered by the highways authority. This aspect of the proposals is indicative 

Page 49



at this stage, the designs of the security features on public highway, including 

layout and materials, would be subject to a detailed assessment and 

negotiation with the highways authority at a later stage of the project on the 

specific design of the proposals. 

 

Artizan Street Elevation 

 

110. The elevations on Artizan Street would be altered. The vehicle ramps which 

have previously been removed would be infilled with brick cladding enclosures, 

louvres and a new concrete ‘fascia’ extending over the existing vehicle access.  

The brick specification and colour would be agreed through condition and 

would be specified to match the existing brick. The choice of concrete and 

louvres would tie in with the wider aesthetic of the estate. The louvres are 

required for ventilation for the plant equipment behind. The car park entrance 

at ground floor level would be closed off with new gates and barriers, details of 

which would be agreed through condition. As such, the proposals would tidy up 

the Artizan Street Elevation. 

 

111. Policy DM10.1 states plant and building services equipment should be well 

executed and integrated into the façade design. The louvres would be 

prominent, but are generally an improvement on the existing elevation. Brick 

slips have been proposed, as there are however structural and loading 

constraints to substantially revising the design of the overall elevation. The 

projecting elements of the façade (covering the previously removed vehicle 

ramps) and the louvres would be functional in appearance. The proposals are 

an improvement on the existing elevation and are therefore considered to be 

compliant with policies CS10, DM10.1 and DM10.4. 

 

Landscaping at podium level 

 

112. The central area of the podium level, the residents garden, would be re-

designed and re-constructed. The area would be raised to accommodate the 

police station beneath, allowing for waterproofing and security protection for 

the office accommodation of the police facility. This would be a 370mm 

increase in height of the central area, with a ‘corridor’ for pedestrian access 

around the edge, the edge spaces would remain at the same level of the 

existing terrace allowing for access in and out of residential apartments.  

 

113. The landscaping proposals include the provision of a community room, 

greening, a new playspace and a sunken garden. The seating and planters 

would be finished in concrete ceramic tiles and bricks, intended to match the 

existing aesthetic of the estate. The proposals are considered to be compliant 

with policies CS10, DM10.1 and DM10.4, subject to appropriate materials being 

agreed through condition. 

 

Conclusion 

 

114. There would be a degree of visual impact by expanding the existing police 

facility within the Estate, specifically relating to the proposals on Gravel Lane, 

including the elevations of the building. By virtue of their impact on Gravel Lane 

the proposals represent some non-compliance with Local Plan policies CS10, 

DM10.1, but are on balance considered to be justified and are an inevitable 

Page 50



consequence of accommodating a police facility. The detailed design 

conditions would further seek to mitigate any visual impacts and refine the 

delivery of the proposals, 

 

Heritage  

 

115. Local Plan policy CS12 and DM12.1, draft City Plan policies S11 and HE1 and 

London Plan Policy HC1 seek to conserve heritage assets and the historic 

environment. 

 

116. Local Plan policy CS2 and draft City Plan policy S7 requires utility infrastructure 

to promote “the improvement and extension of utilities infrastructure that is 

designed and sited to minimise adverse impact on the visual amenity, character 

and appearance of the City and its heritage assets”.  

 

Non-Designated Heritage Assets 

 

117. On a previous application for the site (21/00527/FULL), the Twentieth Century 

Society suggested the Estate should be identified as a non-designated heritage 

asset. Non-designated heritage assets are buildings, monuments, sites, 

places, areas or landscapes identified as having a degree of significance 

meriting consideration in planning decisions because of their heritage interest 

but which do not meet the criteria for designated heritage assets (as defined in 

Annex 2 of the NPPF). 

 

118. The Estate has not been identified by the City of London as a non-designated 

heritage asset as it is not considered to meet the Historic England criteria set 

out in ‘Local Heritage Listing: Identifying and Conserving Local heritage’. These 

criteria comprise: rarity; architectural and artistic value; group value; 

archaeological interest; historic interest and landmark status. 

 

119. Rarity: Built in 1965-1970 for the Corporation of London, Middlesex Street 

Estate comprises the 23 storey Petticoat Tower and low-rise buildings. There 

are numerous examples of social housing estates across London from this 

building period. 

 

120. Architectural and Artistic value: The materials are concrete including for 

balconies and engineered brick. Pevsner in The Buildings of England describes 

the building as “aggressive” and “very hard and very urban even for the 

standards of the time”. In comparison it is considered that other London estates 

of this period are more complete, architecturally accomplished and expressive. 

 

121. The Estate is an exponent of modernist brutalism and represents many of the 

values which define the architecture of this period supporting the welfare state 

and representing a new optimism as well as being fortress like and inward 

facing. The Estate includes a mix of uses which typifies the streets in the sky 

concept and includes courtyard blocks and a tower with shop units on the lower 

floors a large garage underneath and a central elevated landscaped podium 

surrounded by a mix of flat types. Architecturally the building has a robust and 

formal language and rhythm of slotted concrete balconies which contrast with 

the dark engineering brick work. The muscularity of the building contrasts with 

Page 51



the raised podium communal space which promotes social interaction, includes 

gardening, planting and playground space.  

 

122. Alterations have eroded the quality, architectural coherence, expression and 

design intentions of the Estate. Original business units facing outward at street 

level and into the podium are no longer functioning and converted to residential 

(approved 09/004466/FULMAJ). Public access to the elevated podium 

connecting through to the City of London Pedway scheme has been closed. An 

application for full height glazed enclosure was approved for the Harrow 

Place/Artizan Street south-western corner to create a private and secure main 

entrance into the estate along with other security measures to access points 

(approved 11/00602/FUL3).  

 

123. Group value: The Estate is in a varied and constantly evolving urban landscape 

comprising diverse buildings and varied architecture. There are no discernible 

group value connections with the surrounding townscape.  

 

124. Archaeological interest: There are no significant archaeological connections. 

 

125. Historic value: The development is an example of social housing and post war 

development in the local area but has no readily legible historic connections 

with the past which provide evidential values.  

 

126. Landmark status: The development is distinctive architecturally in the local 

townscape and as a housing estate rather than commercial use. Petticoat 

Tower is a recognisable marker for orientation however it is now less impactful 

and is appreciated in the context of the background taller buildings on the fringe 

of the City Cluster. The development is not considered to have a landmark 

status. 

 

127. The Estate is not considered to warrant non-designated heritage asset status 

as the Estate does not meet the criteria due its architectural quality compared 

to other similar estates and the erosion of original design intentions. It is 

however distinct architectural typology, the Podium level promotes urban 

greening, there is a strong sense of community and as a complex the Estate 

importantly contributes to the City’s residential population. 

 

Other Heritage Impacts 

 

128. There are no designated heritage assets within the City of London that would 

potentially be impacted by the proposals.  The closest City of London listed 

buildings are within the Cutler Street Estate including Cutler Street House to 

East of Entrance to Port of London Authority's Warehouses; and Cutler Street 

Port of London Authority Warehouses and Boundary Wall to Middlesex Street 

and New Street both grade II listed. Due to the intervening buildings along 

Harrow Place and the incidental nature of the proposals, there would be no 

impact upon the setting and significance of these designated heritage assets.  

There are no City of London conservation areas nearby where the proposals 

would be visible from. 

 

129. Wentworth Street Conservation Area within Tower Hamlets lies immediately to 

the east of Middlesex Street Estate sharing a boundary with Middlesex Street. 

Page 52



This an area with a fine urban grain which special architectural and historic 

interest due to its rich history dating from 19th century. The area has a medieval 

street pattern of yards and alleys which is still evident. The area is characterised 

by markets and associations with the clothing industry and wave of immigration 

which make it a culturally diverse part of London.  

 

130. The proposed works would be visible in views away from and into the 

Conservation Area boundary, there would some visibility of the Gravel Lane 

and Artizan Street elevations. The proposed elevations would represent a 

variation on the existing condition. In addition. due to the overall scale of the 

estate and the position of the interventions, any visibility of the proposed works 

would be incidental and absorbed into the architecture, materiality and 

detailing. In views along the Middlesex Street the brutalist Middlesex Street 

Estate is within the setting of the conservation area but is entirely detached and 

self-contained from the conservation area’s fine urban grain and Victorian 

character. The setting of the Wentworth Conservation Area and itsthe overall 

character, appearance and significance of the Conservation Area would be 

preserved. 

 

Conclusion on Heritage 

 

131. As the Middlesex Street Estate is not considered to meet the criteria to be 

identified as a non-designated heritage asset, there would be no impact in this 

respect. The proposals would preserve the character, appearance and 

significance of the Wentworth Street Conservation Area, the only designated 

heritage asset identified as having the potential to be impacted by the 

proposals. As such, the proposals are considered to accord with Local Plan 

Policies CS 12 and DM 12.1, emerging City Plan policies S11 and HE1, London 

Plan Policy HC1 and the relevant NPPF paragraphs. 

 

Archaeology  

132. The proposed development is in an area of archaeological interest. In 

accordance with the City of London Local Plan 2015, all of the City is 

considered to have archaeological potential, except where there is evidence 

that archaeological remains have been lost due to deep basement construction 

or other groundworks. 

 

133. The Applicant has confirmed that no below ground works are proposed. The 

Greater London Archaeology Advisory Service were consulted and confirmed 

no assessment or conditions are required.  

 

Access and Inclusivity  

134. Developments should be designed and managed to provide for the access 

needs of all communities, including the particular needs of disabled people as 

required by policies CS10, DM10.1, DM10.5 and DM10.8 of the Local Plan, 

policies S1 and S8 of the draft City Plan 2036 and policy D5 of the London 

Plan. In particular, policy DM10.8 requires developments to achieve an 

environment that meets the highest standards of accessibility and inclusive 

design in all development (both new and refurbished), open spaces and streets. 

Page 53



 

135. The application is accompanied by an Access Strategy submitted as part of the 

Design and Access Statement.  

 

136. To avoid the new Eastern Base facility impacting on current pedestrian 

circulation routes in the Estate, the Applicant has provided dedicated entrances 

through the units on Gravel Lane. The Unit 18 entrance will form the main entry 

and exit point for all Eastern Base staff, whilst the door to unit 8 will provide a 

secondary exit. This will ensure that residents’ stair cores will remain solely for 

their use. 

 

137. The applicant is proposing relocating the existing blue badge space on Gravel 

Lane and will provide two spaces at ground and one at basement. There is 

potential for four additional future spaces at basement. There will be no loss of 

existing disabled car parking as a result of the proposal.  

 

138. The Access Officer reviewed the application highlighted the following to be 

addressed through condition: 

Gravel Lane 

• Need to ensure that there is level access from the Blue/Red badge bay 

opposite through to the entrance core. Location of dropped kerbs should 

not be obstructed by bollards/planters. 

• Recommended condition to ensure that disabled parking provision is 

maintained throughout construction. 

• For seating points proposed on planters outside the bakery, these should 

be a range of heights with arm and back supports. 

• Where display material is to be shown in the shop windows this should 

avoid glare and be consistent with guidance on signs/ information boards 

in BS 8300 (2): 12.  It would be welcome if exhibits are provided in 

alternative formats that are consistent with the principle of more than two 

senses (PAS 6463). 

Podium 

• A range of seating is most inclusive including options for single, and 

grouped seats and seating and tables to be secured by condition. 

• Details for inclusive play to be provide by condition to ensure that there is 

provision for a range of users.   

 

139. The podium level design has been amended following comments from 

residents and the Access Officer, to provide ramped access at each side of the 

proposed podium raised area. 

  

140. Therefore, subject to the requirement to provide an accessibility management 

plan via condition and to provide further design details, the proposal is 

considered acceptable. 

 

141. The planning application has been assessed to ensure that the proposal meets 

the highest standards of accessibility and inclusive design required by London 

Plan 2021 Policy D5, Local Plan 2015 Policy DM 10.8 and Draft City Plan 2036 

Policy HL1. 

Page 54



Highways and Transportation 

Site and Connectivity  

142. A number of underground stations that include Aldgate station, Liverpool Street 

station and Aldgate East station are within easy walking distance to the site. 

Fenchurch Street and Liverpool Street train stations are within walking distance 

to the site. A number of bus routes also operate close to the site. 

 

143. The Public Transport Accessibility level (PTAL) of the site is 6b which is the 

highest level of accessibility.  

Trip Generation and Impact 

144. The applicant has undertaken traffic surveys to record existing vehicle activity 

into and out of the site. Traffic surveys were undertaken between 06.00 and 

18.00 hours on Friday 1st July 2022 and Saturday 2nd July 2022. 

 

145. The surveys recorded 49 two-way private car movements 3 police car 

movements, 48 two-way LGV movements, 5 two-way motor bike movements 

and 14 two-way cycle movements on Friday 1st July 2022. 

 

146. On Saturday 2nd July 2022, 58 two-way private car movements, 2 police car 

movements, 6 two-way LGV movements, 2 two-way motorbike movements and 

4 two-way cycle movements were recorded.  

 

147. Traffic surveys were also undertaken on Thursday 18th, Saturday 20th and 

Tuesday 23rd May 2023. These traffic surveys were undertaken between 07.00 

hours and 19.00 hours. 

 

148. On Thursday 18th May 2023, 67 two-way car movements, 10 two-way police 

vehicle movements, 43 two-way LGV movements and 23 two-way motorbike 

movements were recorded. 

 

149. On Saturday 20th May 2023, 56 two-way car movements, 7 two-way police 

vehicle movements, 6 two-way LGV/HGV movements and 4 two-way motor 

bike movements were recorded. 

 

150. The applicant makes reference to the Tuesday 23rd May 2023 surveys; 

however, the applicant has not produced a table similar to the Thursday and 

Saturday surveys, as there were fewer vehicles recorded on this day. During 

this day a total of 146 two-way vehicle movements were recorded. 

 

151. The Police has provided information regarding shift patterns across a typical 

day and the associated number of personnel. 

 

152. The proposals incorporate 5 teams that would operate from the Eastern Base, 

with different shift patterns and there will be 24 vehicles associated with these 

teams; 18 of these vehicles will be in operation on a 24-hour basis across the 

City. The Applicant night time shift patterns provide a lower number of officers 

attending the facility.  

 

Page 55



153. Vehicles would arrive / depart the site upon inception and cessation of specific 

shifts. Police officers travelling to / from the site from home would travel by 

public transport. 

 

154. It is expected there will be up to 6 vehicle movements during a 30 min period 

either side of a shift. The vehicle movements are dictated by shift patterns.  

 

155. A further 6 vehicles (associated with the dog handlers) would enter and exit on 

an ad-hoc basis across the day only. It is also expected that there will be 9 

motorcycles in use during the core part of the day. It is noted that the existing 

site already generates some vehicle movements and the expected vehicle trips 

are therefore not considered to be severe. 

 

156. In summary, the relocation of the CoL Police to the Eastern Base will 

moderately increase vehicle movements in the area. However, the increase in 

trips is not expected to be significant and can be accommodated on the existing 

local road network. These trips would also not be new trips on the wider CoL 

road network, as they would represent displaced trips. Therefore, there will be 

no overall increase in vehicle trips within CoL area. 

Vehicle Access 

157. The main entrance to the building is from Artizan Street and will continue to 

provide the main entrance and exit point to/from the ground and basement 

level. 

Pedestrian Access 

158. Pedestrian access to the proposed police facility will be from the site frontage 

on Gravel Lane with two access points located at either end of the site’s 

frontage, an emergency escape at Middlesex Street end, and a main entrance 

at the White Kennet Street end. 

Car parking 

159. The existing development provides 67 car parking spaces for the residents, 38 

of these are located at basement level and 29 at ground floor level.  

 

160. An area of approximately 2,100 sqm at basement level, is used at present by 

the CoL Police as a secure parking area, which is approximately half of the 

basement level. 

 

161. It is proposed to reduce the number of car parking spaces used by residents to 

43 (a reduction of 24 car parking spaces) and increase the number of car 

parking spaces of the CoL Police to 52 car parking spaces. The residents 

parking area would be improved as part of the proposals via the introduction of 

CCTV, new surfacing, better access control and vehicle charging points (7 

chargers will be installed in the resident area, with ‘passive provision’ for an 

additional 7 bays to be easily converted in the future). 

 

162. Overnight car parking surveys were undertaken by the applicant across three 

days and the results of these surveys indicated that a maximum of 43 car 

parking spaces were occupied before 06.00 AM. On the other survey days, a 

Page 56



maximum of 41 and 40 vehicles were recorded, which is consistent and 

therefore provides assurance with respect to the reliability of the results. Of 

these 43, 41, and 40 vehicles, 20, 27, and 26 respectively could be identified 

as being permit holders; it is understood that 34 resident parking permits are in 

circulation in total and this current allocation of spaces for residents would be 

maintained as part of the proposals. 

 

163. Based on the results of the surveys, the applicant considers that the reduction 

in resident parking will not adversely affect the operation of the car park as the 

recorded maximum demand for private car parking would be provided for, and 

this would be in excess of the number of identified permit holders (+11 in 

circulation and +17 as recorded in the maximum parking surveys). 

 

164. The applicant has confirmed that all existing permits for off-street car parking 

will be retained. A condition is recommended to ensure that existing permits 

are retained as currently allocated. 

 

165. The existing Blue Badge parking space on Gravel Lane is to be retained and 

relocated.  

Motorcycle Parking 

166. The existing development accommodates 7 resident motorcycle parking 

spaces, and the applicant is proposing to re-provide these spaces. In addition, 

6 motorcycle spaces are proposed for the use of the CoL Police.  

Cycle Parking 

167. The proposals do not involve alterations to the number of residential properties 

therefore, no additional cycle parking would be required per policy. However, 

the applicant is proposing to increase the number of cycle parking spaces and 

improve the cycle parking facilities (notably for accessible users), and this is 

welcomed. 

 

168. There are currently there are 26 cycle spaces within the Ground floor service 

yard and a further 24 cycle spaces externally at podium level which require 

bicycles to be taken into the residential lifts.  

 

169. It is proposed to provide 44 cycle parking spaces within the police compound. 

For the commercial units, 24 cycle parking spaces are proposed at ground floor 

level. 

 

170. For the residential element, a new storage area is proposed for up to 205 cycle 

parking spaces at basement level. In addition, 11 wider space / adapted cycle 

bays provided in a separate secure area at ground level next to the loading bay 

with new dedicated cycle lifts to basement level. This provides approximately 

5% of total cycle parking as accessible. 

Servicing and Waste Area 

171. The delivery and servicing area will be maintained at ground floor level. Three 

spaces are for standard cars, 2 spaces are for light goods vans and two 

3mx10m bays will be provided for larger vehicles. 

Page 57



172. The applicant has undertaken a servicing vehicle survey, which shows 12 

vehicles per day were undertaking servicing / deliveries and this includes 2 

visits for refuse vehicles. 

 

173. Swept Path Analysis (SPA) is referred to within the Transport Statement, and 

confirms that the required vehicle movements can be made. 

 

174. Based on the results of the surveys, it is considered that the servicing 

arrangements are adequate in principle and are accepted. A detailed Delivery 

and Servicing Plan should be submitted to and approved by the LPA , secured 

by condition. 

Highways Improvement Works  

175. Highway improvement works are proposed along the section of Gravel Lane 

fronting the site. The proposals are indicative only and subject to review during 

the design process. The works proposed include (but are not limited to) partial 

footway widening to maintain an improved road alignment and footway width. 

The works require the relocation of an existing on street disabled bay to the 

south and changes to on-street car parking. Final Highway designs would be 

subject to the undertaking of a Road Safety Audit (Stage 2). 

 

176. The proposed removal of pay and display will incur a loss of revenue to CoL 

and any loss in revenue would need to be covered by the Applicant. As the 

bays are designated public highway, the potential removal of bays would be 

subject to the necessary consultations and traffic orders.  

 

177. The highways improvement works indicates a large number of bollards located 

within the public highway, combined with planters incorporating soft 

landscaping and seating areas. A balanced design will have to be agreed 

during the design stage and the proposed arrangements would be required to 

avoid any intervisibility safety issues (drivers x pedestrians). The design is 

subject to a road safety audit prior to final approval of the scheme of highway 

works. 

 

178. Within the initial submission, it had been noted and acknowledged by the 

applicant that doors were proposed to open outwards onto the public highway. 

This is a contravention of the Section 153 of the Highways Act 1980 and adds 

further liability to the highways authority. The applicant reviewed the design to 

accommodate the opening of the doors inwards. No doors are to open within 

the public highway under any circumstance and a condition is recommended. 

 

179. The proposed width of the carriageway has been shown as 4.8m. It is proposed 

that the vehicle/Service Access to Beaufort Place is maintained. Widening the 

footway and realigning the kerbline does not appear to maintain two-way traffic, 

when taking into consideration the existing on-street parking 

arrangements/restrictions. Reversing onto the highway to allow other vehicles 

to pass is likely to occur and would therefore compromise road safety. 

 

180. The applicant states that the service yard at Beaufort House is limited to 

vehicles of 7.5t in weight and has provided SPA drawings demonstrating 

access on this basis.  

Page 58



 

181. Removing the “inset” area may not allow larger vehicles to safely exit the 

service area (Beaufort House), without manoeuvring/overrunning the highway. 

The applicant has demonstrated, using swept path analysis, that such vehicle 

movement is possible however, it seems limited. Further discussions at 

detailed design phase will be required to establish the feasibility of the 

proposals to ensure that overrun and damage to street furniture does not occur. 

 

182. A scheme of highway works will be secured by condition and a Unilateral 

Undertaking, with the City Corporation as developer required to meet the full 

cost of the works. The scope of the highways improvement works which are 

considered necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

(designed as per the Standards for Highways) include but are not limited to: 

• Drainage arrangements. 

• Changes to the existing and proposed parking arrangements (road 

markings). This is subject to public consultation and amendments to 

existing traffic orders. 

• Changes to highways materials.  

• Changes to the general arrangements for footways and carriageways. 

• Highways Boundary clearly highlighted (existing and proposed if 

applicable). 

• Underground Utility Survey. 

 

183. A road safety audit Stage 2 is to be submitted once the initial design has been 

approved. 

 

184. Any hostile vehicle mitigation which it is agreed is necessary to place on the 

highway with any additional maintenance costs to be met by the City 

Corporation as developer. 

Outline Construction Logistics Plan  

185. An outline Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) has been prepared by the 

applicant in relation to the proposals to create a CoL Police facility within the 

Middlesex Street Estate. 

 

186. The draft CLP includes information on the following: 

• Indicative construction programme and methodology. 

• Vehicle routing and access for construction vehicles to and from the site. 

• Strategy to reduce the impact of construction vehicles.  

• Estimated vehicle movements associated with the construction works. 

• Measures to implement, monitor and update the CLP. 

 

187. The document includes a description of the various phases of works and 

provides site layout plans at each stage of works. The draft CLP also confirms 

that there will be no need to suspend on street parking bays during 

construction. Also, there are no proposals to divert vehicle, cyclist, or 

pedestrian routes during construction.    

 

188. The hours of operation of construction vehicles will be between 08.00 and 

18.00 during weekdays and between 0.800 and 13.00 on Saturdays, in 

accordance with CoL guidelines. 

Page 59



 

189. The applicant is advised that a detailed CLP is to be submitted by the principal 

contractor undertaking/managing the construction phase once appointed, 

secured by condition. The CLP is to be drafted as per the Construction Logistics 

Planning Guidance.   

Travel Plan 

190. The proposed CoL police facility will provide the required cycle parking that 

would enable officers to cycle to the site. This ensures that a key measure of 

any travel plan is already secured and has been designed into the proposals. 

A detailed Travel Plan for CoL police facility should be submitted to CoL, 

secured by condition.  

Cleansing  

191. The Cleansing team were consulted and raised no objections.  

Transport Conclusion  

192. The following is proposed to be secured via condition:  

• Full Delivery and Servicing Plan. 

• Full Construction Logistics Plan. 

• Full Cycle promotion plan. 

• Details of the cycle parking facilities. 

• Details of the waste storage facilities. 

• Highways Improvement works to be agreed prior to occupation. 

 

193. Therefore, subject to conditions and detailed design, the proposal is considered 

acceptable in transport terms and to comply with Local Plan policies DM16.1, 

DM16.2, DM16.3, DM16.4 and DM16.5. 

 

Environmental Impact of Proposals 

Operational use and construction 

194. Local Plan policies CS21 and DM21.3 seek to ensure the residential 

environment is protected, and policies DM15.6 and DM15.7 seek to address 

air quality, noise and light pollution arising from development including the 

construction phase.  

 

195. The Environmental Health team were consulted and stated that due to the 

proposals being within a highly residential area, the development will require 

close adherence to the supplied Operational Management Plan, compliance 

with internal City of London Police operational codes and will require diligent 

monitoring by CoLP coupled with detailed complaint investigation and 

resolution protocols and regular resident liaison to prevent unacceptable noise 

impacts particularly at night, between 2300 and 0700. 

 

196. The Environmental Health team state there is likely to remain some residual 

noise impacts for residents during the ultimate end use of the facility, 

specifically from vehicle and officer movements. In addition, the Environmental 

Health team state that the construction phase will be highly impactive due to its 

Page 60



location, the number of residents above the site and the unique construction of 

the estate leading to heavy noise transference throughout. There are also 

cumulative impacts from significant development adjoining the estate e.g. 115 

Houndsditch. The Scheme of Protective Works for the Demolition and 

Construction phases may need to adopt controls in excess of the standards 

outlined in the existing Code of Construction Practice. 

 

197. The Applicant has submitted an Operational Management Plan for the proposal 

which includes states: 

 

• The base will be completely segregated from the residential areas by the 

provision of dedicated police entrances into the base in Gravel Lane, 

replicating the existing shop unit entrances. This will help to ensure that 

current access arrangements for residents are unaffected and that police 

officers will not have to share lift and stair areas with residents of the estate. 

 

• The only spaces that will be shared by City of London Police officers and 

estate residents will be the vehicle routes into and out of the ground floor 

and basement. The existing secure compound utilises the ramp to the 

basement, currently sharing this access route with residents’ vehicles and 

the new base will continue with this existing arrangement. A compound will 

be added at ground floor level in the new Eastern Base, utilising space that 

was previously for unallocated parking in the Middlesex Street Estate. City 

of London Police vehicles parking at this level will be from non-response 

units and a large part of the space will be for the secure parking of the larger 

Police vans due to the additional floor to ceiling height available here. The 

larger police vans are currently parked along Devonshire Square and will 

be relocated within the compound. 

 

• Police parking areas will be discreetly screened in these separate new 

secure compounds at basement and ground floor levels and no City of 

London Police vehicles will be parked outside of these secure compounds. 

 

• The existing City of London Police secure compound accommodates 

between 32 and 40 vehicles depending on the extent of double banked 

parking. These vehicles will move over to the new Eastern Base with the 

only additional vehicles parking there being the larger Police vans on the 

ground floor. City of London Police representatives have attended all the 

residents’ meetings and forums and public events since these were 

convened in February 2023. As a result of feedback received at those 

meetings from residents in relation to the potential noise of sirens and rapid 

vehicle movements, the City of London Police have reviewed the teams 

that will be located at the Eastern Base and have moved a response team 

who were due to be located at this site elsewhere, including their response 

vehicles. Following the public consultation process, City of London Police 

have agreed that no response vehicles will now be based on this site, and 

it is therefore extremely unlikely that any vehicles leaving the site will be 

exiting with sirens on. 

 

• City of London Police have stated that they fully recognise the sensitivity of 

the Eastern Base location and the need to avoid causing disturbance to 

their neighbours and have underlined this at the various resident meetings 

Page 61



and public events. The forces’ standard operating procedure for driving 

standards states that ‘Inappropriate and inconsiderate use of warning 

instruments (e.g. sirens, blue lights and headlamp flashers) must be 

avoided’ and drivers are expected to comply with this force policy at all 

times. Breaches of this policy may result in disciplinary action. 

 

• However, City of London Police would need to maintain the ability to 

respond to a major incident in a manner that maintains the safety of the 

whole community and therefore in extreme circumstances, or in the event 

of a major incident, CoLP vehicles may need to exit the site while using 

warning instruments to ensure pedestrians and approaching vehicles are 

aware of their presence. This would be a very infrequent occurrence and 

on the rare occasions it is required would be more likely to occur when 

exiting the site at times when the roads and pavements are busier e.g. 

during the standard working day. Siren use will comply with Regulation 99 

(Use of audible warning instruments) as set out in The Road Vehicles 

(Construction and Use) Regulations 1986.  

 

• Occasionally the warning instruments on vehicles – sirens, blue lights and 

headlamp flashers – need to be tested before the vehicles are used to 

ensure these systems are working properly. This will be undertaken within 

the secure basement compound which is designed to prevent noise transfer 

to adjoining residential areas. An acoustic test has been undertaken to 

confirm the acoustic separation of the compound and residential units. The 

assessment for the impact of siren testing in the basement demonstrates 

this will be audible in some locations and recommends attenuation 

measures. A condition is recommended to secure these mitigation 

measures.  

 

• A key piece of training equipment that was due to be located at the Eastern 

base has also been removed from this project and will now be located 

elsewhere in the City of London Police Estate because it was identified that 

the use of this equipment may create too much noise that would impact on 

residents. 

 

• The Eastern Base will provide gym facilities to police staff during the 

working hours with scheduled learning and development sessions, with 

limited to no use overnight. It has been assessed that the location of the 

gym is structurally separate to the residential units and the design will be 

developed to achieve G20 from PropPG - Gym Assessment Guide to not 

be intrusive.  

 

• The City of London Police are committed to ensuring any disruption to 

residents is minimised, this is captured in the forces operating procedure, 

where officers are aware of the residential nature of the site, and reminded 

to turn down their radios and avoid the slamming of doors when in the 

Estate. 

 

• The force regularly reviews how it is currently operating from the existing 

site and will continue to do so in the future facility. As indicated previously, 

night time shift patterns provide a lower number of officers attending the 

Page 62



facility. As a non-operational base, the numbers would reduce for the 

accessing / exiting the facility during those times. It should also be noted 

that the majority of activity during that time is likely to be via the vehicle 

ramp and directly into the CoLP area, the external pavement noise being 

very limited if at all. 

 

• For communications: 

- During the construction works a robust Communications Protocol will 

be implemented and sets out the aims, channels and processes for 

communications in regard to the construction stage of the Eastern 

Base at Middlesex Street Estate.  

- To provide residents with direct access so that any issues can be 

raised via the email address and phone number that has already 

been established for residents to raise any issues or concerns that 

the force acts upon immediately via Local / Community Policing. 

- Post construction community liaison groups will continue to enable 

local residents to regularly engage face to face with the City of 

London Police. The Applicant has shared a dedicated email and 

telephone number for residents to raise any concerns. 

- In addition, the force regularly undertakes local meetings with 

residents including: 

o Cluster meetings including Middlesex Street 

o Engagement with Community Policing officers via local patrols 

o Annual rate Payer meetings that CoLP are represented at with 

residents. 

 

198. The Applicant submitted an Outline Construction Environmental Management 

Plan and an Outline Construction Logistics Plan which include strategies to 

reduce impacts including from transport, noise and vibration, air quality and 

waste. In addition, the applicant states the liaison with residents will include the 

frequent distribution of newsletters and attendance at meetings with 

representatives of local businesses and residents’ groups. The final details of 

these documents will be subject to condition. It is recommended that the 

Environmental Scheme of Protective works includes the provision of a respite 

area for residents and the continuation of the Community Steering Group 

during the construction phase.  

 

199. In addition, there are residential windows above the ramp at Artizan Street and 

above the units on Gravel Lane. However due to the distance from the 

windows, the number of vehicles, and the Operational Management Plan, it is 

not considered that there will be adverse impacts as a result of the proposal.  

 

200. Therefore it is considered that the impacts arising from the operational and 

construction phases would be adequately mitigated by recommended 

conditions, including a proposed condition which would require compliance with 

an Operational Management Plan, to ensure there would not be unacceptable 

impacts to the residential amenity of Middlesex Street Estate. 

Noise and Vibration  

201. Local Plan 2015 policy DM15.7, and London Plan policies D13 and D14 require 

developers to consider the impact of their developments on the noise 

environment. It should be ensured that operational noise does not adversely 

Page 63



affect neighbours and that any noise from plant should be at least 10dBa below 

background noise levels.  

 

202. An Acoustic Assessment has been submitted which provides an outline 

assessment of the impact of noise and vibration from the mechanical plant on 

the surrounding area. In addition, operational use noise and construction 

impacts have been considered.  

 

203. Noise surveys were completed at the proposed development to ascertain 

existing noise levels in and around the development site. 

 

204. The assessment states that the existing building along with the necessary 

upgrades to create the accommodation will be suitable to prevent the structural 

noise transfer to neighbouring sensitive accommodation. It states that noise 

due to increased vehicle movements will not be significant, when compared to 

existing use of the site and Officers will be instructed not to use sirens when 

exiting the estate in routine circumstances. 

 

205. Concerns have been raised from the nearby residents regarding noise and dust 

during construction. Noise and vibration mitigation, including control over 

working hours, types of equipment used, would be in included in Schemes of 

protective works for Demolition and Construction Logistics Plan to be approved 

by condition.  

 

206. Subject to the proposed conditions and compliance with the Operational 

Management Plan, the proposals would comply with London Plan Policy D13 

and D14, Local Plan Policy DM15.7 and draft City Plan 2036 Policy HL3.  

Light Pollution 

207. Local Plan Policy DM15.7 and draft City Plan 2036 policy DE9, the Lighting 

SPD requires that development should incorporate measures to reduce light 

spillage particularly where it would impact adversely on neighbouring 

occupiers, the wider public realm and biodiversity.  

 

208. To ensure that appropriate lighting levels are achieved externally and internally 

including at podium level, and to mitigate impacts of public realm and nearby 

residential properties, a condition for the submission of relevant details of a 

Lighting Strategy, Lighting Concept and Technical Lighting design would be 

required to be submitted for approval. This will have to be submitted prior to the 

occupation of the building and the details shall accord with the requirements as 

set out in the Lighting SPD, including but not limiting to details of all external 

lighting and internal lighting visible from the public realm or which could impact 

to residential amenity and the environment. This should include a lighting 

scheme for the podium level. 

Air quality  

209. Local Plan 2015 policy CS15 seeks to ensure that developments positively 

address air quality. Policy DE1 of the draft City Plan 2036 states that London 

Plan carbon emissions and air quality requirements should be met on sites and 

policy HL2 requires all development to be at least Air Quality Neutral, 

developers will be expected to install non-combustion energy technology where 

available, construction and deconstruction must minimise air quality impacts 

Page 64



and all combustion flues should terminate above the roof height of the tallest 

part of the development. The requirements to positively address air quality and 

be air quality neutral are supported by policy SI of the London Plan.  

 

210. The Applicant submitted an Air Quality Assessment which addresses the likely 

impact of the proposed development on air quality as a result of the 

construction and the operational phases of the proposed development. It is 

noted that the development in compliance with the London Plan’s requirements 

would be air quality neutral in terms of both building and transport related 

emissions. 

 

211. It is recommended for the Scheme for Protecting Nearby Residents and 

Commercial Occupiers to be submitted and approved under conditions 

proposed. 

 

212. The City’s Air Quality Officer has raised no objection subject to conditions and 

informatives in respect of generators, combustion flues, and Non-Road Mobile 

Machinery Register.  

 

213. In light of the above and subject to conditions, the proposed development would 

accord with Local plan policy CS15, policies HL2 and DE1 of the draft City Plan 

2036 and SI 1 of the London Plan which all seek to improve air quality.  

 

Sustainability 

214. The Applicant has submitted documents related to sustainability and climate 

resilience have been reviewed, including the Design and Access Statements, 

Sustainability and Energy Statement, Ecological Appraisal, and relevant plans 

and drawings.   

 

215. As a minor development the scheme is not required to meet London Plan policy 

SI2 requirements. The scheme is not required to carry out optioneering in line 

with the CoL’s Carbon Options Guidance as very little demolition is proposed 

(less than 50%). However, the Sustainability and Energy Statement outlines 

how the design approach adopts similar principles and hierarchy methodology 

to inform and justify the development proposal.  

Whole Life-cycle carbon 
 

216. The Proposed Development aims to minimise embodied carbon emissions by 

focusing on the principles of the Carbon Reduction hierarchy (PAS 

2080:202315) which follows the order of build nothing, build less, build clever, 

and build efficient.   

 
217. The application is predominantly a change of use scheme with limited strip out, 

opening up, and new build works proposed to improve layout, security, and 

operational performance of the facility as outlined below. This limited scope of 

works helps to minimise upfront carbon emissions. The works comprise:  

 

• Removal of existing shop unit fit outs including existing toilets and 

partitions.  

 

Page 65



• Removal of the existing shop unit staircase in units 10, 12, 14 & 16 with the 

resulting open shafts to be re-used for a new lift installation and service 

risers with some infilled to provide new useable space.  

 

• A new internal ‘link bridge’ element for circulation across the double height 

service yard. This will require a section of concrete wall to be removed.   

 
218. The scheme will make preference to purposefully unfinished building materials, 

for example avoidance of suspended ceilings in many building areas (office 

areas and corridors have suspended ceilings for acoustic purposes) and 

unfinished floors in the majority of spaces. There will also be a preference to 

robust materials, which are proven in similar 24/7 operational environments, in 

order to avoid frequency of replacement and reduce resulting waste streams in 

future.  

 
219. Notable measures that are currently being explored include:  

• Ceiling tiles with high recycled content for ground and 1st floor office and 
corridors.  
 

• Carpet tiles which incorporate bio-based materials and high recycled 
content for office spaces, meeting rooms and part of the rest room.  
 

• Pre-fabricated timber construction is proposed for the new community 
garden room and methods of pre-fabrication for elements of the associated 
timber canopy will be explored.  
 

• During procurement, locally sourced materials with EPDs will be targeted 
where possible.   

 
220. The heating and cooling systems have been designed efficiently to further 

reduce upfront emissions:  

• Minimum run lengths for pipes and ducts. 
 

• Appropriate capacity based on specific heating/cooling demands.  
 

• Specification of equipment with a preference for low-global warming 
potential refrigerants. 

 
221. A principal contractor will be appointed with adequate experience for monitoring 

construction energy and water consumption, transport of materials to and 

waste from site, and the associated carbon emissions. The contractor would 

be expected to monitor and report these figures as part of their reporting against 

their site waste management plan but there will be no contractual obligation to 

meet these requirements, or any associated targets.  

  
Circular economy 
 

222. London Plan Policy SI7 and Local Plan Policy CS17 encourage developments 

to improve resource efficiency, and minimise waste, following the waste 

hierarchy.  

 

Page 66



223. The Proposed Development will retain the existing building and repurpose the 

existing retail units and low-grade structures (car park and service yard areas). 

The approach will maximise retention of existing materials for example 

designing out the need for additional floor systems (e.g. raised access floors) 

in favour of retaining the existing screeds.   

 

224. An Outline Pre-Refurbishment Audit was produced based on site visits 

undertaken by R.S.P Architects. It included a list of materials to be removed 

and the preferred management options for reuse and recycling. According to 

the Sustainability statement, “the management options for each material type 

will be investigated by the project team as the project progresses, with a 

preference for options aligned with the principles of the circular economy.” The 

strip-out contractor appointed will have adequate experience and be required 

to comply with the outline pre-refurbishment audit, undertake their own detailed 

pre-refurbishment audit and implement a site waste management plan.  

 

225. The development has been designed with material efficiency in mind including 

the ability to reclaim and re-use materials at the end of the building life. Long 

lifespan products will be specified where possible to reduce the need or 

frequency of replacement, coupled with a strong Operation & Maintenance 

(O&M) strategy to ensure good maintenance and repairs.  

 

226. Notable measures include:  

• the specification of all internal partitions as non-structural drywall 

construction which can easily be disassembled.  

• walls to form the compounds at basement and ground levels are modular 

which avoids the need for on-site construction of multiple layers.  

• as noted above, pre-fabricated timber construction is proposed for the new 

community garden room and will be explored for the associated timber 

canopy offering opportunities for efficiency and disassembly.  

• Adaptable building services:  

o VRV heating and cooling systems designed to be easily adapted (to 
accommodate potential changes of use); 

o Some scope to make alterations to and re-commission the proposed 
ventilation system to account for changes in use and occupancy; 

o Electrical distribution and containment will be sized to provide spare 
capacity for future cabling installations (avoiding the need to install 
new and replace existing containment). 

 
227. In order to source materials responsibly and reduce waste, CoLP will ask the 

appointed Principal Contractor(s) to reduce their impacts by:  

• Procuring materials and products from companies certified under a 

Responsible Sourcing Certification Scheme where viable;  

• Procuring materials and products with an Environmental Product 

Declaration (EPD) where viable;  

• Implementing good practice measures to reduce construction waste where 

viable (e.g., take back/resale schemes, using prefabricated building 

components); and  

• Implementing good practice site waste management practices (e.g., 

segregating waste into key waste groups for recovery) to help reduce waste 

sent to landfill.  

Page 67



  
Operational energy considerations 
 

228. As a minor development, Policy SI2 requirement to achieve a minimum 35% 

reduction of on-site emissions over Building Regulations does not apply, 

nonetheless, the design approach has followed the London Plan’s Energy 

Hierarchy; ‘Be Lean’, ‘Be Clean’, and ‘Be Green’ to minimise emissions.  

Be Lean:  
 

229. The approach taken to energy efficiency is for consistent incremental 

improvement across the majority of energy efficiency parameters, avoiding 

reliance on exceptionally demanding specifications for specific fabric or 

services elements, and retaining flexibility and scope for optimisation during 

detailed design.   

 
230. The existing building presents limited opportunity as a refurbishment scheme 

to improve the building envelope or incorporate large amounts of thermal mass, 

however, improvements would be made where feasible, including:  

 

• Replacement of the failed waterproof membrane on the podium slab with 

the addition of new insulation over the top to improve the thermal 

performance (and reduce noise ingress/egress) to the occupied areas 

below.   

• Where replacing shop fronts for the Eastern Base, full height double glazed 

screens would be added comprising an outer glazed screen and a 

secondary inner screen set approximately 800 mm inside the outer 

façade.   

• All windows on the first floor would be replaced with high-performance 

double-glazing in a three-panel arrangement reducing heat transfer, 

improving daylighting to the spaces behind and allowing appropriate levels 

of winter heat gain.  

• Energy efficient lighting with automated controls (timeclocks/presence 

detection/light-sensitive dimming) is specified to ensure operation only 

when necessary.   

• Highly efficient building services equipment has also been selected, 

including energy efficient fans, pumps, and heating and cooling plant.   

  
Be Clean:  
 

231. The Site lies within a Heat Network Priority Area and the potential for the 

Proposed Development to connect to nearby energy networks has been 

investigated, as required by CoL Local Plan Policy DM 15.3.  

 
232. The nature of the proposed development demands security and continuity of 

services (including heat) to meet operational requirements. As a result, on-site 

heat generation plant would still be required (for example heat pumps) even if 

a connection was made to an external heat network. 

 

233. The nearby 115-123 Houndsditch development was granted planning 

permission by CoLC with the condition to provide a heat transfer system to 

Page 68



supply the residential flats at the Middlesex Street Estate. Feasibility of 

connecting to this system was also explored but deemed unviable.   

Be Green:  
 

234. All standard sources of renewable energy were evaluated for the scheme, with 

ASHPs identified as the most appropriate given the site constraints (e.g. lack 

of suitable roof space). The electric system would be refrigerant-based, 

comprising outdoor condenser units and indoor fan-coil units to meet space 

heating and cooling demands. A single system for both heating and cooling 

offering effective heat recovery and redistribution is proposed in terms of 

preferrable energy performance. All domestic hot water (DHW) will be served 

by a separate electric ASHP.  

Internal Overheating  
 

235. An overheating assessment is not required but the cooling hierarchy (outlined 

in London Plan Policy SI4) has been considered to reduce the cooling loads 

where possible, as outlined below:   

 

• Minimising internal heat generation through energy efficient design:   

Where possible, the heat distribution infrastructure within the building has 

been designed to minimise pipe lengths. Efficient lighting has been 

specified which incorporates dimming where there is sufficient daylight.   

• Reduce the amount of heat entering a building in summer:   

Generally, the building has very low glazing proportions with the majority of 

the internal spaces enclosed within the estate and underneath the podium 

slab. Addition of new insulation over the top of the podium slab to improve 

the thermal performance. High performance solar control glazing has been 

specified which will reduce heat gains through windows.   

• Use of thermal mass and high ceilings to manage heat within the building:   

There are limited opportunities in the Proposed Development to introduce 

any new thermal mass. However, the existing thermal mass is utilised and 

notably the thermal mass of the podium slab is to be retained and increased 

with the addition of the thermal insulation.   

• Passive ventilation:   

The building type and location rules out any openable windows due to 

security risk.   

• Mechanical ventilation:   

The Proposed Development will be mechanically ventilated and cooled.  

  Overheating Impact on Neighbouring Properties  
 

236. The risk of overheating from new building plant for the Proposed Development, 

to the surrounding environment, including notably the neighbouring residential 

flats within Petticoat Tower, has been assessed.  

 
237. New exhaust louvres for the new Air Handling Units (AHUs), Air Source Heat 

Pumps (ASHPs) and diesel emergency generators are proposed within plant 

enclosures located on the Artizan Street frontage. Due to the relatively open 

nature of the Site and the space outside the proposed plant enclosure, there is 

deemed to be adequate opportunity for any exhausted ‘hot air’, to mix with 

ambient air, and generally disperse to the surrounding area.  

Page 69



238. The diesel emergency generators will be used for business continuity and life 

safety in the event of power failure only, with infrequent testing (monthly for 

approximately 30 minutes).  

 

239. Overall, the risk of detrimental overheating impacts from the proposed building 

plant to the nearby residential flats is considered to be a relatively low risk.  

  
BREEAM 
 

240. London Plan Policy DM 15.1 requires BREEAM assessment for major 

developments only. The Sustainability Statement references two targets for the 

Proposed Development which align with BREEAM credits:  

• An energy sub-metering strategy will be developed to comply with Part L2B 

of the Building Regulations. Sub-meters will be installed to enable at least 

90% of the estimated annual energy consumption of each fuel to be 

accounted for and assigned to end-use categories. This is in-line with the 

criteria for the BREEAM New Construction Version 6 Ene 02 first credit.  

• Direct effect life-cycle CO2e emissions (DELC) for heating and cooling 

systems of ≤1,000 kg CO2e / kW cooling and heating capacity (subject to 

further review at detailed design stages). This is in-line with the criteria for 

the BREEAM New Construction v6 Pol 01 first credit.  

  
Urban greening and biodiversity 
 

241. The podium currently contains a lush and well-established green space with 

vegetation predominantly in raised planters. The planting beds include a wide 

range of plant species. Access to the gardens is limited to residents which helps 

foster a sense of ownership and community. The garden is well maintained by 

residents and the Residents Garden Club in conjunction with CoL maintenance 

contractors. Existing amenities include seating, raised planters, arched 

pergolas, greenhouse and storage, play-space and ball court.   

 
242. The proposed refurbishment of the under-croft for new CoLP accommodation 

requires the replacement of the podium slab membrane in its entirety. The 

proposal will see removal and reinstatement with enhancement of all layers 

[paving, fixtures, planting beds] and amenities. The design will be produced in 

meaningful consultation with residents.  

 

243. Greengage Ecologists conducted a survey and produced an Ecological 

Appraisal Report to establish the ecological value of the site and ensure and 

impacts will be mitigated. The site has negligible potential to support any 

protected/notable species with the exception of nesting birds. 

Recommendations have been provided, to ensure nesting birds are protected 

during works with enhanced nesting opportunities provided as part of the 

proposed development.  

 

244. The landscaping proposal will increase greening in the region of 25% by area 

and 30% in terms of biodiversity. The extent of planting proposed is already 

approaching the limit in terms of loading capacity of the podium structure so 

further increase in area would be challenging.  

 

Page 70



245. An Ecological Management Plan (EMP) should be produced and implemented 

for the site providing a high level of detail on the ecological landscaping features 

selected, and to ensure they retain their ecological benefit in the long term.  

 

246. Raised planters will be installed to the Gravel Lane frontage. Integrated 

landscaping was explored but had to be ruled out due to below ground utilities 

and security measures.  

  Climate resilience  
 
247. The reinstatement of the podium landscape is an opportunity to increase 

climate change resilience:  

• Climate resilient planting: The new planting scheme and palette will follow 

design principles that add ecological value, create micro habitats and 

niches and use drought tolerant species.  

• Targeted irrigation. The planting does not include automated irrigation drip 

line and pipes. Irrigation is to be targeted at establishment phase and only 

at critical times to prevent catastrophic plant failures.  

• Increased foliage cover. Planting bed extents have been increased to raise 

the overall area of planting. Proposal to include small trees with spreading 

crown where possible to increase shade cover.  

• Shaded seating area. A timber shelter with green roof will offer an area 

protected from the sun.  

• Light-coloured paving to reflect rather than absorb daytime heat.  

• Rainwater to be harvested from biodiverse roofs.  

• of the community room and timber shelter. Excess run off collected in water 

butts with taps for use by gardening club.  

• Reduced/low energy light fittings.  

  
248. Where possible, the development will use low water-use fittings, automated 

controls, and a leak detection system to reduce potable water demand.  

  Flooding  
 
249. A Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Strategy was 

undertaken by Stantec in July 2023. The site is located in Flood Zone 1 and is 

at ‘Low’ or ‘Very Low’ risk of flooding from all sources.  

 
250. The Proposed Development will result in no change in impermeable area and 

no increase in surface water run-off from the site. The Surface Water Drainage 

Strategy for the Proposed Development will reuse the existing below ground 

(below basement) gravity drainage network. Due to the nature of the 

site/scheme it is not practical to introduce surface water attenuation or SuDS 

features. Landscaping proposals will see an enhancement to the range and 

diversity of planting which will act as natural flood management (i.e. through 

rainfall interception) to reduce flood risk. 

 

251. The Lead Local Flood Authority were consulted and responded with no 

comments. 

 

 

Page 71



  Transport  
 

252. The site already achieves a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6b, 

demonstrating an excellent level of accessibility to public transport.   

 
253. Electric vehicle (EV) charging points will be provided for police vehicles and in 

the residential parking area (11 and 7 chargers respectively).  

 

254. A total of 44 cycle parking spaces will be provided within the police compound 

with lockers and changing rooms provided for cyclists. Space for 205 cycles 

plus 11 wider-spaced cycle bays will be provided for residents served by two 

dedicated lifts. These measures will support a reduction in car use, increase 

uptake of sustainable transport, reduce road congestion and carbon emissions, 

and improvement in local air quality.  

  Sustainability Conclusion 
 

255. Overall, the proposed scheme is expected to provide a range of sustainability 

benefits. The City supports schemes which prioritise retrofit over new build and 

the development makes use of a constrained site with load grade structure, 

which has limited access to daylight and ventilation. Heating, power and 

ventilation strategies are further restricted by strict security requirements 

connected to the occupier and use.  

 

256. The whole life-cycle carbon emissions are expected to be relatively low, 

achieved by retaining and reusing the majority of the existing building with 

limited new intervention, and by enhancing the thermal performance through 

the upgrading of areas of building fabric and incorporating energy efficient 

services (low water use and heat recovery) and renewable technologies of 

ASHPs. The Sustainability and Energy Statement outlines the design 

approaches adopted to reduce carbon and incorporate circular economy 

principles including retention of materials at as high use value as possible and 

designing for longevity – specific details would arise as the design progresses. 

The outline pre-demolition audit and brief requirements for the principal 

contractor support the aims.   

 

257. The installation of all electrical plant (except for emergency generators), a 

combined heating and cool system and domestic hot water supply equipped 

with ASHPs will significantly improve operational efficiency and reduce carbon 

emissions. In general, the building has a low proportion of glazing whilst new 

insulation over the podium and energy efficient window replacements will help 

mitigate overheating risk.  

 

258. The proposal will improve on-site greening by an increase of around 25% area 

and 30% in terms of biodiversity. For the duration of the works, residents will 

lose access to their green amenity space, however the proposal, would offer 

long term, lasting benefits. Aging equipment would be replaced with improved 

versions and additional amenity use provided, including an indoor community 

room, rainwater harvesting and shaded seating. New planting will be more 

climate resilient and offer an increased level of shading and natural flood 

management.   

 

 

Page 72



   Security  
 
259. Local Plan Policy CS3 highlights the needs for the City to be secure from crime, 

disorder and terrorism thereby increasing public and corporate confidence in 

the City’s role as the world’s leading international financial and business centre. 

 

260. Concerns raised by residents regarding the security and safety impacts of the 

proposal. 

 

261. The proposal incorporates security measures at the site. This proposal includes 

the existing basement ramp to install a new replacement boom barrier located 

at the top with a secondary bi-folding gate at the bottom of the ramp to prevent 

any unauthorised pedestrian access via this ramp. In addition, improvements 

to residents’ security are also being reviewed as part of the project including to 

current CCTV systems and residential entrance door locking.  

 

262. In addition, improvements are proposed for the cycle storage at basement and 

a new cycle entrance and storage area at ground floor.   

 

263. A condition has been recommended for the Applicant to provide security 

improvements including lighting and CCTV for residents.  

 

264. The proposal, subject to conditions, is considered to be in accordance with 

policy CS3, DM3.2, and draft City Plan policies S2, SA1 and SA3. 

 

Fire Statement  

265. A Fire Statement Form has been submitted with the application. This has been 

reviewed by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) as a statutory consultee 

for a relevant building.  

 

266. Following a review of the information provided in the planning application, HSE 

is content with the fire safety design relating to the project description, to the 

extent that it affects land use planning.  

 

267. HSE made a number of recommendations including for a retrospective fire 

strategy for the whole of Petticoat Square, installation of wet fire mains, 

improved fire service access and firefighting facilities, provision of firefighting 

lifts, installation of sprinkler systems, external wall system and fire hydrant 

details. These comments have been passed onto the applicant to address and 

are outside the remit of this application. 

 

268. The application is not considered a major development. The Applicant has 

provided information for the proposals for the relevant aspects in accordance 

with policies D5 and D12 of the London Plan.  

 

269. An informative has been recommended for the Applicant to review HSE 

recommendations and implement.  

 

 

Page 73



Planning Obligations 

270. The proposed development would require planning obligations to be secured 

in a Section 106 unilateral undertaking to mitigate the impact of the 

development to make it acceptable in planning terms.  

 

271. These contributions would be in accordance with Supplementary Planning 

Documents (SPDs) adopted by the Mayor of London and the City. 

City’s Planning Obligations 

272. The obligations set out below are required in accordance with the City’s SPD. 

They are necessary to make the application acceptable in planning terms, 

directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale 

and kind to the development and meet the tests in the CIL Regulations and 

government policy: 

• Highways improvement works. 

• Construction monitoring costs. 

• Design and evaluation fee. 

• Highway condition survey. 

• Ongoing maintenance for highway works. 

• Section 106 monitoring cost. 

• Highway Reparations (to provide for any necessary remedial highway 

works) and other highways obligations relating to a scheme of highway 

works, including an indemnity in respect of any costs or claims relating to 

the highway works. The scope of the scheme of highway works may 

include, but is not limited to:  

a. Drainage arrangements. 

b. Changes to the existing and proposed parking arrangements (road 

markings). This is subject to public consultation and amendments to 

existing traffic orders. 

c. Changes to highways materials.  

d. Changes to the general arrangements for footways and 

carriageways. 

e. Highways Boundary clearly highlighted (existing and proposed if 

applicable). 

f. Underground Utility Survey. 

g. A road safety audit Stage 2 is to be submitted once the initial design 

has been approved. 

h. Any hostile vehicle mitigation which it is agreed is necessary to place 

on the highway with any additional maintenance costs to be met by 

the City Corporation as developer. 

Liability in accordance with 

the City of London’s 

policies 

Contribution 

(excl. 

indexation) 

Available 

for 

allocation 

Retained for 

administration 

and 

monitoring 

S106 Monitoring Charge £250 £0 £250 

Total liability in accordance 

with the City of London’s 

policies 

£250 £0 £250 

Page 74



273. The appropriate mechanism for securing the planning obligations, and enabling 

your Committee to give weight to them, requires particular consideration in this 

case because the applicant (and owner) is the City Corporation. Ordinarily a 

third party owner is involved in a development who can enter into a Section 106 

Agreement with the City Corporation and give covenants to secure planning 

obligations. In this case, there is no other interested party involved in the 

development, so all undertakings and commitments fall to be given by the City 

Corporation itself. 

 

274. The fact that the City Corporation would be giving covenants under S.106 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 gives rise to a technical enforceability 

issue because the City Corporation could not take legal action against itself. In 

order to give weight to the planning obligations, the City Corporation as local 

planning authority needs to be satisfied that the required planning obligations 

would be complied with, notwithstanding the lack of ultimate enforcement 

powers through the courts. 

 

275. In line with the City Corporation’s previous practice, it is considered that the 

appropriate way of addressing this enforceability issue is for the City 

Corporation as landowner to resolve to comply with the planning obligations. 

Additionally, a unilateral undertaking under S.106 should be signed by the City 

Corporation as landowner, and this will be placed on the Local Land Charges 

and Planning Registers to provide a public record of the covenants, as is the 

practice with all S.106 Deeds. It is considered that the dual assurance of a 

unilateral undertaking and express commitment regarding compliance, would 

give your Committee reasonable grounds to give weight to the planning 

obligations in evaluating this application.  

 

276. Your approval is therefore sought for a unilateral undertaking to be accepted to 

cover the obligations set out above, together with the payment of the local 

planning authority’s legal and planning administration fees associated with the 

undertaking. As negotiations on the form of the undertaking will continue after 

any resolution to grant planning permission, I request that I be given delegated 

authority to continue to negotiate and agree the terms of the obligations and to 

make minor changes in the event that changes are needed to vary or add 

conditions or informatives to those proposed, or to move conditions into 

obligations or vice versa, provided always that officers do not exceed the 

substantive nature of the Committees decision. 

 

Monitoring and Administrative Costs 

 

277. A 10-year repayment period would be required whereby any unallocated sums 

would be returned to the developer 10 years after practical completion of the 

development. Some funds may be set aside for future maintenance purposes.  

 

278. The applicant will pay the City of London’s legal costs and the City Planning 

Officer’s administration costs incurred in the negotiation, execution and 

monitoring of the legal agreement and strategies. 

 

279. The development constitutes a change of use but does not propose an uplift in 

floor space over 100sqm (GIA). As a result, CIL would not be triggered in this 

instance. 

Page 75



The Public Sector Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010)  

280. An Equalities Impact Statement was submitted with the application which did 

not identify potential for discrimination or adverse impact to any protected 

groups beyond the recommend provision of engagement materials in different 

languages. This has been recommended as an informative. In addition, the 

document highlighted that the local community has been consulted through a 

variety of events and feedback shaped the proposal. The proposed design of 

the Development ensures parking and storage provisions are improved and 

accessible in order to meet the differing needs of residents and commercial 

tenants. In addition, the new community spaces, including a new gym will 

increase opportunities for socialisation, recreation and exercise, and the sense 

of safety and security would be improved through enhanced security provisions 

and landscaping. 

 

281. The City, as a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to: 

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 

282. The characteristics protected by the Equality Act are age, disability, gender, 

reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or beliefs, sex and 

sexual orientation.  

 

283. It is the view of officers that a decision to grant permission, subject to 

conditions, would remove or minimise disadvantages faced by disabled 

persons and in particular mobility impairment by providing enhanced and 

accessible public realm and retaining the blue badge bay on Gravel Lane and 

spaces internally in the car park, which will be secured by condition.  

 

Human Rights Act 1998 

284. It is unlawful for the City, as a public authority, to act in a way which is 

incompatible with a Convention right (being the rights set out in the European 

Convention on Human Rights (“ECHR”)).  

 

285. Insofar as the grant of planning permission will result in interference with the 

right to private and family life (Article 8 of the ECHR) including by causing harm 

to the residential amenity of those living in nearby residential properties, it is 

the view of officers that such interference is necessary in order to secure the 

benefits of the scheme and therefore necessary in the interests of the economic 

well-being of the country, and proportionate. Although it is recognised that the 

development would have some impact on the amenities of the nearby 

residents, including by way of noise and disturbance during construction, it is 

not considered that, subject to conditions, the proposal would result in 

unacceptable impact on the existing use of nearby residential properties to an 

extent that would warrant refusal of the application on those grounds. It is 

considered that the strategic operational need for police and benefits of the 

Page 76



scheme, including the provision of additional resident and community spaces 

and facilities, outweighs the adverse impacts on nearby residential properties 

and that such impact is necessary in the interests of the strategic operational 

safety and security needs and wellbeing of the country and is proportionate. 

 

286. Insofar as the grant of planning permission will result in interference with 

property rights (Article 1 Protocol 1) including by interference arising through 

impact on residential amenity, it is the view of officers that such interference, in 

these circumstances, is in the public interest and proportionate. 

 

Conclusions and Overall Planning Balance 

287. The proposal has been assessed in accordance with the relevant statutory 

duties and having regard to the Development Plan and other relevant policies 

and guidance, SPDs and SPGs and relevant advice including the NPPF, the 

draft Local Plan and considering all other material considerations.  

 

288. The Applicant states the east of the City contains significant demand for the 

CoLP with night time-related offences and highlights future development in the 

area will increase future demand. This strategic operational need in the east of 

the City is reinforced by the planned closured of Bishopsgate Police Station.  

 

289. As a proposed operational facility, the Eastern Base will only be occupied by 

uniformed City of London Police officers, who report to the Base and then go 

out on patrol to serve the community. Rapid response vehicles will not be based 

at the Site.  

 

290. A total of 74 objections have been received from the public, objecting principally 

on the grounds of noise, disturbance, impacts to residential amenity and traffic. 

This report has considered these impacts, including any requisite mitigation 

which would be secured by conditions.  

 

291. The Environmental Health team were consulted and stated that due to the 

proposals being within a highly residential area, the development will require 

close adherence to the supplied Operational Management Plan, compliance 

with internal City of London Police operational codes and will require diligent 

monitoring by COLP coupled with detailed complaint investigation and 

resolution protocols and regular resident liaison to prevent unacceptable noise 

impacts particularly at night, between 2300 and 0700.  

 

292. The Environmental Health team state there is likely to remain some residual 

noise impacts for residents during the ultimate end use of the facility, 

specifically from vehicle and officer movements, and that the construction 

phase will be highly impactive due to its location, the number of residents above 

the site and the unique construction of the estate leading to heavy noise 

transference throughout. There are also cumulative impacts from significant 

development adjoining the estate e.g. 115 Houndsditch. The Scheme of 

Protective Works for the Demolition and Construction phases may need to 

adopt controls in excess of the standards outlined in the existing Code of 

Construction Practice. 

 

Page 77



293. Negative impacts during construction would be controlled as far as possible by 

the implementation of Schemes of protective works for demolition and 

construction and a Construction Logistics Plan and good site practices 

embodied therein. It is recognised that there are inevitable, albeit temporary 

consequences of development in a tight-knit urban environment. Post 

construction, compliance with planning conditions would minimise any adverse 

impacts. 

 

294. In regards to transport considerations, for vehicle trips, the relocation of the 

CoL Police to the Eastern Base will increase vehicle movements in the area. 

However, the increase in trips is not expected to be significant and can be 

accommodated on the existing local road network. These trips would also not 

be new trips on the wider CoL road network, as they would represent displaced 

trips. Therefore, there will be no overall increase in vehicle trips within CoL 

area. 

 

295. The applicant considers that the reduction in resident parking will not adversely 

affect the operation of the car park as the recorded maximum demand for 

private car parking would be provided for, and this would be in excess of the 

number of identified permit holders (+11 in circulation and +17 as recorded in 

the maximum parking surveys) providing some level of parking contingency. 

The Applicant states there will be enhanced car parking management 

procedures implemented. 

 

296. The volume of traffic expected does not create traffic safety concerns in and of 

itself given the moderate increase expected and the fact that existing trips 

already exist on the network. 

 

297. There would be an increase the number of cycle parking spaces and improve 

the cycle parking facilities (notably for accessible users), and this is welcomed. 

 

298. The applicant has undertaken a servicing vehicle survey, which shows 12 

vehicles per day were undertaking servicing / deliveries and this includes 2 

visits for refuse vehicles which is considered acceptable, subject to conditions. 

 

299. Highway improvement works are proposed along the section of Gravel Lane 

fronting the site. The works include (but not limited to) partial footway widening 

to maintain an improved road alignment and footway width. Any proposed 

changes to on-street car parking would also be subject to public consultation 

but it is at this stage proposed that there would the relocation of an existing 

disabled bay to the south. There are also plans to convert part of the existing 

pay and display bays into a loading area.  

 

300. In respect of design, there would be a degree of visual impact by expanding 

the existing police facility within the Estate, and this would be particularly 

noticeable on Gravel Lane. Although the detailed design conditions would 

further seek to mitigate any visual impacts and refine the delivery of the 

proposals, by virtue of their impact on Gravel Lane the proposals are 

considered to be contrary to Local Plan policies CS10 and DM10.1. However 

this is considered acceptable given other material considerations, in this case, 

the strategic operational requirements of the police. In addition, a public art 

display is proposed in the windows to mitigate this impact.  

Page 78



 

301. In regards to heritage, the Middlesex Street Estate is not considered to meet 

the criteria to be identified as a non-designated heritage asset, therefore would 

be no impact in this respect. The proposals would preserve the character, 

appearance and significance of the Wentworth Street Conservation Area, the 

only designated heritage asset identified as having the potential to be impacted 

by the proposals. As such, the proposals are considered to accord with Local 

Plan Policies CS 12 and DM 12.1, emerging City Plan policies S11 and HE1, 

London Plan Policy HC1 and the relevant NPPF paragraphs in relation to 

heritage. 

 

302. In sustainability terms, overall, the proposed scheme is expected to provide a 

range of sustainability benefits compared to the existing building. The City 

supports schemes which prioritise retrofit over new build and the development 

makes use of a constrained site with load grade structure, which has limited 

access to daylight and ventilation. Heating, power and ventilation strategies are 

further restricted by strict security requirements connected to the occupier and 

use. The installation of all electrical plant (except for emergency generators), a 

combined heating and cool system and domestic hot water supply equipped 

with Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHPs) will significantly improve operational 

efficiency and reduce carbon emissions.  

 

303. For urban greening and biodiversity, the podium currently contains a lush and 

well-established green space with vegetation predominantly in raised planters. 

The planting beds include a wide range of plant species. The landscaping 

proposal will increase greening in the region of 25% by area and 30% in terms 

of biodiversity. An Ecological Management Plan (EMP) is recommended by 

condition to be produced and implemented for the site providing a high level of 

detail on the ecological landscaping features selected, and to ensure they 

retain their ecological benefit in the long term.  

 

304. The principle of the police use is considered acceptable, subject to conditions, 

in this location to support the strategic operational need identified by the police 

and to provide essential social essential infrastructure required in the City.  

 

305. The proposals result in a loss of six retail units and a gym. Although there has 

been some relocation of retail units and active frontage is proposed through 

public art, the proposal is considered to be contrary to Local Plan policies CS20 

and DM20.3, and draft City Plan Policy RE3, due to the loss of retail in proximity 

to residential uses and in the absence of active marketing and vacancy 

information for these units. However, due to the provision of active frontage due 

to window design and the installation of public art on the Gravel Lane frontage, 

the wider provision of shops in the area, and the strategic operational need for 

the police use, the loss of retail is considered acceptable in this case. 

 

306. The proposed development will require planning obligations to be secured in a 

Section 106 unilateral undertaking to mitigate the impact of the development to 

make it acceptable in planning terms.  

 

307. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that there is presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. For decision taking that means approving 

Page 79



development proposals that accord with an up to date development plan 

without delay.  

 

308. Paragraph 101 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should promote 

public safety and should take into account wider security and defence 

requirements including by recognising and supporting development required 

for operational defence and security purposes.  

 

309. The London Plan states that proposals that provide high quality, inclusive social 

infrastructure that addresses a local or strategic need and supports service 

delivery strategies, and that seek to make best use of land including the public-

sector estate, should be supported. 

 

310. The adopted Local Plan Policy CS3 states the importance of ensuring the City 

is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism which includes proactively 

managing night-time entertainment to minimise disturbance to residents and 

workers, and to ensure that development takes account of the need for 

resilience so that the residential and business communities are better prepared 

for, and able to recover from, emergencies. 

 

311. It is the view of Officers that as the proposal complies with the Development 

Plan when considered as a whole and as material planning considerations 

weigh in favour of the scheme, planning permission should be granted as set 

out in the recommendation and the Schedule attached.  

 

312. Officers consider this to be a finely balanced case whereby the impact to 

residential amenity has been considered in detail. The proposed use 

represents a strategic need to maintain safety and security in the east of the 

City. The proposal would make the best use of land, optimising the site capacity 

to facilitate these essential operational facilities.  

 

313. In addition, Officers consider there to be a range of additional amenities for 

exclusive use of residents arising from the proposal including a dedicated 

estate office with meeting space, new cycle storage and dedicated cycle lifts to 

basement, improved cycle facilities at basement level, and a new garden room 

at podium level. 

 

314. Virtually no major development proposal is in complete compliance with all 

policies and in arriving at a decision it is necessary to assess all the policies 

and proposals in the plan and to come to a view as to whether in the light of the 

development plan when taken as a whole the proposal does or does not accord 

with it. The Local Planning Authority must determine the application in 

accordance with the development plan unless other material considerations 

indicate otherwise.  

 

315. Therefore it is the view of Officers that as the proposal complies with the 
Development Plan when considered as a whole and taking into account all 
material planning considerations, it is recommended that planning permission 
be granted subject to all the relevant conditions being applied, including 
ensuring compliance with the Operational Management Plan, in order to secure 
benefits and minimise the impact of the proposal.  

  

Page 80



Appendix A 
 
London Plan Policies   

• Policy GG1 Building Strong and Inclusive Communities  
• Policy GG2 Making the best use of land  
• Policy GG3 Creating a Healthy City  
• Policy GG5 Growing a good economy   
• Policy CG6 Increasing efficiency and resilience  
• Policy SD4 The Central Activities Zone (CAZ)  
• Policy D1 London’s form, character and capacity for growth  
• Policy D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities  
• Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach  
• Policy D4 Delivering Good Design  
• Policy D5 Inclusive Design  
• Policy D8 Public realm  
• Policy D11 Safety, security and resilience to emergency  
• Policy D12 Fire Safety 
• Policy D13 Agent of Change 
• Policy D14 Noise  
• Policy S1 Developing London’s social infrastructure  
• Policy E9 Retail, markets and hot food takeaways  
• Policy E11 Skills and opportunities for all 
• Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth  
• Policy HC5 Supporting London’s culture and creative industries  
• Policy G1 Green infrastructure  
• Policy G4 Open space 
• Policy G5 Urban Greening  
• Policy G7 Trees and woodlands  
• Policy G6 Biodiversity and access to nature  
• Policy SI1 Improving air quality  
• Policy SI2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions  
• Policy SI4 Managing heat risk  
• Policy SI5 Water Infrastructure  
• Policy SI7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy  
• Policy SI 8 Waste capacity and net waste self-sufficiency  
• Policy SL13 Sustainable drainage  
• Policy T1 Strategic approach to transport  
• Policy T2 Healthy Streets  
• Policy T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding 
• Policy T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts  
• Policy T5 Cycling  
• Policy T6 Car Parking  
• Policy T6.1 Residential car parking 
• Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction  

  
Relevant GLA Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG):   

• Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment SPG (October 2014);   
• Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG 

(September 2014);   
• Sustainable Design and Construction (September 2014);  
• Social Infrastructure (May 2015);   
• Culture and Night-Time Economy SPG (November 2017);   
• London Environment Strategy (May 2018);   
• London View Management Framework SPG (March 2012);   
• Cultural Strategy (2018);   
• Mayoral CIL 2 Charging Schedule (April 2019);  

Page 81



• Central Activities Zone (March 2016); 
• Mayor’s Transport Strategy (2018). 

 
Local Plan Supplementary Planning Guidance 

• Air Quality SPD (CoL, July 2017);  
• Archaeology and Development Guidance SPD (CoL, July 2017);  
• City of London Lighting SPD (CoL, October 2023);  
• City Public Realm SPD (CoL, July 2016);  
• City Transport Strategy (November 2018 – draft);  
• City Waste Strategy 2013-2020 (CoL, January 2014);  
• Lighting SPD (CoL, October 2023); 
• Open Space Strategy SPD (CoL, January 2015);  
• Protected Views SPD (CoL, January 2012); 
• Planning Advice Notes on Sunlight City of London Wind Guidelines (2019); 
• City of London Thermal Comfort Guidelines (2020); 
• Planning Obligations SPD (CoL, May 2021). 

 

Relevant Draft City Plan 2036 Policies   
• Policy S1 Healthy and inclusive city  
• Policy HL1 Inclusive buildings and spaces  
• Policy HL2 Air quality  
• Policy HL3 Noise and light pollution  
• Policy HL4 Contaminated land and water quality  
• Policy HL5 Location and protection of social and community facilities 
• Policy HL8 Play areas and facilities  
• Policy HL9 Health Impact Assessments  
• Policy S2 Safe and Secure City  
• Policy SA1 Crowded Places  
• Policy SA3 Designing in security   
• Policy S3 Housing  
• Policy HS3 Residential environment  
• Policy S5 Retailing  
• Policy RE3 Ground floor retail provision elsewhere in the City  
• Policy S6 Culture, Visitors and the Night -time Economy  
• Policy CV5 Public Art 
• Policy S7 Smart Infrastructure and Utilities   
• Policy S8 Design  
• Policy DE1 Sustainability Standards 
• Policy DE2 New development  
• Policy DE3 Public realm  
• Policy DE4 Pedestrian permeability 
• Policy DE6 Shopfronts  
• Policy DE9 Lighting  
• Policy S9 Vehicular transport and servicing  
• Policy VT1 The impacts of development on transport  
• Policy VT2 Freight and servicing  
• Policy VT3 Vehicle Parking  
• Policy S10 Active travel and healthy streets  
• Policy AT1 Pedestrian movement  
• Policy AT2 Active travel including cycling  
• Policy AT3 Cycle parking  
• Policy S11 Historic environment  
• Policy HE1 Managing change to heritage assets  
• Policy HE2 Ancient monuments and archaeology  
• Policy S14 Open spaces and green infrastructure  
• Policy OS1 Protection and Provision of Open Spaces  

Page 82



• Policy OS2 City greening  
• Policy OS3 Biodiversity  
• Policy OS4 Trees  
• Policy S15 Climate resilience and flood risk  
• Policy CR1 Overheating and Urban Heat Island effect  
• Policy CR3 Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS)  
• Policy CR4 Flood protection and flood defenses  
• Policy S16 Circular economy and waste  
• Policy CE1 Zero Waste City  
• Policy CE2 Sustainable Waste Transport  
• Policy S20 Aldgate, Tower and Portsoken  
• Policy S27 Planning contributions  

 
 

Relevant Local Plan Policies 
 
CS20 Improve retail facilities 

 
To improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment, promoting the development of the five Principal Shopping 
Centres and the linkages between them. 

 
DM2.1  Infrastructure provision 

 
1) Developers will be required to demonstrate, in conjunction with 
utility providers, that there will be adequate utility infrastructure capacity, 
both on and off the site, to serve the development during construction 
and operation. Development should not lead to capacity or reliability 
problems in the surrounding area. Capacity projections must take 
account of climate change impacts which may influence future 
infrastructure demand. 
 
2) Utility infrastructure and connections must be designed into and 
integrated with the development wherever possible. As a minimum, 
developers should identify and plan for: 
 
a) electricity supply to serve the construction phase and the 
intended use for the site, and identify, in conjunction with electricity 
providers, Temporary Building Supply(TBS) for the construction phase 
and the estimated load capacity of the building and the substations and 
routes for supply; 
b) reasonable gas and water supply considering the need to 
conserve natural resources; 
c) heating and cooling demand and the viability of its provision via 
decentralised energy (DE) networks.  Designs must incorporate access 
to existing DE networks where feasible and viable; 
d) telecommunications network demand, including wired and 
wireless infrastructure, planning for dual entry provision, where possible, 
through communal entry chambers and flexibility to address future 
technological improvements; 
e) separate surface water and foul drainage requirements within 
the proposed building or site, including provision of Sustainable 

Page 83



Drainage Systems (SuDS), rainwater harvesting and grey-water 
recycling, minimising discharge to the combined sewer network. 
 
3) In planning for utility infrastructure developers and utility 
providers must provide entry and connection points within the 
development which relate to the City's established utility infrastructure 
networks, utilising pipe subway routes wherever feasible. Sharing of 
routes with other nearby developments and the provision of new pipe 
subway facilities adjacent to buildings will be encouraged. 
 
4) Infrastructure provision must be completed prior to occupation of 
the development. Where potential capacity problems are identified and 
no improvements are programmed by the utility company, the City 
Corporation will require the developer to facilitate appropriate 
improvements, which may require the provision of space within new 
developments for on-site infrastructure or off-site infrastructure 
upgrades. 

 
CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 

 
To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 
public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
DM3.2 Security measures 

 
To ensure that security measures are included in new developments, 
applied to existing buildings and their curtilage, by requiring: 
 
a) building-related security measures, including those related to the 
servicing of the building, to be located within the development's 
boundaries; 
b) measures to be integrated with those of adjacent buildings and 
the public realm; 
c) that security is considered at the concept design or early 
developed design phases of all development proposals to avoid the 
need to retro-fit measures that impact on the public realm;  
d) developers to seek recommendations from the City of London 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer at the design stage. New 
development should meet Secured by Design principles;  
e) the provision of service management plans for all large 
development, demonstrating that vehicles seeking access to the building 
can do so without waiting on the public highway; 
f) an assessment of the environmental impact of security measures, 
particularly addressing visual impact and impact on pedestrian flows. 

 
 
 
 

Page 84



DM3.3 Crowded places 
 
On all major developments, applicants will be required to satisfy 
principles and standards that address the issues of crowded places and 
counter-terrorism, by: 
 
a) conducting a full risk assessment; 
b) keeping access points to the development to a minimum; 
c) ensuring that public realm and pedestrian permeability 
associated with a building or site is not adversely impacted, and that 
design considers the application of Hostile Vehicle Mitigation measures 
at an early stage; 
d) ensuring early consultation with the City of London Police on risk 
mitigation measures; 
e) providing necessary measures that relate to the appropriate 
level of crowding in a site, place or wider area. 

 
DM3.4 Traffic management 

 
To require developers to reach agreement with the City Corporation and 
TfL on the design and implementation of traffic management and 
highways security measures, including addressing the management of 
service vehicles, by: 
 
a) consulting the City Corporation on all matters relating to 
servicing; 
b) restricting motor vehicle access, where required;  
c) implementing public realm enhancement and pedestrianisation 
schemes, where appropriate; 
d) using traffic calming, where feasible, to limit the opportunity for 
hostile vehicle approach. 

 
 
CS4 Planning contributions 
 
To manage the impact of development, seeking appropriate developer  
contributions. 
 
 
CS8 Meet challenges facing Aldgate area 

 
To regenerate the amenities and environment of the Aldgate area for 
businesses, residents, workers, visitors and students, promoting 
development and investment. 

 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

 
To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 

Page 85



DM10.1 New development 
 
To require all developments, including alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings, to be of a high standard of design and to avoid harm 
to the townscape and public realm, by ensuring that: 
 
a) the bulk and massing of schemes are appropriate in relation to 
their surroundings and have due regard to the general scale, height, 
building lines, character, historic interest and significance, urban grain 
and materials of the locality and relate well to the character of streets, 
squares, lanes, alleys and passageways;  
b) all development is of a high standard of design and architectural 
detail with elevations that have an appropriate depth and quality of 
modelling; 
c) appropriate, high quality and durable materials are used; 
d) the design and materials avoid unacceptable wind impacts at 
street level or intrusive solar glare impacts on the surrounding 
townscape and public realm; 
e) development has attractive and visually interesting street level 
elevations, providing active frontages wherever possible to maintain or 
enhance the vitality of the City's streets; 
f) the design of the roof is visually integrated into the overall design of the 
building when seen from both street level views and higher level 
viewpoints; 
g) plant and building services equipment are fully screened from 
view and integrated in to the design of the building.  Installations that 
would adversely affect the character, appearance or amenities of the 
buildings or area will be resisted; 
h) servicing entrances are designed to minimise their effects on the 
appearance of the building and street scene and are fully integrated into 
the building's design; 
i) there is provision of appropriate hard and soft landscaping, including 
appropriate boundary treatments; 
j) the external illumination of buildings is carefully designed to ensure 
visual sensitivity, minimal energy use and light pollution, and the discreet 
integration of light fittings into the building design; 
k) there is provision of amenity space, where appropriate; 
l) there is the highest standard of accessible and inclusive design. 

 
DM10.2 Design of green roofs and walls 

 
1) To encourage the installation of green roofs on all appropriate 
developments. On each building the maximum practicable coverage of 
green roof should be achieved. Extensive green roofs are preferred and 
their design should aim to maximise the roof's environmental benefits, 
including biodiversity, run-off attenuation and building insulation. 
 
2) To encourage the installation of green walls in appropriate 
locations, and to ensure that they are satisfactorily maintained. 

 
 

Page 86



DM10.3 Roof gardens and terraces 
 
1) To encourage high quality roof gardens and terraces where they 
do not: 
 
a) immediately overlook residential premises; 
b) adversely affect rooflines or roof profiles; 
c) result in the loss of historic or locally distinctive roof forms, 
features or coverings; 
d) impact on identified views. 
 
2) Public access will be sought where feasible in new development. 

 
DM10.4 Environmental enhancement 

 
The City Corporation will work in partnership with developers, Transport 
for London and other organisations to design and implement schemes 
for the enhancement of highways, the public realm and other spaces. 
Enhancement schemes should be of a high standard of design, 
sustainability, surface treatment and landscaping, having regard to:  
 
a) the predominant use of the space, surrounding buildings and 
adjacent spaces; 
b) connections between spaces and the provision of pleasant 
walking routes;  
c) the use of natural materials, avoiding an excessive range and 
harmonising with the surroundings of the scheme and materials used 
throughout the City; 
d) the inclusion of trees and soft landscaping and the promotion of 
biodiversity, where feasible linking up existing green spaces and routes 
to provide green corridors; 
e) the City's heritage, retaining and identifying features that 
contribute positively to the character and appearance of the City; 
f) sustainable drainage, where feasible, co-ordinating the design with 
adjacent buildings in order to implement rainwater recycling; 
g) the need to provide accessible and inclusive design, ensuring 
that streets and walkways remain uncluttered; 
h) the need for pedestrian priority and enhanced permeability, 
minimising the conflict between pedestrians and cyclists; 
i) the need to resist the loss of routes and spaces that enhance the City's 
function, character and historic interest; 
j) the use of high quality street furniture to enhance and delineate the 
public realm; 
k) lighting which should be sensitively co-ordinated with the design 
of the scheme. 

 
DM10.5 Shopfronts 

 
To ensure that shopfronts are of a high standard of design and 
appearance and to resist inappropriate designs and alterations. 
Proposals for shopfronts should: 

Page 87



 
a) respect the quality and architectural contribution of any existing 
shopfront; 
b) respect the relationship between the shopfront, the building and 
its context; 
c) use high quality and sympathetic materials; 
d) include  signage only in appropriate locations and in proportion 
to the shopfront; 
e) consider the impact of the installation of louvres, plant and 
access to refuse storage; 
f) incorporate awnings and canopies only in locations where they would 
not harm the appearance of the shopfront or obstruct architectural 
features; 
g) not include openable shopfronts or large serving openings 
where they would have a harmful impact on the appearance of the 
building and/or amenity; 
h) resist external shutters and consider other measures required 
for security; 
i) consider the internal treatment of shop windows (displays and opaque 
windows) and the contribution to passive surveillance; 
j) be designed to allow access by users, for example, incorporating level 
entrances and adequate door widths. 

 
DM10.8 Access and inclusive design 

 
To achieve an environment that meets the highest standards of 
accessibility and inclusive design in all developments (both new and 
refurbished), open spaces and streets, ensuring that the City of London 
is: 
 
a) inclusive and safe for of all who wish to use it, regardless of 
disability, age, gender, ethnicity, faith or economic circumstance;  
b) convenient and welcoming with no disabling barriers, ensuring 
that everyone can experience independence without undue effort, 
separation or special treatment; 
c) responsive to the needs of all users who visit, work or live in the 
City, whilst recognising that one solution might not work for all. 

 
CS11 Encourage art, heritage and culture 

 
To maintain and enhance the City's contribution to London's world-class 
cultural status and to enable the City's communities to access a range of 
arts, heritage and cultural experiences, in accordance with the City 
Corporation's Destination Strategy. 

 
DM11.2 Public Art 

 
To enhance the City's public realm and distinctive identity by: 
 

Page 88



a) protecting existing works of art and other objects of cultural 
significance and encouraging the provision of additional works in 
appropriate locations;  
b) ensuring that financial provision is made for the future 
maintenance of new public art;  
c) requiring the appropriate reinstatement or re-siting of art works 
and other objects of cultural significance when buildings are 
redeveloped. 

 
CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

 
To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

 
DM12.1 Change affecting heritage assets 

 
1. To sustain and enhance heritage assets, their settings and 
significance. 
 
2. Development proposals, including proposals for 
telecommunications infrastructure, that have an effect upon heritage 
assets, including their settings, should be accompanied by supporting 
information to assess and evaluate the significance of heritage assets 
and the degree of impact caused by the development.  
 
3. The loss of routes and spaces that contribute to the character 
and historic interest of the City will be resisted. 
 
4. Development will be required to respect the significance, 
character, scale and amenities of surrounding heritage assets and 
spaces and their settings. 
 
5. Proposals for sustainable development, including the 
incorporation of climate change adaptation measures, must be sensitive 
to heritage assets. 
 
 

DM12.4 Archaeology 
1. To require planning applications which involve excavation or ground 

works on sites of archaeological potential to be accompanied by an 
archaeological assessment and evaluation of the site, including the 
impact of the proposed development. 

2. To preserve, protect, safeguard and enhance archaeological 
monuments, remains and their settings in development, and to seek a 
public display and interpretation, where appropriate.  

3. To require proper investigation and recording of archaeological 
remains as an integral part of a development programme, and 
publication and archiving of results to advance understanding. 

 
 

Page 89



CS15 Creation of sustainable development 
 
To enable City businesses and residents to make sustainable choices in 
their daily activities creating a more sustainable City, adapted to the 
changing climate. 

 
DM15.1 Sustainability requirements 

 
1. Sustainability Statements must be submitted with all planning 
applications in order to ensure that sustainability is integrated into 
designs for all development. 
 
2. For major development (including new development and 
refurbishment) the Sustainability Statement should include as a 
minimum: 
 
a) BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes pre-assessment; 
b) an energy statement in line with London Plan requirements; 
c) demonstration of climate change resilience measures. 
 
3. BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes assessments should 
demonstrate sustainability in aspects which are of particular significance 
in the City's high density urban environment. Developers should aim to 
achieve the maximum possible credits to address the City's priorities. 
 
4. Innovative sustainability solutions will be encouraged to ensure 
that the City's buildings remain at the forefront of sustainable building 
design. Details should be included in the Sustainability Statement. 
 
5. Planning conditions will be used to ensure that Local Plan 
assessment targets are met. 

 
DM15.2 Energy and CO2 emissions 

 
1. Development design must take account of location, building 
orientation, internal layouts and landscaping to reduce likely energy 
consumption. 
 
2. For all major development energy assessments must be 
submitted with the application demonstrating: 
 
a) energy efficiency - showing the maximum improvement over 
current Building Regulations to achieve the required Fabric Energy 
Efficiency Standards; 
b) carbon compliance levels required to meet national targets for 
zero carbon development using low and zero carbon technologies, 
where feasible;  
c) where on-site carbon emission reduction is unviable, offsetting 
of residual CO2 emissions through "allowable solutions" for the lifetime 
of the building to achieve national targets for zero-carbon homes and 

Page 90



non-domestic buildings. Achievement of zero carbon buildings in 
advance of national target dates will be encouraged;  
d) anticipated residual power loads and routes for supply. 

 
DM15.3 Low and zero carbon technologies 

 
1. For development with a peak heat demand of 100 kilowatts or 
more developers should investigate the feasibility and viability of 
connecting to existing decentralised energy networks. This should 
include investigation of the potential for extensions of existing heating 
and cooling networks to serve the development and development of new 
networks where existing networks are not available. Connection routes 
should be designed into the development where feasible and connection 
infrastructure should be incorporated wherever it is viable. 
 
2. Where connection to offsite decentralised energy networks is not 
feasible, installation of on-site CCHP and the potential to create new 
localised decentralised energy infrastructure through the export of 
excess heat must be considered 
 
3. Where connection is not feasible or viable, all development with 
a peak heat demand of 100 kilowatts or more should be designed to 
enable connection to potential future decentralised energy networks. 
 
4. Other low and zero carbon technologies must be evaluated. Non 
combustion based technologies should be prioritised in order to avoid 
adverse impacts on air quality. 

 
DM15.4 Offsetting carbon emissions 

 
1. All feasible and viable on-site or near-site options for carbon 
emission reduction must be applied before consideration of offsetting. 
Any remaining carbon emissions calculated for the lifetime of the 
building that cannot be mitigated on-site will need to be offset using 
"allowable solutions". 
 
2. Where carbon targets cannot be met on-site the City 
Corporation will require carbon abatement elsewhere or a financial 
contribution, negotiated through a S106 planning obligation to be made 
to an approved carbon offsetting scheme.  
 
3. Offsetting may also be applied to other resources including 
water resources and rainwater run-off to meet sustainability targets off-
site where on-site compliance is not feasible. 

 
DM15.5 Climate change resilience 

 
1. Developers will be required to demonstrate through 
Sustainability Statements that all major developments are resilient to the 
predicted climate conditions during the building's lifetime.  
 

Page 91



2. Building designs should minimise any contribution to the urban 
heat island effect caused by heat retention and waste heat expulsion in 
the built environment. 

 
DM15.6 Air quality 

 
1. Developers will be required to consider the impact of their 
proposals on air quality and, where appropriate, provide an Air Quality 
Impact Assessment. 
  
2. Development that would result in deterioration of the City's 
nitrogen dioxide or PM10 pollution levels will be resisted.    
 
3. Major developments will be required to maximise credits for the 
pollution section of the BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes 
assessment relating to on-site emissions of oxides of nitrogen (NOx). 
 
4. Developers will be encouraged to install non-combustion low 
and zero carbon energy technology. A detailed air quality impact 
assessment will be required for combustion based low and zero carbon 
technologies, such as CHP plant and biomass or biofuel boilers, and 
necessary mitigation must be approved by the City Corporation. 
 
5. Construction and deconstruction and the transport of 
construction materials and waste must be carried out in such a way as to 
minimise air quality impacts. 
 
6. Air intake points should be located away from existing and 
potential pollution sources (e.g. busy roads and combustion flues). All 
combustion flues should terminate above the roof height of the tallest 
building in the development in order to ensure maximum dispersion of 
pollutants. 

 
DM15.7 Noise and light pollution 

 
1. Developers will be required to consider the impact of their 
developments on the noise environment and where appropriate provide 
a noise assessment. The layout, orientation, design and use of buildings 
should ensure that operational noise does not adversely affect 
neighbours, particularly noise-sensitive land uses such as housing, 
hospitals, schools and quiet open spaces.  
 
2. Any potential noise conflict between existing activities and new 
development should be minimised. Where the avoidance of noise 
conflicts is impractical, mitigation measures such as noise attenuation 
and restrictions on operating hours will be implemented through 
appropriate planning conditions. 
 
3. Noise and vibration from deconstruction and construction 
activities must be minimised and mitigation measures put in place to limit 
noise disturbance in the vicinity of the development. 

Page 92



 
4. Developers will be required to demonstrate that there will be no 
increase in background noise levels associated with new plant and 
equipment.  
 
5. Internal and external lighting should be designed to reduce 
energy consumption, avoid spillage of light beyond where it is needed 
and protect the amenity of light-sensitive uses such as housing, 
hospitals and areas of importance for nature conservation. 

 
DM15.8 Contaminated land 

 
Where development involves ground works or the creation of open 
spaces, developers will be expected to carry out a detailed site 
investigation to establish whether the site is contaminated and to 
determine the potential for pollution of the water environment or harm to 
human health and non-human receptors. Suitable mitigation must be 
identified to remediate any contaminated land and prevent potential 
adverse impacts of the development on human and non-human 
receptors, land or water quality. 

 
CS16 Improving transport and travel 

 
To build on the City's strategic central London position and good 
transport infrastructure to further improve the sustainability and efficiency 
of travel in, to, from and through the City. 

 
DM16.1 Transport impacts of development 

 
1. Development proposals that are likely to have effects on 
transport must be accompanied by an assessment of the transport 
implications during both construction and operation, in particular 
addressing impacts on: 
 
a) road dangers; 
b) pedestrian environment and movement; 
c) cycling infrastructure provision; 
d) public transport; 
e) the street network.  
 
2. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans should be used to 
demonstrate adherence to the City Corporation's transportation 
standards. 

 
DM16.2 Pedestrian movement 

 
1. Pedestrian movement must be facilitated by provision of suitable 
pedestrian routes through and around new developments, by 
maintaining pedestrian routes at ground level, and the upper level 
walkway network around the Barbican and London Wall. 
 

Page 93



2. The loss of a pedestrian route will normally only be permitted 
where an alternative public pedestrian route of at least an equivalent 
standard is provided having regard to: 
 
a) the extent to which the route provides for current and all 
reasonably foreseeable future demands placed upon it, including at peak 
periods;  
b) the shortest practicable routes between relevant points. 
 
3. Routes of historic importance should be safeguarded as part of 
the City's characteristic pattern of lanes, alleys and courts, including the 
route's historic alignment and width. 
 
4. The replacement of a route over which pedestrians have rights, 
with one to which the public have access only with permission will not 
normally be acceptable. 
 
5. Public access across private land will be encouraged where it 
enhances the connectivity, legibility and capacity of the City's street 
network. Spaces should be designed so that signage is not necessary 
and it is clear to the public that access is allowed. 
 
6. The creation of new pedestrian rights of way will be encouraged 
where this would improve movement and contribute to the character of 
an area, taking into consideration pedestrian routes and movement in 
neighbouring areas and boroughs, where relevant. 

 
DM16.3 Cycle parking 

 
1. On-site cycle parking must be provided in accordance with the 
local standards set out in Table 16.2 or, for other land uses, with the 
standards of the London Plan. Applicants will be encouraged to exceed 
the standards set out in Table 16.2. 
 
2. On-street cycle parking in suitable locations will be encouraged 
to meet the needs of cyclists. 

 
DM16.4 Encouraging active travel 

 
1. Ancillary facilities must be provided within new and refurbished 
buildings to support active transport modes such as walking, cycling and 
running. All commercial development should make sufficient provision 
for showers, changing areas and lockers/storage to cater for employees 
wishing to engage in active travel. 
 
2. Where facilities are to be shared with a number of activities they 
should be conveniently located to serve all proposed activities. 

 
 
 
 

Page 94



DM16.5 Parking and servicing standards 
 
1. Developments in the City should be car-free except for 
designated Blue Badge spaces. Where other car parking is exceptionally 
provided it must not exceed London Plan's standards. 
 
2. Designated parking must be provided for Blue Badge holders 
within developments in conformity with London Plan requirements and 
must be marked out and reserved at all times for their use. Disabled 
parking spaces must be at least 2.4m wide and at least 4.8m long and 
with reserved areas at least 1.2m wide, marked out between the parking 
spaces and at the rear of the parking spaces. 
 
3. Except for dwelling houses (use class C3), whenever any car 
parking spaces (other than designated Blue Badge parking) are 
provided, motor cycle parking must be provided at a ratio of 10 motor 
cycle parking spaces per 1 car parking space. At least 50% of motor 
cycle parking spaces must be at least 2.3m long and at least 0.9m wide 
and all motor cycle parking spaces must be at least 2.0m long and at 
least 0.8m wide. 
 
4. On site servicing areas should be provided to allow all goods 
and refuse collection vehicles likely to service the development at the 
same time to be conveniently loaded and unloaded. Such servicing 
areas should provide sufficient space or facilities for all vehicles to enter 
and exit the site in a forward gear. Headroom of at least 5m where skips 
are to be lifted and 4.75m for all other vehicle circulation areas should be 
provided. 
 
5. Coach parking facilities for hotels (use class C1) will not be 
permitted. 
 
6. All off-street car parking spaces and servicing areas must be 
equipped with the facility to conveniently recharge electric vehicles. 
 
7. Taxi ranks are encouraged at key locations, such as stations, 
hotels and shopping centres. The provision of taxi ranks should be 
designed to occupy the minimum practicable space, using a combined 
entry and exit point to avoid obstruction to other transport modes. 

 
CS17 Minimising and managing waste 

 
To support City businesses, residents and visitors in making sustainable 
choices regarding the minimisation, transport and management of their 
waste, capitalising on the City's riverside location for sustainable waste 
transfer and eliminating reliance on landfill for municipal solid waste 
(MSW). 

 
 
 
 

Page 95



DM17.1 Provision for waste 
 
1. Waste facilities must be integrated into the design of buildings, 
wherever feasible, and allow for the separate storage and collection of 
recyclable materials, including compostable material.    
 
2. On-site waste management, through techniques such as 
recyclate sorting or energy recovery, which minimises the need for waste 
transfer, should be incorporated wherever possible. 

 
DM17.2 Designing out construction waste 

 
New development should be designed to minimise the impact of 
deconstruction and construction waste on the environment through:  
 
a) reuse of existing structures; 
b) building design which minimises wastage and makes use of 
recycled materials; 
c) recycling of deconstruction waste for reuse on site where 
feasible; 
d) transport of waste and construction materials by rail or river 
wherever practicable; 
e) application of current best practice with regard to air quality, 
dust, hazardous waste, waste handling and waste management 

 
CS18 Minimise flood risk 

 
To ensure that the City remains at low risk from all types of flooding. 

 
DM18.2 Sustainable drainage systems 

 
1. The design of the surface water drainage system should be 
integrated into the design of proposed buildings or landscaping, where 
feasible and practical, and should follow the SuDS management train 
(Fig T) and London Plan drainage hierarchy. 
 
2. SuDS designs must take account of the City's archaeological 
heritage, complex underground utilities, transport infrastructure and 
other underground structures, incorporating suitable SuDS elements for 
the City's high density urban situation. 
 
3. SuDS should be designed, where possible, to maximise 
contributions to water resource efficiency, biodiversity enhancement and 
the provision of multifunctional open spaces. 

 
DM18.3 Flood protection and climate 

 
1. Development must protect the integrity and effectiveness of 
structures intended to minimise flood risk and, where appropriate, 
enhance their effectiveness. 
 

Page 96



2. Wherever practicable, development should contribute to an 
overall reduction in flood risk within and beyond the site boundaries, 
incorporating flood alleviation measures for the public realm, where 
feasible. 

 
CS19 Improve open space and biodiversity 

 
To encourage healthy lifestyles for all the City's communities through 
improved access to open space and facilities, increasing the amount and 
quality of open spaces and green infrastructure, while enhancing 
biodiversity. 

 
DM19.2 Biodiversity and urban greening 

 
Developments should promote biodiversity and contribute to urban 
greening by incorporating:  
 
a) green roofs and walls, soft landscaping and trees; 
b) features for wildlife, such as nesting boxes and beehives; 
c) a planting mix which encourages biodiversity; 
d) planting which will be resilient to a range of climate conditions; 
e) maintenance of habitats within Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation. 

 
DM19.3 Sport and recreation 

 
1. To resist the loss of public sport and recreational facilities for 
which there is a continuing demand, unless: 
 
a) replacement facilities are provided on-site or within the vicinity 
that meets the needs of the users of that facility;  or   
b) necessary services can be delivered from other facilities without 
leading to, or increasing, any shortfall in provision; or 
c) it has been demonstrated that there is no demand for sport and 
recreation facilities which could be met on the site. 
 
2. Proposals involving the loss of sport and recreational facilities 
must be accompanied by evidence of a lack of need for those facilities. 
Loss of facilities will only be permitted where it has been demonstrated 
that the existing floorspace has been actively marketed at reasonable 
terms for sport and recreational use.   
  
3. The provision of new sport and recreation facilities will be 
encouraged: 
 
a) where they provide flexible space to accommodate a range of 
different uses/users and are accessible to all; 
b) in locations which are convenient to the communities they serve, 
including open spaces;  
c) near existing residential areas; 

Page 97



d) as part of major developments subject to an assessment of the 
scale, character, location and impact of the proposal on existing facilities 
and neighbouring uses; 
e) where they will not cause undue disturbance to neighbouring 
occupiers.  
 
4. The use of vacant development sites for a temporary sport or 
recreational use will be encouraged where appropriate and where this 
does not preclude return to the original use or other suitable use on 
redevelopment. 

 
DM19.4 Play areas and facilities 

 
1. The City Corporation will protect existing play provision and seek 
additional or enhanced play facilities or space, particularly in areas 
identified as deficient, by: 
 
a) protecting existing play areas and facilities and, on 
redevelopment, requiring the replacement of facilities either on-site or 
nearby to an equivalent or better standard; 
b) where the creation of new play facilities is not feasible, requiring 
developers to work with the City Corporation to deliver enhanced 
provision nearby; 
c) requiring external play space and facilities as part of new 
residential developments which include 20 or more family units (those 
with 3 or more bedrooms) or 10 or more affordable units of 2 or more 
bedrooms; 
d) promoting opportunities for informal play and play within open 
spaces where it is not possible to secure formal play areas. 
 
2. Play areas and facilities should not be located where they would 
cause undue disturbance to neighbouring occupiers. 

 
CS20 Improve retail facilities 

 
To improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment, promoting the development of the five Principal Shopping 
Centres and the linkages between them. 

 
DM20.3 Retail uses elsewhere 

 
To resist the loss of isolated and small groups of retail units outside the 
PSCs and Retail Links that form an active retail frontage, particularly A1 
units near residential areas, unless it is demonstrated that they are no 
longer needed. 

 
CS21 Protect and provide housing 

 
To protect existing housing and amenity and provide additional housing 
in the City, concentrated in or near identified residential areas, as shown 

Page 98



in Figure X, to meet the City's needs, securing suitable, accessible and 
affordable housing and supported housing. 

 
DM21.3 Residential environment 

 
1. The amenity of existing residents within identified residential 
areas will be protected by: 
 
a) resisting other uses which would cause undue noise 
disturbance, fumes and smells and vehicle or pedestrian movements 
likely to cause disturbance;  
b) requiring new development near existing dwellings to 
demonstrate adequate mitigation measures to address detrimental 
impact. 
 
2. Noise-generating uses should be sited away from residential 
uses, where possible. Where residential and other uses are located 
within the same development or area, adequate noise mitigation 
measures must be provided and, where required, planning conditions 
will be imposed to protect residential amenity.  
 
3. All development proposals should be designed to avoid 
overlooking and seek to protect the privacy, day lighting and sun lighting 
levels to adjacent residential accommodation.  
 
4. All new residential development proposals must demonstrate 
how potential adverse noise impacts on and between dwellings will be 
mitigated by housing layout, design and materials. 
 
5. The cumulative impact of individual developments on the 
amenity of existing residents will be considered. 

 
CS22 Maximise community facilities 

 
To maximise opportunities for the City's residential and working 
communities to access suitable health, social and educational facilities 
and opportunities, while fostering cohesive communities and healthy 
lifestyles. 

 
DM22.1 Social and community facilities 

 
1. To resist the loss of social and community facilities unless: 
 
a) replacement facilities are provided on-site or within the vicinity 
which meet the needs of the users of the existing facility;  or  
b) necessary services can be delivered from other facilities without 
leading to, or increasing, any shortfall in provision; or  
c) it has been demonstrated that there is no demand for another 
similar use on site. 
 

Page 99



2. Proposals for the redevelopment or change of use of social and 
community facilities must be accompanied by evidence of the lack of 
need for those facilities. Loss of facilities will only be permitted where it 
has been demonstrated that the existing floor space has been actively 
marketed at reasonable terms for public social and community 
floorspace. 
 
3. The development of new social and community facilities should 
provide flexible, multi-use space suitable for a range of different uses 
and will be permitted: 
 
a) where they would not be prejudicial to the business City and 
where there is no strong economic reason for retaining office use;  
b) in locations which are convenient to the communities they serve; 
c) in or near identified residential areas, providing their amenity is 
safeguarded; 
d) as part of major mixed-use developments, subject to an 
assessment of the scale, character, location and impact of the proposal 
on existing facilities and neighbouring uses. 
 
4. Developments that result in additional need for social and 
community facilities will be required to provide the necessary facilities or 
contribute towards enhancing existing facilities to enable them to meet 
identified need. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



SCHEDULE 

 
 
APPLICATION: 23/00882/FULL 
 
Middlesex Street Estate  
 
Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six 
retail units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a 
police facility (sui generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas 
and facilities, and (ii) part ground and part first floor levels from gym use to 
community space (Class F2); and external alterations including: shopfront 
changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to 
podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, 
associated highways works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of 
security measures; and associated works.  
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission.  
 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 There shall be no demolition on the site until a scheme for protecting nearby 

residents and commercial occupiers from noise, dust and other environmental 
effects has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be based on the Department of Markets and 
Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for Deconstruction and Construction 
Sites and arrangements for liaison and monitoring (including any agreed 
monitoring contribution) set out therein. A staged scheme of protective works 
may be submitted in respect of individual stages of the demolition process but 
no works in any individual stage shall be commenced until the related scheme 
of protective works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The demolition shall not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved scheme (including payment of any agreed 
monitoring contribution).            

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal effect on the 
amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport network in accordance 
with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. These 
details are required prior to demolition in order that the impact on amenities is 
minimised from the time that development starts. 
 

3 There shall be no construction on the site until a scheme for protecting nearby 
residents and commercial occupiers from noise, dust and other environmental 
effects during construction has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be based on the Department 
of Markets and Consumer Protection's Code of Practice for Deconstruction and 
Construction Sites and arrangements for liaison and monitoring (including any 
agreed monitoring contribution) set out therein. A staged scheme of protective 
works may be submitted in respect of individual stages of the construction 
process but no works in any individual stage shall be commenced until the 
related scheme of protective works has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be carried 

Page 101



out other than in accordance with the approved scheme (including payment of 
any agreed monitoring contribution). 

 REASON: In the interests of public safety and to ensure a minimal effect on the 
amenities of neighbouring premises and the transport network in accordance 
with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. These 
details are required prior to demolition in order that the impact on amenities is 
minimised from the time that the construction starts. 

 
4 Construction works shall not begin until a Construction Logistics Plan to 

manage all freight vehicle movements to and from the site during construction 
of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Construction Logistics Plan shall be completed in 
accordance with the Mayor of London's Construction Logistics Plan Guidance 
dated July 2017, and shall specifically address the safety of vulnerable road 
users through compliance with the Construction Logistics and Community 
Safety (CLOCS) Standard. The Plan must demonstrate how Work Related 
Road Risk is to be managed. The development shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in accordance with the approved Construction Logistics Plan or 
any approved amendments thereto as may be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
REASON: To ensure that construction works do not have an adverse impact 
on public safety and the transport network in accordance with London Plan 
Policy 6.14 and the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM16.1. 
These details are required prior to construction work commencing in order that 
the impact on the transport network is minimised from the time that construction 
starts. 

 
5 The development hereby permitted shall not commence until the following, in 

consultation with London Underground, have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority which: 

b. provide details on any works around London Underground assets 
including any works on Artizan Street, Gravel Lane and White Kennett 
St. 

c. accommodate the location of existing London Underground structures. 
d. provide load change details and associated assessment of ground 

movement impact on London Underground structures due to temporary 
and permanent changes in loading associated with the proposed works. 

e. provide details on the use of tall plant, scaffolding and lifting equipment, 
if any. 

f. provide detailed design and Risk Assessment Method Statement 
(RAMS) on all works including temporary and permanent works. 

g. mitigate the effects of noise and vibration arising from the adjoining 
railway operations. 

h. provide technical specifications related to the proposed plant. Upon 
review of the technical specifications, an independent EMC impact 
assessment may be required to besubmitted for TfL Engineers' 
approvals. This is to ensure any EMC issues emanating from the plant 
or equipment to be used on the site or in the finished structure will not 
adversely affect London Underground electrical equipment or signalling 
systems. 

REASON: To ensure that the development does not impact on existing London 
Underground transport infrastructure, in accordance with London Plan 2021, 
draft London Plan policy T3 and ‘Land for Industry and Transport’ 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 2012. 

 
 

Page 102



 
6 Prior to the commencement of the development, the developer/ construction 

contractor shall sign up to the Non-Road Mobile Machinery Register. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the Mayor of London 
Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG July 
2014 (Or any subsequent iterations) to ensure appropriate plant is used and 
that the emissions standards detailed in the SPG are met. An inventory of all 
NRMM used on site shall be maintained and provided to the Local Planning 
Authority upon request to demonstrate compliance with the regulations.  
REASON: To reduce the emissions of construction and demolition in 
accordance with the Mayor of London Control of Dust and Emissions during 
Construction and Demolition SPG July 2014 (or any updates thereof), Local 
Plan Policy DM15.6 and London Plan Policy SI1D. Compliance is required to 
be prior to commencement due to the potential impact at the beginning of the 
construction. 

 
7 Prior to commencement of the development updated information on materials 

shall be submitted (as appropriate within security considerations) to the Local 
Planning Authority to include details of the reuse and recycling of 
deconstruction materials, and the specification of proposed materials and 
products with particular reference to recycled content, emissions reduction and 
circular design. 
REASON: To demonstrate that waste from demolition and carbon emissions 
are minimised and ensure that circular economy principles have been applied. 

 
8 Before any works thereby affected are begun excluding demolition the following 

details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details: 

a. details of Gravel Lane façade, including materials, fenestration and 
entrances; 

b. details of the Cultural Artwork installation within the Gravel Lane 
elevation; 

c. details of glazing and fenestration including the replacement glazing on 
the Gravel Lane facade; 

d. details of Artizan Street façade, fenestration and entrances; 
e. details of the proposed vehicle access gates; 
f. details of external plant enclosures and plant; 
g. details of external ducts, vents, louvres and extracts; 
h. particulars and samples of materials to be used in all external surfaces 

of the building; 
i. details of the podium landscaping proposals, including all surface 

materials; 
j. details of the proposed community and garden rooms on the podium; 
k. screening and plants in front of Petticoat Tower including damp-

proofing. 
REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with 
the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a satisfactory external 
appearance in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM10.1, DM10.2, DM10.3, DM10.4, DM10.8, DM12.1, DM12.3, DM17.1, 
DM19.2. 
 

9 Prior to commencement of the relevant part of the development, details for the 
resident gym, garden room, residential estate office including a management 
plan to be provided, to include meetings room for residents to access, must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the 

Page 103



above works are commenced. All development pursuant to this permission 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and maintained as 
approved for the life of the development unless otherwise agreed and approved 
by the local planning authority. 
REASON: To demonstrate that waste from demolition and carbon emissions 
are minimised and ensure that circular economy principles have been applied. 
 

10 Prior to the commencement of works including demolition, a site condition 
survey of the adjacent highways and other land at the perimeter of the site shall 
be carried out and details must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. Proposed finished floor levels at basement and 
threshold ground floor (threshold review) levels in relation to the existing 
Ordnance Datum levels of the adjoining streets and open spaces, must be 
submitted and agreed with the Highways Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved levels unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority.   

 REASON: To ensure continuity between the level of existing streets and the 
finished floor levels in the proposed building and to ensure a satisfactory 
treatment at ground level in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM10.8, DM16.2. These details are required prior to commencement in 
order that a record is made of the conditions prior to changes caused by the 
development and that any changes to satisfy this condition are incorporated 
into the development before the design is too advanced to make changes. 

 
11 Prior the commencement of the development, excluding demolition, an 

Ecological Management Plan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
to provide details on the proposed ecological enhancement actions in relation 
to habitat creations and management.    

 REASON: To comply with Local Plan Policy DM 19.2 Biodiversity and urban 
greening and Draft City Plan 2036 policy OS3 Biodiversity. 

 
12 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme in the form of an 

acoustic report compiled by a qualified specialist shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority specifying the materials and 
constructional methods to be used so that the noise level in the bedrooms does 
not exceed NR30 attributable to the proposed use of the ground floor and/or 
basement levels. The development pursuant to this permission shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved scheme and so maintained thereafter. 

 REASON: To protect the amenities of residential occupiers in the building in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM21.3, DM21.5. 

 
13 (a) The level of noise emitted from any new plant shall be lower than the 

existing background level by at least 10 dBA. Noise levels shall be determined 
at one metre from the window of the most affected noise sensitive premises. 
The background noise level shall be expressed as the lowest LA90 (10 
minutes) during which the plant is or may be in operation.  
(b) Following installation but before the new plant comes into operation 
measurements of noise from the new plant must be taken and a report 
demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the design requirements shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
(c) All constituent parts of the new plant shall be maintained and replaced in 
whole or in part as often is required to ensure compliance with the noise levels 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential/commercial 
occupiers in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, 
DM21.3. 

Page 104



 
14 Before any mechanical plant is used on the premises it shall be mounted in a 

way which will minimise transmission of structure borne sound or vibration to 
any other part of the building in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: In order to protect the amenities of commercial occupiers in the 
building in accordance following policy of the Local Plan: DM15.7. 

 
15 Prior to the installation of any generator. A report shall be submitted to show 

what alternatives have been considered including a secondary electrical power 
supply, battery backup or alternatively fuelled generators such as gas fired or 
hydrogen. The details of the proposed generator shall be submitted for 
approval. Where it is not possible to deploy alternatives, any diesel generators 
must be the latest Euro standard available.  
The generator shall be used solely on brief intermittent and exceptional 
occasions when required in response to a life-threatening emergency and for 
the testing necessary to  
meet that purpose and shall not be used at any other time. 
REASON: In accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM15.6 
and to maintain local air quality and ensure that exhaust does not contribute to 
local air pollution, particularly nitrogen dioxide and particulates PM10, in 
accordance with the City of London Air Quality Strategy 2019 and the London 
Plan Policies SI1 and SD4 D. 

 
16 Before any works thereby affected are begun excluding demolition the following 

details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details: 

a. details of public art and/or historic display on the Gravel Lane façade, 
including materials and visuals; 

b. to include details of how consultation has informed the final proposal; 
c. management and maintenance;  
d. a programme for the displays. 

REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with 
the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a satisfactory external 
appearance in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM10.1; DM10.8, DM11.2. 

 
17 Details of a Delivery and Servicing Management Plan demonstrating the 

arrangements for control of the arrival and departure of vehicles servicing the 
premises shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted. The 
building facilities shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved 
Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (or any amended Servicing 
Management Plan that may be approved from time to time by the Local 
Planning Authority) for the life of the building. The Delivery and Servicing 
Management Plan must make provision for: 

- A maximum number of 12 deliveries per day (which includes facilities 
management vehicles). 
The plan shall include any associated necessary works to the highway 
to be carried out prior to occupation of the development.  

The approved measures shall be maintained, in accordance with the Plan, for 
the duration of the use, unless the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority is first obtained. 

Page 105



REASON: To ensure that the development does not have an adverse impact 
on the free flow of traffic in surrounding streets in accordance with the following 
policy of the Local Plan: DM16.1 and DM16.5 of the adopted Local Plan. 

 
18 Details of a full Cycling Promotion Plan, to include detail on specific measures 

taken to encourage cycling, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the building hereby 
permitted. Within 6 months of first occupation a full Cycling Promotion Plan 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The building shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved 
Cycling Promotion Plan (or any amended Cycling Promotion Plan that may be 
approved from time to time by the Local Planning Authority) for a minimum 
period of 5 years from occupation of the premises. Annual monitoring reports 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority during the same period. 
REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that the 
scheme provides a sustainable transport strategy and does not have an 
adverse impact on the transport network in accordance with the following policy 
of the Local Plan: DM16.1. 
 

19 Details of the cycle parking facilities shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the building 
hereby permitted. The cyclist facilities shall thereafter be operated in 
accordance with the approved details for the life of the building. 
REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that the 
scheme provides a sustainable transport strategy and does not have an 
adverse impact on the transport network in accordance with the following policy 
of the Local Plan: DM16.1. 

 
20 Details of the waste storage facilities demonstrating the arrangements for the 

premises shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted. The 

building facilities shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved 

details for the life of the building.  

REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in accordance 

with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM17.1. 

 

21 Prior to the occupation of the buildings, details of an Access Management Plan 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
The development shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and be retained as such in perpetuity.   
REASON: To ensure that the development will be accessible for people with 
disabilities in accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM10.8. 
These details are required prior to construction work commencing in order that 
any changes to satisfy this condition are incorporated into the development 
before the design is too advanced to make changes. 
 

22 Before any works thereby affected are begun excluding demolition the following 
details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details: 

a. details of level access from the Blue/Red badge bay opposite through 
to the entrance core. Location of dropped kerbs should not be 
obstructed by bollards/planters; 

b. details to ensure that disabled parking provision is maintained 
throughout construction. 

Page 106



c. details for seating including a range of heights with arm and back 
supports, and options for single, grouped seats and tables. 

d. Where display material is to be shown in the shop windows this should 
avoid glare and be consistent with guidance on signs/ information 
boards in BS 8300 (2): 12.  Details for exhibits are provided in alternative 
formats that are consistent with the principle of more than two senses 
(PAS 6463). 

e. details for inclusive play for a range of users.   
REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with 

the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a satisfactory external 

appearance in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 

DM10.1, DM10.2, DM10.3, DM10.4, DM10.8, DM12.1, DM12.3, DM17.1, 

DM19.2. 

23 All unbuilt surfaces, including the podium level and ground floor and 
landscaping, shall be treated in accordance with a landscaping scheme, 
including details of:  

a. Irrigation; 
b. Provision for harvesting rainwater run-off from road to supplement 

irrigation;  
c. Spot heights for ground levels around planting pit;  
d. Soil;  
e. Planting pit size and construction;  
f. Tree guards;   
g. Species and selection of trees including details of its age, growing habit, 

girth of trunk, how many times transplanted and root development; 
h. details for impact of design on residential amenity and windows; 
i. podium level increase details with steps and level access points; 
j. lighting; 

 to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before any landscaping works are commenced. All hard and soft landscaping 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details not later 
than the end of the first planting season following completion of the 
development and prior to occupation. Trees and shrubs which die or are 
removed, uprooted or destroyed or become in the opinion of the Local Planning 
Authority seriously damaged or defective within the lifetime of the development 
shall be replaced with trees and shrubs of the same size and species to those 
originally approved, or such alternatives as may be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with 
the following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.1, DM19.2, DM21.3. 

 
24  Prior to any plant being commissioned and installed in or on the building an Air 

Quality Report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The report shall detail how the finished development will 
minimise emissions and exposure to air pollution during its operational phase 
and will comply with the City of London Air Quality Supplementary Planning 
Document and any submitted and approved Air Quality Assessment. The 
measures detailed in the report shall thereafter be maintained in accordance 
with the approved report(s) for the life of the installation on the building. 

 REASON: In order to ensure the proposed development does not have a 
detrimental impact on air quality, reduces exposure to poor air quality and in 
accordance with the following policies: Local Plan policy DM15.6 and London 
Plan policy 7.14B. 

 

Page 107



25 A) Prior to relevant works, details of noise attenuation measures for siren 
testing at basement level must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority to mitigate any noise impacts.  
B) Following installation but before occupation of the development, 
measurements of noise impacts in the development from the basement area 
must be taken and a report demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the 
design requirements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. All constituent parts of the installed measures shall be 
maintained and replaced in whole or in part as often is required to ensure 
compliance with the noise levels approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

            REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential/commercial 
occupiers in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, 
DM21.3. 
 

26 Within 6 months of completion of the development details of the measures to 
meet the approved Urban Greening Factor and the Biodiversity Net Gain 
scores, to include plant and habitat species, scaled drawings identifying the 
measures and maintenance plans, shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority. Landscaping and biodiversity measures shall be maintained to 
ensure the approved standard is preserved for the lifetime of the development. 
REASON: To comply with Local Plan Policy DM 19.2 Biodiversity and urban 
greening and Draft City Plan 2036 policy OS2 City Greening and OS3 
Biodiversity. 

 
27 Prior to the commencement of the relevant works, a Lighting Strategy and a 

Technical Lighting Design, including for the podium/garden level, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which 
should include full details of:  

 - lighting layout/s;  
 - details of all functional and decorative luminaires (including associated 

accessories, bracketry and related infrastructure) and functional or ambient; 
 - a lighting control methodology;   
 -proposed operational timings and associated design and management 

measures to reduce the impact on the local environment, public relam, and 
residential amenity including light pollution, light spill, and potential harm to 
local ecologies;   

 - all external, semi-external and public-facing parts of the building and of any 
internal lighting in so far that it creates visual or actual physical impact on the 
lit context to show how the facade and/or the lighting has been designed to help 
reduce glare, excessive visual brightness, and light trespass;   

 - details for impact on the public realm, including intensity, typical illuminance 
levels, uniformity, colour appearance and colour rendering.  
- details of uniformity, colour to reduce the impact on light pollution and 
residential amenity.  
Detail should be provided for all external, semi-external and public-facing parts 
of the building and of internal lighting levels and how this has been designed to 
reduce glare and light trespass. All works pursuant to this consent shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and lighting strategy.  

 All works and management measures pursuant to this consent shall be carried 
out and maintained in accordance with the approved details and lighting 
strategy.   

 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with 
the detail of the proposed development and the measures for environmental 
impacts, and to ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance with 
the following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.1, 15.7 , CS15, emerging policies 

Page 108



DE1, DE2 and HL3 of the Draft City Plan 2036 and the City of London Lighting 
SPD 2023. 

 
28 Within 6 months of completion of the development, details of the final 

landscaping design and an Ecological Management Plan, to include plant and 
habitat species (with data on coverage and biodiversity improvement), scaled 
drawings identifying measures and maintenance strategies, shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority. Landscaping and biodiversity measures shall 
be maintained in accordance with the submission documents to ensure the 
approved standard is preserved for the lifetime of the development. The 
landscaping design should include, where possible, a strategy to preserve (or 
save and return) existing plants which hold significant community value.  
REASON: To support the environmental sustainability of the development and 
provide a scheme that will encourage biodiversity and facilitate improved 
climate resilience whilst ensuring these benefits are maintained in the long 
term. 

 
29 Prior to occupation, security measures must be provided within the 

development, having being developed in consultation with residents, such as 
CCTV, lighting, entrances and improvements to secure access. 
REASON: To ensure safety and security in accordance with Local Plan policies 
CS3 and DM3.2. 

 
30 A minimum of 43 residential car parking spaces including a minimum of three 

blue badge parking spaces shall be provided and maintained for the life of the 
deveopment. 
REASON: To mitigate the transport impacts of the development.  

 
31  The development shall be operated in accordance with the approved 

Operational Management Plan unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
REASON: To ensure that the development does not have an adverse impact 
and to ensure the good management of the venue to protect residential and 
local amenities in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM3.5, DM15.7, DM16.1, DM21.3. 
 

32  No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 23:00 
on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to Saturday and 
between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following Monday and on Bank 
Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and unloading of goods from vehicles 
and putting rubbish outside the building. 

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to safeguard the 
amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, DM16.2, DM21.3. 
 

33 Goods, including fuel, delivered or collected by vehicles arriving at or departing 
from the building shall not be accepted or dispatched unless the vehicles are 
unloaded or loaded within the curtilage of the building. 

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to safeguard the 
amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM16.1, DM16.5, DM21.3. 
 

34 Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority all 
combustion flues must terminate at least 1m above the highest roof in the 
development in order to ensure maximum dispersion of pollutants, and must 

Page 109



be located away from ventilation intakes and accessible roof gardens and 
terraces. 
REASON: In order to ensure that the proposed development does not have a 
detrimental impact on occupiers of residential premises in the area and to 
maintain local air quality and ensure that exhaust does not contribute to local 
air pollution, particularly nitrogen dioxide and particulates PM10 and 2.5, in 
accordance with the City of London Air Quality Strategy 2019, Local Plan Policy 
DM15.6 and London Plan policy SI1. 

 
35 Permanently installed pedal cycle racks shall be provided and maintained on 

the site throughout the life of the buildings sufficient to accommodate a 
minimum of 284  spaces including adaptable spaces. All doors on the access 
to the parking area shall be automated, push button or pressure pad operated. 
The cycle parking provided on the site must remain ancillary to the use of the 
buildings and must be available at all times throughout the life of the buildings 
for the sole use of the occupiers thereof and their visitors without charge to the 
individual end users of the parking.  

 REASON: To ensure provision is made for cycle parking and that the cycle 
parking remains ancillary to the use of the building and to assist in reducing 
demand for public cycle parking in accordance with the following policy of the 
Local Plan: DM16.3, and emerging policy AT3 of the Draft City Plan 2036. 

 
36 A minimum of 5% of the long stay cycle spaces shall be accessible for larger 

cycles, including adapted cycles for disabled people.  
 REASON: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for people with 

disabilities in accordance with Local Plan policy DMI0.8, London Plan policy TS 
cycling, emerging City Plan policy 6.3.24. 

 
37 Minimum of 20 electric charging points must be provided within the 

development and retained for the life of the building.  
 REASON: To further improve the sustainability and efficiency of travel in, to, 

from and through the City in accordance with the following policy of the Local 
Plan: CS16. 

 
38 Prior to occupation, the development shall incorporate such measures as are 

necessary within the site to resist structural damage arising from an attack with 
a road vehicle or road vehicle borne explosive device.  
REASON: To ensure that the premises are protected from road vehicle borne 
damage within the site in accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: 
DM3.2.  

 
39 No doors, gates or windows at ground floor level shall open over the public 

highway.   
 REASON: In the interests of public safety. 
 
40 The threshold of all vehicular access points shall be at the same level as the 

rear of the adjoining footway.   
 REASON: To maintain a level passage for pedestrians in accordance with the 

following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.8, DM16.2. 
 
41 The threshold of the private public realm and public route entrances shall be at 

the same level as the rear of the adjoining footway.   
 REASON: To maintain a level passage for pedestrians in accordance with the 

following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.8, DM16.2. 
 

 

Page 110



42 The development shall provide:    
 198 sq.m of community use (Use Class F2) including a resident gym
  and meeting room. 

 REASON: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans. 

 
43 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the 

following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under conditions 
of this planning permission:   

 
Proposed Basement Layout Plan: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP -EB01 B1-DR-
A-10121 Rev PA1 

 
Proposed Ground Floor Layout Plan: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-EB01-GF-
DR-A-10122 Rev PA4 

 
Proposed 1st Floor Layout Plan: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-EB01-01-DR-
A-10123 Rev PA2  

 
Gravel Lane - Proposed Elevation: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-EB01-ZZ-
DR-A-10141 Rev PA5 

 
Artizan Street - Proposed Elevation: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-EB01-ZZ-
DR-A-10131 Rev PA4 

 
Artizan Street - Proposed New Generator Flue Route: Drawing Nr 3671-
RSP-EB01-ZZ-DR-A-10132 Rev PA1 

 
Proposed Works to Gravel Lane Streetscape: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-
EB01-ZZ-DR-A-10140 Rev PA6 

 
Podium landscape General arrangement plan: Drawing Nr TS095-AL-
P-GA-01 Rev B 

 
Podium landscape Accessibility plan: Drawing Nr TS095-AL-P-GA-04 
Rev B 

 
Podium landscape Existing and proposed planting by area: Drawing Nr 
TS095-AL-P-GA-05 

 
3D Visuals - Podium Landscaping: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-EB01-ZZ-
DR-A-10151Rev PA2 

 
Proposed Highway Arrangement Gravel Lane: Drawing Nr 2022-4459-
009 

 
Proposed Highway Arrangement Vehicle Swept Path Analysis: Drawing 
Nr 2022-4459-TR40 

 
Proposed Highway Arrangement Vehicle Swept Path Analysis: Drawing 
Nr 2022-4459-TR41 

 
Site Access Security Works: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP -EB01-ZZ-DR-A-
10130 Rev PA2 

 

Page 111



Basement - Residents' Parking Facilities: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-EB01-
B1-DR-A-90050 Rev PA1 

 
Residents' Link Corridor: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-EB01-ZZ-DR-A-90051 
Rev PA1 

 
Ground Floor Site Access Issues: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-EB01-GF-DR-
A-90040 Rev PA2 
 
Devonshire Club - Residents' Cycle Facilities: Drawing Nr 3671-RSP-
EB01-ZZ-DR-A-90041 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 112



INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Local Plan, 

Supplementary Planning documents, and other written guidance has 
been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 
 2 This approval relates only to the details listed above and must not be 

construed as approval of any other details shown on the approved 
drawings. 

 
 3 Roof gardens  
 The developer should be aware that, in creating a roof terrace, and 

therefore access to the roof, users of the roof could be exposed to 
emissions of air pollutants from any chimneys that extract on the roof 
e.g. from gas boilers / generators / CHP. In order to minimise risk, as a 
rule of thumb, we would suggest a design that places a minimum of 3 
metres from the point of efflux of any chimney serving combustion 
plant, to any person using the roof terrace. This distance should allow 
the gases to disperse adequately at that height, minimising the risk to 
health. 

 
 4 Compliance with the Clean Air Act 1993  
 Any furnace burning liquid or gaseous matter at a rate of 366.4 

kilowatts or more, and any furnace burning pulverised fuel or any solid 
matter at a rate of more than 45.4 kilograms or more an hour, requires 
chimney height approval. Use of such a furnace without chimney height 
approval is an offence. The calculated chimney height can conflict with 
requirements of planning control and further mitigation measures may 
need to be taken to allow installation of the plant. 

 
 5 Generators and combustion plant  
 Please be aware that backup/emergency generators may require 

permitting under the MCP directive and require a permit by the 
appropriate deadline. Further advice can be obtained from here: 
Medium combustion plant and specified generators: environmental 
permits - GOV.UK. 

 
 6 Thames Water Advice:  
   

Page 113



 Waste Comments: 
With regard to surface water drainage, Thames Water would advise 
that if the developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of 
surface water, there would be no objection. Management of surface 
water from new developments should follow Policy SI 13 Sustainable 
drainage of the London Plan 2021.   

   
 Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior 

approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. 
Should you require further information please refer to the Thames 
Water website.   

   
 Thames Water would expect the developer to demonstrate what 

measures will be undertaken to minimise groundwater discharges into 
the public sewer. Groundwater discharges typically result from 
construction site dewatering, deep excavations, basement infiltration, 
borehole installation, testing and site remediation. Any discharge made 
without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under 
the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991.  

   
 A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be 

required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any 
discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in 
prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We 
would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. 
Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water's Risk 
Management Team by telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by emailing 
trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk. Application forms should be 
completed on the Thames Water website. Please refer to the 
Wholesale; Business customers; Groundwater discharges section.  

   
 Thames Water would recommend that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted 

in all car parking/washing/repair facilities. Failure to enforce the 
effective use of petrol / oil interceptors could result in oil-polluted 
discharges entering local watercourses.   

   
 Water Comments: 
 If you are planning on using mains water for construction purposes, it's 

important you let Thames Water know before you start using it, to avoid 
potential fines for improper usage. More information and how to apply 
can be found online at thameswater.co.uk/buildingwater.   

   
 Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure 

of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the 
point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take 
account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed 
development. 

 

Page 114



7 The Health and Safety Executive have provided a response dated 
17/10/2023 which includes various recommendations for fire safety at 
the site which the Applicant should review.  

 
8  As recommended in the Equalities Statement prepared by the 

Applicant, further engagement materials should be provided in a range 
of languages.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



Background Papers 
 
 
Representations  
 

CoLAT response received 06.09.2023. 
 
Email from Thames Water received 06.09.2023. 
 
Email from TFL dated 23.01.2023 and 06.11.2023. 
 
Email from London Underground and DLR received 19.09.2023. 
 
Email from Greater London Archaeological Service dated 22.09.2023 and 

07.11.2023. 
 
Email from City of London Archaeological Trust date 06.09.2023. 
 
Memo from the Lead Local Flood Authority dated 06.09.2023. 
 
Email from Cleansing Team dated 16.09.2023. 
 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets dated 19.09.2923.  
 
London Underground response received 19.09.2023. 
 
Letter from Health and Safety Executive dated 17.10.2023. 
 
Memo from Air Quality Officer dated 14.11.2023. 

 
 Memo from the Environmental Health team dated 22.01.2024. 
 
 Email from the Environmental Health team dated 09.01.2024.  
 
 
 Comments / letters received from: 
 

 Alesandro Cardenas Tobon  
 
Julian Thornton  

 
Laura Chan  
 
Mr Roger Way  
 
Mr Cristian Medeiros  
 
Miss Amy Banim  
 
Darren Jones  
 
Mrs Iris Jones  
 
Mr Edward Hall  
 
Margaret O’Brien  

Page 116



 
Robert Fox and Julie Fox  
 
Miss Astrid Kirchner  
 
Dr Alex Bayliss  
 
E Young  
 
Edward (Ted) Hall  
 
Gerry Curran  
 
Soo Cheong   
 
Suly Gomez  
 
Mrs Samapti Bagchi  
 
Mr Sean Lee  
 
Luz Adriana  
 
Said Assassi   
 
Abby Schofield  
 
Clara Reo Sulekopa  
 
Ian Hartog   
 
Vicky Stewart   
 
Mr Julian Bailey  
 
Julia Da Costa  
 
Margaret Lipton  
 
Mr Thomas Cole  
 
Miss Jasmine Liew  
 
Ms Josephine Jago  
 
Giopai Basgchi  
 
Linda Fallon  
 
Philomena Levy   
 
Samapti Bagchi   
 
Sanchila Bagchi   
 
Mr Felice Livornese  

Page 117



 
Lucinda Martin  
 
Mr Juan Castillo  
 
Mr Peter Rawlinson  
 
Jessica Sallabank  
 
D Rose (on behalf of Middlesex Street Estate Residents Association)  
 
D Rose (on behalf of Petticoat Square Leaseholders Association)  
 
Merril Jenkins-Rose  
 
Jeffrey Boloten   
 
Mrs Natalie Coughlan  
 
Mr Paul Coughlan  
 
Mr Sean Coughlan  
 
Mr Craig MacVicar  
 
lisa Hollick  
 
Miss Emily Coughlan  
 
Robert Valenta  
 
Anne Kilroy  
 
Riley Kilroy Valenta  
 
Miss Soo Cheong  
 
Miss Sue Liew  
 
Miss Jean Liew  
 
Miss Yoke Liew  
 
Mr Chee Seong Cheng  
 
Mr Owen Bramley  
 
Miss Amy Chan  
 
Miss Kamila Lawcel  
 
Mrs Gailie Anderson  
 
Mr damien Vaugh  
 
Mark Lemanski (Via Email)   

Page 118



 
David Rose   
 
Mr Mark Lemanski (Online)   
 
Mr Anthony Everton  
 
Miss Molly McPherson  
 
Dr Sharon Tugwell  
 
Mr Ian McPherson  
 
Janet Curry  
 
Kevin Curry  
 
Mr Paul Braithwaite  
 
Ms Sandra Mc Bean 
 

 
Application documents  
 

Application form. 
 
Details of leasehold landowners, September 2023. 
 
Schedule of area calculations for planning application, 28 July 2023.  
 
Covering letter dated 9 August 2023. 
 
Covering letter dated 1 December 2023. 
 
Planning Statement, August 2023. 
 
Eastern Base – constraints / evacuation management plan, 9 August 2023. 
 
Existing drawings.  
 
Community Infrastructure Form, 5 October 2023. 
 
Handling Note. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy Form dated 05/10/2023. 
 
Transport Statement, August 2023. 
 
Air quality assessment, August 2023. 
 
Outline construction environmental management plan. August 2023. 
 
Outline construction logistics plan, August 2023. 
 
Equalities impact assessment, August 2023. 
 

Page 119



Outline delivery and servicing plan, August 2023. 
 
Town centre use statement, July 2023. 
 
Noise impact assessment, August 2023. 

 
 Ecological appraisal, July 2023. 

 
Supplementary Transport Statement – Gravel Lane Works, November 2023.  
 
City of London Police – Eastern Base – Middlesex Street. Operational 
Requirements – Site Criteria (Including Operational Management Plan) 
submitted January 2023.  
 
Architectural Design and Access Statement, 1 August 2023.  
 
Podium works – Design and Access Statement, August 2023. 
 
Sustainability and Energy Statement, September 2023. 
 
Flood risk assessment and surface water drainage strategy, August 2023. 
 
3D Visuals – Podium landscaping. 
 
3D Visuals – Street scenes.  
 
Operational Requirements – Site Criteria, including Operational Management 

Plan. 
 
Applicant response to objections dated 23.11.2023. 
 
Fire Statement Form, Cahill Design Consultants. 
 
Statement of Community Involvement, 8 August 2023. 
 
Addendum to the Statement of Community Involvement, 29 September 2023. 
 
 

 Applicant responses to Public Comments for the MSE Eastern Base planning 

application, 23 November 2023. 
  
 Applicant collated responses to objections from emails on 13 October 2023. 
 
 Podium works – Design and Access Statement – Appendix 1 – Landscape 

Materials, November 2023.  
 

Note on Artizan Street New Brickwork Elements. 
 

 Applicant response from 26 January 2024 to objection. 
 
 Technical Note – Siren Noise Assessment, 26.01.2024.  
 
Other 
 

Report to Community and Children’s Services on 23 January 2023 for 
‘Middlesex Street Estate – Areas of Car Park and Seven Shop Units’. 

Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Laura  Chan

Address: 443 petticoat square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:I object to establishing police use of part of the estate as it will add to the traffic, noise

and anti social nuisance for the estate residents.

Co locating police within a residential estate is wrong.

Page 123



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Roger Way

Address: 18A Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:Loss of amenity, increased risk to users (especially children and those with mobility

issues) and a reduction in privacy resulting from the raising of the level of a very high percentage

of the Podium

 

Increase in noise, vibrations and fumes experienced by residents resulting from the installation of

various items of plant at first floor level close to residential units and the Podium

 

Increase in risk to residents (especially children, the elderly and those with mobility issues)

resulting from the reduction in space available to manage the arrival, parking and departure of

vehicles with legitimate reasons to use the estate parking

 

Further deterioration in the architectural quality of the estate resulting from the encasement of one

of the characteristic chutes and the change from a single level Podium

Page 124



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Cristian Medeiros

Address: 623 Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Other

Comment:I think we need space to create a community gym to help quality of life.

Page 125



From:
To:
Subject: FW: 23/00882/FULL
Date: 16 October 2023 10:11:58
Attachments: image001.png

From: Mark Lemanski
Sent: Friday, October 13, 2023 6:33 PM
To: Figueira, Pearl
Subject: Re: 23/00882/FULL

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL

Dear Pearl,

I am writing regarding the above planning application.

I strongly object to the proposed appropriation of parts of the Middlesex Street Housing Estate 
for a police station, and the associated redesign of commercial and residential amenity spaces at 
basement, ground, first floor and podium level, as well as changes to Gravel Lane, all of which 
will reduce public and residents’ amenity space and have detrimental effects on safety and 
wellbeing.

Undercroft:
The proposed undercroft would be ugly and unsafe for pedestrians and cyclists, with long 
corridors with dead corners, lack of visual permeability throughout, and no pedestrian priority 
routes amid a steep increase in car traffic.  Any proposed change should give clear priority to 
pedestrians over cars, with improved visibility. Visual permeability needs to be increased, with 
no barriers and dead corners, and careful positioning of bins.  Bin areas, bulk collections areas 
and cycle stands should be positioned to be as accessible, safe and visible as possible, not

Page 126



squeezed into available left over spaces. Pedestrian corridors need to have visual permeability to
adjoining spaces to help residents to be and to feel safer. They should not have a double use to
transport wheely bins on a regular basis.
Only two parking spaces for disabled users are shown at ground level, which is insufficient
according to the London Plan.
The presented layout is of poor quality, in that it tries to pack maximum amenity into the
smallest possible footprint without consideration for design, thereby exacerbating the negative
qualities of the nested layout of the estate, adding new long corridors and unsupervised corners
that will make this feel less safe than it is at the moment. The proposed semi public use would
make access control of the undercroft almost impossible, so the space will not only feel but also
be a lot unsafer.

Basement:
The proposed basement layout would be so convoluted that it would be labyrinthian and unsafe.
It does not seem to comply with Safe By Design guidelines.

Podium:
The proposed level changes to the podium would decrease available amenity space, substantially
reduce amenity space for residents (by creating extensive ‘buffer’ spaces along the perimeter
and taking up space for steps and ramps) and be less accessible to less able-bodied residents. 
Existing mature and well loved planting and green areas are shown to be removed and replaced
with new planting. Seedlings would take decades to mature. Residents shouldn’t first be
subjected to loss of amenity for the duration of the building works, which is bad enough, to then
miss out on visual amenity, birdsong etc for five years or more. Existing plants should be retained
where possible, and new plants should be of mature stock, so that amenity and biodiversity isn’t
impacted more than necessary. The current extent of planting needs to be at least retained.
Layouts and materials would not harmonise with the architecture. Diagonals and curves are very
incongruent to the considered and confident structuralist and brutalist language of the estate.
They introduce a language at odds with the estate’s design ethos, which like the planter design
on Artizan Street, just adds a confused sense of clutter. The design should either be sufficiently
different from the estate’s original architecture, and introduce a really organic natural design, or
it should be harmonious and strict.

Gravel Lane:
I am dismayed that the quality of Gravel Lane urbanistically and economically would be entirely
disregarded. The ground floor shop units are an important part of the architectural identity of
the estate, and the feel of the wider area. The active frontage is essential for what Jane Jacobs
coined ‘Eyes on the street’, which is essential to a safe and welcoming urban environment,
especially in a location struggling with anti social behaviour and criminal activity including drug
use. The proposed film will form an anonymous frontage (as demonstrated by the wellbeing
centre around the corner) regardless of what ‘artwork’ will go onto it.  The shops are of essential
quality not just on gravel lane, but also with regards to the permeability and attractiveness of the
wider area, which the Aldgate Bid so desperately tries to improve. The presented proposals run
counter to these efforts and any good urban design practice.  The proposed public realm design
is poor: The proposed public seating in what would be an unsupervised streetscape would invite
anti-social behaviour. And the trees in planters are a repeat of the trees in planters on Harrow
Place, which died and were removed last year.

Page 127



Comments specific to cycle storage:
Current cycling regulations at the end of these comments, which stipulate that cycle storage
need to be close to entrance points at ground level, convenient, easier to access than cars,
supervised, safe, and easily accessibly for residents of all ages and abilities. The proposed design
does the exact opposite.
To use the proposed basement cycle storage, residents would have to push their bicycle (incl any
shopping and maybe a young child on bikes) through four sets of doors, many of which one leaf
only and opening towards you, some heavy firedoors, none automated. And navigate a lift. This
is impossible. Even with fully automated doors, which are bound to break. The proposed cycling
storage is practically unusable.
Upright cycle storage as shown should be avoided, as less able bodied residents and children will
be unable to use them.
I think that the number of guideline compliant cycle spaces is insufficient. Under current
standards, the London Plan stipulates a minimum of 1 bike parking space per studio/1 bedroom
unit, and 2 spaces for larger dwelling types. The majority of the 234 flats of the estate are 2
bedrooms or more, which translates into a requirement of well over 300 bicycle spaces. The
London Plan also says that ‘Consideration should be given to providing spaces accessible to less
conventional bicycle types, such as tricycles, cargo bicycles and bicycles with trailers.’
The proposed location would be inferior to the current location in almost every single criterium.
Even if the basement was redecorated and equipped with better lighting and CCTV, this would
not make it safe or compliant.

Comments on design generally:
The proposals display little understanding of the existing architectural qualities. The 20th century
society issued a letter underlining for example the particular quality of the existing bin chutes
(attached), one of which the architects have again proposed to box in. The design of the
undercroft does not at all respond to the original careful architectural design, which features
high quality in-situ concrete including rounded corners and waffle ceilings, decorative brick
facing, self coloured robust materials. Instead they propose cheap panelling and partitions that
will not withstand the movement of bins, and will look shabby in no time.  The podium design is
entirely alien to the original podium design and the surrounding architecture.
The design quality is too low overall. Could good designers from the GLA’s architecture and
urbanism panel be selected to take on the detail design of these proposals if they get the go-
ahead despite residents’ opposition?

Comments on safety:  Safety would be a huge problem, predominantly in the basement, but also
for the Ground Floor and all communal areas.  A large number of people would be given access
to the Ground Floor, and therefore the communal circulation areas of the estate. Access control
would be more vulnerable, as any gates would be more likely to fail through increased use, and
access by unauthorised members of the public, which has already been a huge problem in the
past, would increase.
What is currently a relatively escapable and easy to overview area will become really risky, with
long corridors, poor visibility corners, limited alternative escape possibilities, access given to a
large number of people, and perimeter safety compromised. This runs counter to all
recommendations in Safe By Design. The proposals would make Middlesex Street estate less safe
for residents and visitors.

Comments on applicable standards:

Page 128



Because the proposed changes incl change of use are substantial, the guidance contained within
the current London Plan, which provides a sound framework to provide residents with a good
standard of amenity provision, should be applied.
The regulations in the London Plan translates current laws and policy (for example with regards
to climate and transport, or disability discrimination) into workable guidelines based on statistic
averages. In developing cycle and parking numbers, CoL officers have used their own
methodology, which seem to be pulled from thin air, based on specific counts rather than
statistical averages. This is a inadequate methodology, a) because the numbers are artificially
low through low availability of parking permits and high prices (in the case of f car parking
spaces) or bicycle parking (unsafe, not covered by insurance, people keep bikes in storage units
instead) and b) it does not take account of future use.
If bicycle numbers for example are below average, CoL should respond by thinking what you
could do to promote cycling in line with the City’s/London’s/UK’s climate policy and active travel
obligations.
Comments on consultation:
I would also like to comment on the consultation, which was poor. Many events were visited by
only a handful of residents. There is huge consultation fatigue on the estate, due to the number
of projects happening, and also due to the disregard of residents’ views during recent
‘consultations’. Residents are regularly presented with design options that will all detrimentally
affect the estate, there is never an option to retain the status quo or request a better design.
The City of London regularly instrumentalises flawed and leading processed to claim that any
design taken forward was developed in consultation with ‘residents’, which is misleading and in
my view unethical.
In this case, the decision to declare elements of the estate as ‘surplus to housing requirement’ in
the first place was made without adequately assessing current and future spatial requirements
of residents and businesses, and therefore  based on an overly optimistic and misleading
representation of the extent of ‘housing requirements’. For example, in response to the obesity
and environmental crisis, other CoL housing estates have more attractive secure and safe bicycle
storage incl repair facilities, and cater to the rise of cargo bikes, which will become much more
common and take up a lot more space than standard bikes.  The games court area on the
podium is causing noise disturbance but is essential as play provision for older children as
required in the London Plan. A relocation to the ground floor was requested by residents but
was not considered in the housing estate’s space requirement.
How much space would be needed to re-provide even the existing, deficient amenity for estate
residents and businesses has never been considered with sincerity, as evidenced by a CoL
officer's inability to answer even basic queries regarding parking provision breakdowns, or
pedestrian and vehicular circulation at a walkabout. The ‘surplus requirement’ decision was
never based on actual requirements of residents and businesses, but on the spatial demands of
allocating a police station.
The cumulative corrosive effect of the reduction of amenity provision over time (communal
kitchen, accessible estate office, etc) was not considered, not were uses that will be needed in
the future (car club spaces, cargo bikes spaces, delivery spaces etc), or even new uses that would
benefit the estate and wider area
We are also concerned that the impact of any use as a police station would further exacerbate
the the number of vehicles arriving at and leaving the estate, some with alarms, which will place
an acceptable burden on residents, and this burden has not been openly and transparently
investigated and communicated.
Any decision making process with such extensive repercussions on residents’ wellbeing should

Page 129



have been the subject to a proper options and impact appraisal. I think that the absence of such
an appraisal, the lack of engagement with residents’ feedback, the absence even of a schedule of
existing amenity provision shows a blunt disregard for residents’ interests. I think that this
fundamentally flawed consultation process should be  sufficient grounds to reject the proposals.

In summary,  1. The proposals would make the estate less safe, because
- residents would have to cross a heavily congested vehicular area without clearly demarcated
pedestrian areas to access bins
- many more people would given access to the estate incl its communal circulation areas
- perimeter access to the estate would be much harder to control with frequently opening gates,
which is bound to exacerbate occurrences of rough sleeping, drug use and theft, which have
already been a problem in the past
- the proposals would create an inert facade along Gravel Lane that would provide almost no
passive surveillance
- vulnerable people incl children would be expected to store bikes in the basement, where no-
one will hear you scream. Many of the more vulnerable residents incl children are already scared
of entering the basement.

2. The proposals would make the estate less child-friendly, because
- children would be unable to access bike storage safely. The proposed location is detrimental to
all current guidance.
- The play provision for older children has now been closed for two years in breach of policy.
Some residents are opposed to the re-opening because of noise. The undercroft is the only
realistic location to re-provide the ball games area and allow the City to fulfil its obligation to
provide play space.
- see also 1.

3. The proposals would make the estate less less accommodating of less able-bodied residents,
because
- it would make access to the bins more difficult (more doors, more cars to navigate).
- it would make access of car parking more difficult (as two lifts will be used by police, resulting in
much longer routes with additional doors etc).
- It would make access to bicycle storage for anyone but the fittest almost impossibly difficult. (I
have been disabled for two years, and was often hardly able to open one heavy door with one
arm whilst navigating my bike and shopping through with the other. The proposals would add
doors and elevators that would allow only the fittest to access bike storage). Cargo bikes and
bikes for less able-bodied people could not access this location at all, which again would be in
breach of policy.

4. The proposals would make the estate less communal, because
- the undercroft currently serves as an informal meeting place, which also serves to make it feel
relatively safe despite its sorry state. (early co-housing designs places bin storage in central
locations in recognition of its importance as frequent informal meeting points).
- they would take up the only space that could be used to compensate for lost amenity space.
- they would take up the only space that could accommodate the ball games are and resolve the
conflict between young residents who want to play and old residents who do not want the noise
from a ball games area.

Page 130



5. The proposals would make living on the estate more stressful, because
- building works would follow the extremely disruptive installation of a heating system and could
coincide with the construction of a high rise building next door. The accumulative effect of
building works on residents is never considered.
- noise pollution through gate operations would worsen. even the existing shutter means that
residents cannot leave windows open at night without being repeatedly woken. Another gate
would add more noise, at much increased frequency.
- the garage alarm malfunctions, complained about for years, are already a nuisance, this would
likely worsen.
- even the police are unable to assure us that vehicles would leave without sirens switched on, at
all times of day and night.

6. The proposals would make the estate less beautiful, because
- the undercroft is an intentionally dramatic and well considered design. The concrete waffle
ceiling is typical of its time, as can be seen in the Barbican Centre, and appreciated by any
architect or designer who has ever visited the site.
- the ground floor amenity space would be further fragmented into long corridors lines by cheap
partitions, as is already demonstrated by the estate office/library.
- Gravel Lane would become an inert, blank facade, instead of the urban contribution as which it
was intended, and which any urban design guidance would describe as valuable.

Excerpts from cycling storage guidance:

Numbers:
Residential development should provide dedicated long-stay parking space for cycles in
accordance with the London Plan and guidance in the London Cycling Design Standards:
One long-stay space per studio or one bedroom (one-person) dwelling
One and a half long-stay spaces per one bedroom (two-person) dwelling
Two long-stay spaces per two or more bedroom dwelling.
In addition, for developments of between 5 and 40 dwellings at least two short-stay cycle
parking spaces should also be provided, with at least one additional space per 40 dwellings
thereafter. [In addition, cycle parking for business employees and visitors needs to be
considered.]

Location:  In line with the London Cycling Design Standards, cycle parking should be conveniently
located, secure and accessible to all. Communal cycle stores should have an appropriate mix of
stand types and adequate spacing and facilities for larger cycles to be accessible for all.
Designing to encourage cycling:
Cycle parking should take full account of London Plan Policy T5 and the London Cycling Design
Standards (LCDS) and be integrated into proposals in ways that enable residents and visitors of a
development to access it by bicycle. As such, cycle parking should generally be prioritised over
car parking space in terms of delivering overall quantity requirements and in terms of
convenience of location for residents.

Cycle parking should also be designed to be secure and well-located. This can include placing
parking where people feel safe e.g. visible, well-overlooked and well-lit areas. Internal long-stay

Page 131



cycle parking areas should have access for residents only. Cycle parking should be close to the 
entrance and access should avoid obstacles such as stairs, multiple doors, narrow doorways and 
tight corners. [It should certainly avoid steep ramps, see below]

Parking should be located at entrance level, within, or adjacent to the circulation area. 
Developments should also provide cycle parking provision for visitors in line with the London 
Plan requirements.

London Cycling Design Standards
8.5.3 Residential cycle parking
A lack of cycle parking in residential areas was identified by the London Assembly in its report 
Stand and deliver: cycle parking in London (2009) as a significant factor discouraging people from 
taking up cycling as a mode of transport.  Where cycle parking is provided within buildings, 
guidance in section 8.2.1 above should be followed.
This includes providing level access, and avoiding multiple and narrow doorways.
Individual or communal cycle storage outside the home should be secure, sheltered and 
adequately lit, with convenient access to the street.

With best wishes, 

Mark Lemanski

° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° °
Public Realm Design 
& Communication

Page 132



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Amy Banim

Address: 449 petticoat square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer made comments in support of the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

Comment:

Page 133



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Darren Jones

Address: 422 petticoat square Middlesex street London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:Again all the planed works are to the detriment to the residents catering for people who

do not live on the estate

Page 134



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs Iris Jones

Address: 422 Petticoat Square Middlesex Street Estate LONDON

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:Police bases should not be located on residental estates, the distruption, noise

pollution, stress that it will cause residents is not exceptable. The spaces that have been allocated

no longer for housing purposes could have been used for the residents. But residents were not

asked about this until it was already decided that it wad going to be a police base.

Page 135



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Edward Hall

Address: 222 Petticoat Square Middlesex Street London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I am Chair of the Petticoat Square Gardening Club and we have spent ten years

creating a garden that all the residents enjoy.

I am devastated that you intend to destroy our efforts.

 

If you need more space, why don't you dig down?

 

If you go ahead we request that you build a large lockable green house that we can use for the

plants that we want to save.

 

Ted Hall

Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Astrid Kirchner

Address: 18B Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:Raising the level of a very high percentage of the Podium will result in loss of amenity,

increased risk to users (especially children and those with mobility issues) and a reduction in

privacy

 

Installation of various items of plant at first floor level close to residential units and the Podium will

result in increased noise, vibrations and fumes experienced by residents both in their homes and

when on the Podium

 

Reduction in space available to manage the arrival, parking and departure of vehicles with

legitimate reasons to use the estate parking will increase the risk to the personal safety of

residents (especially children, the elderly and those with mobility issues)

 

Encasement of one of the characteristic chutes and the change from a single level Podium will

result in further deterioration in the architectural quality of the estate

Page 139



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Dr Alex Bayliss

Address: 44 Northcote Road London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

Comment:I am a leaseholder on the Middlesex Street Estate. My principal objection to this

scheme is the proposal to raise and re-line the podium. This is yet more disruptive works coming

on top of the extremely intrusive heating works that are still ongoing. In my view, the amenities

offered to residents in no way compensate for yet more disruption and noise. The proposal to

allow the City Police to opt out of the central estate heating system on the Estates and install air-

source heat pumps is, quite simply, scandalous. No such opt-out for a greener alternative has

been offered to leaseholders or residents. In my view, participation in the central heating system

(and a proportionate contribution to the cost) should have been the first condition placed on the

new lease. As usual, this consultation comes too late when too much is a fait accompli. Things

being decided at an earlier stage when the consultation documentation did not provide full

information on the impact of the proposed works. The decision on the new heating system is a

similar case in point.

Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs Samapti Bagchi

Address: 4 A Petticoat Tower, Middlesex Street Middlesex Street LONDON

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer made comments neither objecting to or supporting the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

Comment:N/A

Page 146



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Sean Lee

Address: 14a Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:1. Raising the level of a very high percentage of the Podium will result in loss of

amenity, increased risk to users (especially children and those with mobility issues) and a

reduction in privacy.

 

2. Installation of various items of plant at first floor level close to residential units and the Podium

will result in increased noise, vibrations and fumes experienced by residents both in their homes

and when on the Podium.

 

3. Reduction in space available to manage the arrival, parking and departure of vehicles with

legitimate reasons to use the estate parking will increase the risk to the personal safety of

residents (especially children, the elderly and those with mobility issues).

 

4. Encasement of one of the characteristic chutes and the change from a single level Podium will

result in further deterioration in the architectural quality of the estate.

 

5. Noice pollution for continues 20 months according to the construction period. This is a direct

impact over 200 residential units daily life with no mitigation action to all affected residential units.

Page 147



P
age 148



P
age 149



Page 150



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Abby Schofield

Address: 22b petticoat tower London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:Not only do I oppose the police presence on the estate and use of surplus space, the

proposed change to the podium is upsetting. The landscaping change will be months if not longer

of disturbing noise, which has already been non stop due to the heating and hot water works on

the estate.

Police have no place on a residential estate, and I believe that if we have to have this police

presence on the estate, they should use what is here already and not make any structural

changes to the building.

The podium space we have is a little oasis in the middle of the city, and these works would not

only put it out of use for months, but also destroy what is already there, such as the gardening

clubs plants . This will also be detrimental to people who live on the ground floors of the square, as

they are now level with the podium. The changes will affect mobility, light and accessibility to these

residents.

 

Overall I strongly oppose both the police base and the raised podium works and I hope the City

put the needs of the residents at the top of their thoughts when this is being discussed.

Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Julian  Bailey

Address: 13C Petticoat Tower London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:the placing of heating plant / extractor fans into Artizan Street location fails to

understand the noise corridor of Artizan Street and the closeness to residential properties whose

window and balconies are directly above this area. This will create noise, vibrations and fumes into

these properties. Already we experience vibrations and noise from the estate's own heating

system. The plant should be in a location where the noise , vibrations and fumes is underneath the

Police property - in the basement or ground floor carpark area by Gravel Lane. There should no

increase in noise, fumes or vibrations in residential properties or the Podium area

 

Already we have seen an increase in traffic and loading at the entrance to the estate by the Police

who are currently already on the Estate. and this has lead to a congested entranceway. With a

reduction in space in the ground floor carpark for trade and other visiting vehicles due to the Police

compound, this will increase the congestion in this area and the entranceway, with an increased

risk to personal safety in those areas to pedestrians.

 

The Podium was not included in the initial consultation about areas on Middlesex Street Estate

Page 156



being surplus to housing requirements, but the current plans are changing the Podium

Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Thomas Cole

Address: 441 Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:The works will be noisy and disruptive. Residents will lose access to the podium for

periods of time. The podium is lovely already, and the works will result in loss of mature plants

which will take years to replace. It's not right that these works, which are needed only to benefit

the police, will cause losses and disruption to residents while providing little benefit.

Page 160



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Jasmine Liew

Address: 7b Petticoat Tower City of London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

Comment:We have experienced so much noises and disturbances from the past few years from

COL projects or constructions. It's time to put a stop at this and focus on resolving the current

issues. An upgrade or a new project is not going to solve these nuisances themselves. It might

bring more harm than good.

Page 161



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Ms Josephine  Jago

Address: Flat 223 Petticoat square Middlesex street London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:The upheaval and noise will cause distress

Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Felice  Livornese 

Address: 12 a Petticoat tower London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

Comment:Disruption to my business at 1 -5 white kennett street LA PIAZZETTA BISTRO BAR

Page 168



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Lucinda Martin

Address: 209 Petticoat Square LONDON

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I simply do not understand why the destroying of the podium, as it is, is necessary.

 

I understand that the water membrane is now pretty much useless and that it has to be replaced.

However, there are definite feelings that although the CoL has declared the run of shops on

Gravel Lane as surplus to requirements, the same does not and should not apply to the podium. I

understand that the surveyors, etc. have said that the raising of the height of the podium in parts is

necessary for the insulation required by building regulations, but both jobs, surely, can be done

from underneath?

 

Many people on the estate, but particularly those, like me, who live on the podium, are deeply

upset by these plans. Eric and Ted, the gardening club stalwarts, have laboured for more than a

decade to make the space as lovely as it is and are aghast at all their hard work and care

potentially being ripped up. Despite the promise of the planting being replaced 125%, we all know

that gardens take time to mature, and it will be years before it will resemble anything like it is now.

 

I am relatively new to the Square, but I love it as it is and will be devastated to lose such a rare

and peaceful mature space (never mind the horror and disruption of the actual work).

Page 169



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr JUAN CASTILLO

Address: 6D PETTICOAT TOWER PETTICOAT SQUARE LONDON

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:- The majority of neighbours are against the project. The Corporation conducted a door-

to-door survey and over 70% of residents were against it. The Corporation refused these results

and continued with the project anyway against the resident's opinion.

 

- For the last 5 months the level of noise has been unacceptable due to the heating installations,

which are due to continue for a year. If this project is approved residents will suffer from increased

noise, and vibrations, which will lower considerably the quality of life in the state.

 

- Reduction in space available will increase the risk to personal safety

Page 170



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Peter Rawlinson

Address: 9b Petticoat Tower London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I live on the Middlesex Street Estate.

 

I object in the strongest possible terms.

 

The consultation has not been undertaken in a transparent way. I have no faith that our views will

alter a decision that seems to have been made behind closed doors months ago.

 

None the less I voice my objections:

 

This is a housing estate. I dont want to live above a police station - so their original base can be

sold off for yet another boutique hotel or million pound apartments. It will diminish the residential

and quiet nature of the estate.

 

The works to the podium will cause massive disruption and noise. So called improvements will not

compensate. If the COL think Improvements / maintained is needed this should come from

existing COL budgeting and should not depend on application gain money like this proposal.

 

The plant works will cause inevitably cause new additional noise and long term maintenance will

Page 171



build in new noise and disruption to our peace going forward.

 

I have no faith that traffic will not pose new problems. Blue lights will be run. The location is

completely unsuited to this use. If an armed unit or other emergency unit is called at 3am this will

happen. It should happen on Bishopsgate not a residential street such as those surrounding our

homes.

 

We have experienced so many piece meal 'improvements'. So much noise and dust. Each with

different engineering and architectural approaches. The initial vision for the estate and podium us

being destroyed and this application will make matters worse.

 

I believe that the COL has already made its decision - but I look forward to being supplied and

some faith restored.

 

Peter Rawlinson

9b Petticoat Tower

Middlesex Street Estate

London

E1 7EE

Page 172



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Jessica Sallabank

Address: 23A Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:I would like to welcome the police to come to the estate but the current designs of their

base are not in the interests of residents.

 

The raising of the Podium, the restrictions in access to and from the estate and putting cycling

parking in the basement are all bad ideas.

 

New corridors and windowless passages will make the basement and the ground floor car parks

less open and I will feel reluctant to walk alone down there, no matter what lighting or CCTV is put

in.

 

I am concerned about the increase in traffic, sirens in and around the estate and the lack of

parking, turning and loading spaces being provided for residents.

 

I am also worried about the loss of greenery and wildlife on the Podium shared garden, which is

for residents and their families to enjoy. It will take years to grow back, if it does at all.

Page 173



 

The police are taking up too much space, changing the architecture and amenities of the Estate

and requiring the residents to put up with and be disrupted by their changes, when they should be

more considerate and sensitive to residents who live here.

 

The fans installed since the police first moved into the estate have caused disruption and

annoyance, and the new development is likely to increase this.

 

It seems like every decision signed off in good faith by planning committee has negative or

unintended consequences for residents.

 

We should turn the tide on this, starting with this application. And really make sure the designs are

as good and unintrusive as they can be, in order to benefit residents and the wider community.

 

Otherwise in future we may regret having the police as neighbours, if the changes they require

come at such a cost.

Page 174



Page 175



MSERA wishes to object strongly to the development, change of use and elements
of the design of the proposed City of London Police (CoLP) Eastern Base in this
location, and the exterior changes.

We represent the views of many residents across 234 properties on the Middlesex
Street Estate (MSE), have examined the plans carefully and know the site better
than anyone.

This proposed change of use - turning a large part of a purpose-built housing estate
into an operational base for the CoLP - is unprecedented in its scale and
implications.

As such, the proposed development should be considered very carefully, given the
foreseeable impact on residents and some commercial tenants, including
considerable loss of amenity and access, and risks to the community’s rights as
individuals to “quiet enjoyment of their homes,” whether they be a social tenant,
leaseholder or sub-letting tenant.

MSERA notes and appreciates the efforts to include residents’ representatives in a
Community Steering Group for the project and also that some of their
recommendations and suggestions have been heard, and influenced the design.

However from the start, we believe the needs and specifications of the police
have been prioritised over the needs and concerns of residents. Invasive and
significant alterations to the internal and external architecture, access and
amenities on the estate are being proposed, which we do not believe are
reasonable, proportionate or justified.
The approved police occupancy is for a period of 20 years, yet the proposal
will fundamentally change the architecture of the estate. Although not granted
listed status, the MSE’s architecture is recognised and admired by many as
definitively modernist or brutalist housing, bearing comparison to more
famous sites such as the Barbican, Golden Lane Estate and Trellick Tower
(see Young, The Council House, ISBN: 978-1-914314-16-2). We believe this
architecture and character is worth protecting, not altering with unnecessary
and intrusive alterations for the benefit of the police.
Despite public pledges from the CoLP Commissioner to be “good
neighbours,” we dispute many of the claimed “benefits” to residents described
in the proposal. We believe that the proposal is only necessary because of
CoLP’s own decision to relocate its headquarters to a new building in Fleet
Street, and that the chosen site is a cheap and convenient option for the police,
but far from ideal for the community.
It would quite obviously make far more practical sense for the force to have
their own, purpose-built site for a base in the east of the City - or at least one
that does not require change of use - rather than moving into this housing
estate.
But if that policy decision cannot be reversed, we respectfully suggest that the
priorities and impact of this application are tipped back in favour of residents
who live on this estate, 24/7, rather than police occupants who will be based
here for work, even if that work involves vital public service.
With reference to particular parts of the application and grounds for objection in
the Corporation’s own planning guidance:

1. The Podium and landscaping

a) Raising the substantial part of the Podium – a shared community
garden - by around 45cm, is solely for the police’s benefit and for
residents will reduce our access routes, privacy as well as causing
considerable disruption and potential loss of amenity (planting,
ecology, quiet space, play areas, landscaping).

b) The CoLP does not have any obvious rights to intrude into the
Podium area as this shared community garden has not been declared
“surplus” to housing use, only the car parks below it. Yet the changes
above the surface of the Podium and location of amenities such as the
proposed community garden room, have been dictated by CoLP
security concerns and legal advice.

Page 176



c) The Podium was formerly public highway but is now considered a
private garden for residents’ use. But the legal status and liabilities for
maintaining this area has never been formally clarified and we oppose
such large-scale external alterations solely for the benefit of the police.
We recognise that water-proofing and remedial works to the Podium
may be necessary but the amenities in themselves, such as enhanced
landscaping and community facilities, could and should be provided
without a 45cm raise.

d) Furthermore the proposed raising of the Podium was only made
public very late, after the areas below it were declared surplus. Neither
residents nor councillors were aware of this knock-on effect when the
car park was declared surplus.

e) It has since become clear that most of the raise is not required for
insulation or waterproofing, as we were originally told, but to provide
a physical void space or “stand-off zone” to protect the Commissioner
and her officers, against risks up to including potential “corporate
manslaughter” liability in the worst-case scenario of e.g. a catastrophic
terrorist attack(!).

f) At the same time, it is suggested that the presence of the police will
make residents safer, but the CoLP cannot have it both ways.

g) The City of London Corporation also has a duty of care to its social
tenants and leaseholders, which are compromised by all sorts of
implications raised by increasing the risks of terrorism, or physical
threats, on the Estate, as well as the foreseeable issues with
accessibility and protection against accidents with installing a large
raised platform, ramps and steps.

h) We do not believe the proposed interpretation and application of
police building standards to an existing housing estate is reasonable,
necessary or proportionate. It also raises serious questions about
security and how a private, enclosed garden that is the front door,
amenity space and access path for many MSE residents can be less
valuable than police interests or potential (and unlikely) legal liabilities
in worst-case scenarios.

i) Residents are also concerned about the loss of plants, greening and
wildlife from these changes. Although replacements are promised, the
disruption will be considerable and levels of “nature” not returned to
current state (if at all) for several years.

(Grounds for objection: policy and use, amenity, community
facilities, means of access, overlooking, character and appearance,
design, materials to be used, layout, density, design of the external
appearance, impact on the historic environment)

2. Car parks, access and traffic:

j) Police parking and access is being prioritised over residents and
commercial tenants, who are being relegated from the ground floor to the
basement car park, solely to facilitate the parking of the police’s “high top
vans”. This will result in a loss of both existing rights of way and available
parking spaces for all other users of the estate. As an alternative to this
proposal, we would support the construction or provision of alternative
parking sites for their large vehicles, especially, which has required them to
take over the Ground Floor car park, much to the detriment of residents’
interests. If these cannot be provided then the Corporation should be
required to provide alternative parking, electric charging points and/or
drop off sites for residents, goods vehicles or visitors to the MSE in close
and convenient proximity to the estate.

Page 177



k) Drilling through concrete walls, installing expensive cycle lifts and
creating new pedestrian access routes is also proposed, simply because the
CoLP is not prepared to compromise on parking or arrangement of its
occupancy. We believe this is unreasonable and unnecessary.

l) The proposed main access routes to/from the basement will create
more blind corners and narrow turning and passing spaces, presenting
both a serious inconvenience and a potential safety risk to drivers,
cyclists and pedestrians. We predict this will increase (not reduce)
vehicle congestion and risks both in and around the Estate (particularly
at the junctions of Artizan St / Harrow Place and Cutler Street / Gravel
Lane).

m) Residents do not accept that adequate or improved parking
provision is being proposed in the basement, on the basis of two
snapshot surveys and a track record of poor enforcement and issuing,
availability of permits. We have long-term lived experience of demand
for spaces or garages being demonstrably larger than the proposed
supply of around 40 spaces, and the priority given to 240+ cycle
spaces in an inconvenient basement location will likely result in many
empty racks and wasted space.

n) CoLP and their contractors also regularly park in a way that blocks
access routes in and out of the Estate, for example while loading and
unloading confiscated vehicles onto large trailer lorries. Despite
assurances that officers will receive guidance and be “good
neighbours”, we have serious concerns about these negative impacts
continuing, as well as more noise nuisance from sirens, accelerating
engines up ramp access, etc.

(Grounds for objection: Highway safety, traffic implications and
means of access, poor visibility, pedestrian safety, parking, noise)

3. Energy / Heating

o) The proposal relies on guidance and building regulations for new
buildings or public infrastructure which again we believe is being
inappropriately applied to retrofitting or change of use.

p) Entirely new systems and additional plant equipment, for heating,
air conditioning, diesel generator, flues and louvres etc will increase –
not reduce - the carbon footprint of the estate, in contradiction with the
City’s Local Plan and climate change strategies. This will have an
impact in terms of noise, vibration and air quality, as well as altering
the site’s architectural character.

q) We find it ridiculous that CoLP are not considering contributing to
or joining with the estate’s newly-installed communal heating and hot
water system (even if they would also require emergency back-ups) as
well as removing existing Gravel Lane commercial properties off the
system. This is not only inefficient but increases the cost burden of the
communal system on residents and leaseholders.

r) There is also no suggestion that they will create or contribute to local
heat networks that are a cornerstone of the City’s suggested energy and
climate strategies.

s) The addition of a new enclosed and bricked external chimney flue
simply to provide an outlet for the back-up emergency generator (that
would never be used except in the case of a total loss of power) is also
disproportionate and unnecessary.

t) Residents also do not have confidence in the noise assessments of

Page 178



plant etc which are based on snapshot site visits in April 2022, before
background noise and regular disturbance dramatically increased in
and around the site.

u) Residents have suffered regular and persistent noise pollution for
more than three years as a result of fire alarm, sprinkler and ventilation
systems installed as a result of the CoLP first occupying areas of the
basement car park. The fire brigade was called out on dozens of
occasions needlessly and issues with noise pollution have not been
resolved despite frequent and regular complaints. Residents predict
only more potentially unforeseen complications and negative impacts
if separate systems are installed as proposed, solely for the benefit and
use of the police.

(Grounds for objection: policy and use, noise and disturbance, hours
of use, character and appearance, design, materials to be used,
layout, density, design of the external appearance, impact on the
historic environment)

4. Policy and Planning References:

v) Section 10, paragraph 130 of the latest National Policy Planning
Framework states that planning policies and decisions should “ensure that
developments: a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the
area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development…
create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and
future users… and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.” We
believe all the current application tests many of these assumptions, based
on the reasons above.

w) The core priority of the current City Plan, published in 2015 and valid
until 2026 and beyond, is “sustainable development” and identifies the
Aldgate area as a Key Place with the following issues: the area “has
significant potential for development but suffers from high traffic levels,
pollution and a lack of street activity. Residents living on the Mansell and
Middlesex Street Estates have lower levels of employment and poorer
health than others in the City. Highway changes and regeneration are
needed to improve safety, the environment and amenities, improve the
health and well-being of local residents and provide further development
and employment opportunities.”

x) It is difficult to see how the current application addresses most of these
identified issues. In fact, it is likely to increase traffic levels, pollution,
decrease “street activity” by closing Gravel Lane shops.

y) Furthermore, although the proposed indoor gym and other amenities
may help improve health and wellbeing of local residents, we fear that
benefits of the proposal could be offset by negative effects, such as
complicating access to / from the estate and its amenities, and not
contributing to positive highway changes and regeneration.

z) The CoLP’s own City of London Policing Plan (2022-25) also lists
“compassion” as one of its core values, adding: “We will act with humanity
and kindness, ensuring our people and communities are treated with care
and respect. We will create a culture of belonging and mutual trust and
respect.” We believe the current proposal undermines some of the spirit of
this statement, given the above reasons.

(Grounds: policy and use, design, layout, density, design of the external
appearance, impact on the historic environment, local, strategic, regional
and national planning policies and statements)

Formal request to speak at the local planning authority committee meeting:

Page 179



If this application is to be decided by councillors, please take this as notice that a
representative of MSERA would like to speak at the meeting of the committee at
which this application is expected to be decided. Please let us know as soon as
possible the date of the meeting. Please address any further correspondence to
contact@msera.net

THIS E-MAIL AND ANY ATTACHED FILES ARE CONFIDENTIAL
AND MAY BE LEGALLY PRIVILEGED. If you are not the addressee, any
disclosure, reproduction, copying, distribution or other dissemination or use of
this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this
transmission in error please notify the sender immediately and then delete this
e-mail. Opinions, advice or facts included in this message are given without
any warranties or intention to enter into a contractual relationship with the
City of London unless specifically indicated otherwise by agreement, letter or
facsimile signed by a City of London authorised signatory. Any part of this e-
mail which is purely personal in nature is not authorised by the City of
London. All e-mail through the City of London's gateway is potentially the
subject of monitoring. All liability for errors and viruses is excluded. Please
note that in so far as the City of London falls within the scope of the Freedom
of Information Act 2000 or the Environmental Information Regulations 2004,
it may need to disclose this e-mail. Website: http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 180



Page 181



<image001.png>

October 13, 2023

To whom it may concern,

Comments on Planning Application Reference: 23/00882/FULL

Response from the Petticoat Square Leaseholders Association (PSLA), representing
some 67 long leaseholders of properties on the Middlesex Street Estate.

1. The PSLA wishes to object to this proposed application, which proposes
major changes to the architecture and use of the Estate without due regard
for the impact and costs that will be passed on to residents and
leaseholders.

2. The proposed internal and external changes could ruin the intrinsic
character of the estate and its residential amenities for a period of at least
20 years, and likely more.

3. As individual long leaseholders our leases each contain descriptions of
the building and property as definitively housing, with rights to use the
parts of the building for all residents, including footpaths, driveways and
estate gardens. These deemed rights of way and amenity will be removed
or reduced by this proposal, in violation of the descriptions and terms in
the lease.

4. Despite what is claimed about capital costs being covered, the proposals
will also have estimated financial cost of thousands of pounds a year for
leaseholders in the form of increased service charges: for maintenance,
repairs of new facilities, car park manager and so on. The City of London
Police are likely not to pay a set or annual “rent” for the future use of their
occupancy as is the Corporation’s convention, so we dispute the opaque
funding arrangements over 20 years of this project.

5. The proposal would in effect see costs of police occupancy passed on to
the service charge account when those “benefits” would appear to be of
limited benefit to residents, disproportionately of value to the police, and
therefore not represent value for money to either tenants and leaseholders
on the estate.

6. At the same time, the police will make millions from selling off their old
assets, moving to Fleet Street and, in a non-competitive tender, be gifted
space on the estate by the Corporation that could have been used for more
community benefit.

7. We dispute that the estimated £2.7 million value of “benefits” which the
City has suggested come from this project. The largest part, the cost of the
Podium and Roof Waterproofing is an estimated £1.5 million, which
although arguably necessary, is primarily of benefit to the Police to keep
the first floor car park area dry, insulated and soundproofed, and provide
security protection to their area. It will result in negative effects for
residents and loss of amenity and access, so should not be presented as
mainly a “benefit” to residents.

8. The cost of running and maintaining the car park areas of MSE has never
been recoverable from residents or leaseholders and should not be in
future. Any charges applicable to these areas should not be passed on to
residents, who are losing - not gaining - access and usage rights to the
space previously declared “surplus” to Housing requirements.

9. The City of London Police are not connecting or contributing towards the
communal heating and hot water system and removing commercial
properties from it. This means that the cost share of this already expensive

Page 182



and unpopular system will increase for leaseholders. This is unacceptable.

10. Also unacceptable is the proposed reduction in non-police parking
spaces on the Estate, from (67 current, 34 in future, plus 2 disabled bays)
and garages (potential 22 reduced to 14) in the ground floor and basement
car parks. Planned provision of electric vehicle charging points is
inadequate.

11. Residents should not be liable or suffer from any reductions in revenue
to the parking account that will result from reducing the number of
rentable residential and commercial spaces.

12. We dispute the City of London Police’s right to determine the design
and layout of the Podium including the proposed raise, location of
community room, etc, as this area has not been declared surplus to housing
use. There have been no amendments to the lease or statutory
consultations regarding charging leaseholders for costs or long-term
agreements relating to the podium, as such we dispute how any benefits or
costs are chargeable to residents in this area.

13. We dispute that the large-scale structural alterations to the estate
including removal of garages in the basement, installation of a police lift
and a cycle lift and creation of narrow internal access routes is necessary or
appropriate. The police should be more flexible and respectful of the layout
and architecture of the estate.

14. In effect, the recommendation seeks to levy charges across all 234
properties on the estate for security and maintenance of communal car
park areas which, by definition of their new design, will only be used by a
minority of residents – and parts of which fall under the City’s own
responsibilities to provide access to disabled residents. A planning
condition should be that service charges to leaseholders should be reduced
overall because of this.

15. The City of London Police occupancy will be the primary reason for
increased monitoring and security on the estate, and also the primary
cause of excess congestion in the parking area and surrounding streets,
which will require careful management. The Corporation and CoL Police
should bear the costs of managing these consequences themselves and
planning conditions imposed now to nullify or vastly reduce the cost
burden on leaseholders and residents from any “car park management
plan” or similar alterations brought about as a result of this proposal.

In addition here is a short summary of general objections, on various grounds:

· Overlooking/loss of privacy – raising the Podium offers a platform to
anyone who wishes to snoop on nearby properties

· Visual amenity – external chimneys, heavy security gates and louvres next
to the main entrance to the estate will detract from the estate’s original
design and create an unwelcoming impression.

· Adequacy of parking/loading/turning space – compromised massively by
forcing residents and other users into a reconfigured basement car park,
and reducing space in ground floor service area.

· Road access, Highway safety – negotiating blind corners, or one-in, one-
out ramp into basement; increased risk for pedestrians using rights of way.

· Traffic generation – more police vehicles will increase traffic and
congestion in the local area, not reduce it; with a negative effect on air
quality which is already among the worst in UK. Police already have a
history of blocking access routes off Artizan Street and Harrow Place with
large vehicles.

Page 183



· Noise and disturbance resulting from use – cars and motorbikes will
loudly accelerate up ramps, police will use their sirens (despite any
promises), heat pumps and diesel generators will produce noise and
vibration nuisance to nearby properties.

· Hazardous materials – including diesel fuel, and such substances or
materials that the police will store on the estate.

· Loss of wildlife, trees – due to landscaping of the Podium, it will be
difficult to save or recover.

· Layout and density of building – Police specifications have been prioritised
over residents, who will have to detour around the raised level of the
Podium, car park access will be restricted and corridors for vehicles or
pedestrians will be narrow and less safe.

· Design, appearance and materials – Police’s specifications have been
prioritised over residents. Decking is not appropriate on the Podium,
opaque glass frontages on Gravel Lane will reduce the appearance of
activity and human interest and make the street less appealing.

Yours sincerely

The PSLA Committee

THIS E-MAIL AND ANY ATTACHED FILES ARE CONFIDENTIAL
AND MAY BE LEGALLY PRIVILEGED. If you are not the addressee, any
disclosure, reproduction, copying, distribution or other dissemination or use of
this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this
transmission in error please notify the sender immediately and then delete this
e-mail. Opinions, advice or facts included in this message are given without
any warranties or intention to enter into a contractual relationship with the
City of London unless specifically indicated otherwise by agreement, letter or
facsimile signed by a City of London authorised signatory. Any part of this e-
mail which is purely personal in nature is not authorised by the City of
London. All e-mail through the City of London's gateway is potentially the
subject of monitoring. All liability for errors and viruses is excluded. Please
note that in so far as the City of London falls within the scope of the Freedom
of Information Act 2000 or the Environmental Information Regulations 2004,
it may need to disclose this e-mail. Website: http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 184



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Merril Jenkins-Rose

Address: 6 Craven Avenue Ealing London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:I am a grandmother of two young children who live on the Middlesex Street Estate and

a regular visitor.

 

I have respect for the police but I do not see why they need to build a base in the middle of a

housing estate and take over a large part of the car parks.

 

I understand the Podium shared garden, which is used for recreation by young and old alike, will

be ripped up and replaced but with ramps and steps. This will create inconvenient detours and I

believe will present trip hazards for toddlers, older people or those with mobility problems.

 

It seems so unnecessary and will annoy and frustrate everyone who uses the area, but particularly

those who live immediately next to the shared space.

 

As someone who uses a car to visit the estate, the prospect of parking and maneuvering up and

down ramps in the basement is also terrifying and does not seem practical or wise, whether you

are using a car, bike or on foot. It is hard enough to navigate the one way streets, traffic and

Page 185



pedestrians around the Travelodge and shops as it is.

 

I also have reservations about the disruption and noise this will involve, especially as my family

who live on the estate have been disturbed and disrupted by all sorts of construction and

upheavals in the last few years. They and other residents cannot seem to get a break!

 

I welcome the gym, a community garden room and a more accessible estate office as I remember

when the previous office was on the podium and it was easier to "drop in".

 

However overall I am uneasy about the impact that this development may have on the estate I

have known and regularly visited for 15 years.

 

Yours faithfully,

 

Merril Rose

Page 186



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Jeffrey  Boloten 

Address: 425 Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Other

Comment:* privacy issues

*loss of mature green spaces

Page 187



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs Natalie Coughlan

Address: 7D petticoat Tower Petticoat Sqaure London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I strongly object. Raising the level of a very high percentage of the podium will result in

loss of amenity and increased risk to children. Also the installation of various items of plant on the

first floor level will increase noise. We have enough noise pollution on our estate as it is.

Reduction of space available to manage the arrival, parking and departure of vehicles with

legitimate reasons to use the estate parking is a huge concern as it will increase the risk to

personal safety of residents. With these proposals the residents have not been considered at all

and I strongly object!

Page 188



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Paul Coughlan

Address: 7D Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I strongly object. Raising the level of a very high percentage of the podium will result in

loss of amenity and increased risk to children. Also the installation of various items of plant on the

first floor level will increase noise. We have enough noise pollution on our estate as it is.

Reduction of space available to manage the arrival, parking and departure of vehicles with

legitimate reasons to use the estate parking is a huge concern as it will increase the risk to

personal safety of residents. I really worry for my young children and how this will affect them,

especially my Autistic Son with these proposals the residents have not been considered at all and

I strongly object!

Page 189



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Sean Coughlan

Address: 7D Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I strongly object to these proposals. I am autistic and the noise created from the

installation of various items of plant on first floor level and the podium will be increased. I also

have asthma and fumes will also come from this which will affect me. Also the raising of the

podium we will have less space to play which is not fair as we have no garden.

Page 190



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Craig MacVicar

Address: 22B Petticoat Tower Artizan Street London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I strongly oppose the proposals as the word will be intrusive and noisy for residents. We

have already had months of building work with the new heating system being installed. I think this

further work would have a negative impact on residents livelihoods. Also I believe that police have

no place on a residential estate.

Page 191



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  lisa Hollick

Address: 221 Petticoat Sq Petticoat Sq LONDON

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Councillor/Ward Member

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

Comment:The proposal to change the purpose of the carpark isobjected to because of the

disruption to the podium. Already the fans from the car park are spoiling the peace and quiet we

used to have outside our home. It is stressful living with noise pollution and these renovations ( to

accomodate the car park by highering the roof) are set to destroy sence of wellbeing for a

considerable period of time.

Page 192



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Emily Coughlan

Address: 7D Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I strongly object. Raising the level of a very high percentage of the podium will result in

loss of amenity and increased risk to children. Also the installation of various items of plant on the

first floor level will increase noise. We have enough noise pollution on our estate as it is.

Reduction of space available to manage the arrival, parking and departure of vehicles with

legitimate reasons to use the estate parking is a huge concern as it will increase the risk to

personal safety of residents. With these proposals the residents have not been considered at all

and I strongly object!

Page 193



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Robert Valenta 

Address: 18c Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I do not like the planning design of the podium at all, as it's done without a proper

knowledge of our community. It's design to meet the Police requirements. Also, I don't feel there

has been full transparency either, even though Com Com state so.

 

The Door Knocking excersise was done when most people are at work. The workshop event

hosted by Com Com and the City was not advertised on any of the boards on the various estate

entrances...why? As a result, a lit of residence did not know about it. I highlighted this poor

approach to Com Com at one of their workshops

Page 194



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Anne Kilroy

Address: 18d Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:It is a poor design and does not meet our community needs and spirit. The workshops

and Door Knocking conducted by the City and Com Com was done while I was at work which is

strange, so I feel things are being hidden from us deliberately

Page 195



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Riley Kilroy Valenta

Address: 18d Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I don't want anymore construction noise on this estate. It's affecting my wellbeing as I

got unilateral hearing loss with occasional tinnitus. It's hard with all the noise as it is, and the City

does not care and does nothing about it. It's affecting my life badly.

 

What I have seen of the design, nothing has been done with teenagers in mind. I mentioned this at

a workshop.

 

Please no more construction noise on the estate I grew up on

Page 196



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Soo Cheong

Address: 7B Petticoat Tower City of London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:Have been living here for over 12 years and have seen all the changes being promises

by COL. Majority of those projects were just not beneficial to the community. I strongly object this

project as this would not do good for us.

Page 197



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Sue Liew

Address: 7B Petticoat Tower City of London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:A big NO! We don't need more nuisances in this estate. We don't need a police car park

based in the tower. High traffic, noises and more disturbances are not welcomed. We don't need

more officers using the car park, blocking neighbours way.

Page 198



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Jean Liew

Address: 7B Petticoat Tower City of London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:NO! NO! NO! We do not need more nuisances and noises especially with the police

facility. Have you thought about the traffic? Noise? Safety? The neighborhood?

Page 199



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Yoke Liew

Address: 302 Petticoat square City of london

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:I strongly oppose this project, I don't want any police facility or podium greens being

damaged. It will cause lots of noise, safety issues and disturbance to us.

Page 200



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Chee Seong Cheng

Address: 302 Petticoat square City of London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:I strongly oppose this project, dislike police facility or podium greens being damaged. It

will cause lots of noise, safety issues and disturbance to us.

Page 201



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Owen Bramley

Address: 23C Petticoat Tower London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:Reduction in space for parking and vehicle access amenity and safety. It is not clear

that there is enough provision for secure cycle storage for all. Installation of plant at first floor level

detrimental to use of the podium. Raising the height of the podium to resulting in loss of amenity.

Page 202



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Amy Chan

Address: 443 petticoat square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:The podium works are unnecessary.

They will cause disruption to estate residents for a long time, without real tangible benefits over

what residents currently have,

Plus the different levels in the new proposed podium is a real negative.

The police use of the estate is also really bad idea,

Because the city of london council is pretty bad at implementing any building projects.

They have a very bad record of getting anything right and this project will also be poorly

implemented, with residents having to suffer the effects of the mismanagement

Page 203



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Kamila Lawcel

Address: 2A Petticoat Tower London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:Unfortunately we are very unhappy with this new project. We have been lied by

cooperation the police base ll be only for 2.5 years and won't affect residents. since beginning we

been mislead. 14 residents lost rights to the garages in the basements and most of them never

replaced. No compensation at all for our inconvenience. Lots of people used garage some of the

had to rent another shed to keep bikes or car equipment. The gate was always broken even we

paid on the time and we never had free garage due to inconvenience and against insurance

policy!!! (Open garage)

Second thing lifting up podium it will ruin our children place to ride the bikes, make more difficult

disable people.

My windows are right bellow flor level. any surface touching my windows will course the dump and

mould in my place I am strongly unhappy!!!

Noise from fans which they been instilled in the basement for police closing so much noise and

trouble and city of london do not do nothing g about this!! Imagine more noise coming from 1st ,

ground floor levels made by police!!!

Other thing purpose of police units at the moment is not clear. We been lied in to the face police

Page 204



do not use basement for car spraying, so once they in they ll thing they are not touchable and they

can do whatever. Been stoped by police of Tile-gating unfortunately it's them moved here and we

just using our garage. Planing to have chairs and seating area outside my bedroom windows on

the podium is also against the law I have a Human Rights to live in peaceful place!!!

The police cars blocking entry with lorry to collect bikes and broken cars from basement. Changing

doors to be more secure for police will make more difficult exit for disable and old residents!!!

I am discussed and disappointed with the corporation how dear you let down all Residents in

Middlesex street. shame

Page 205



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs Gailie Anderson

Address: 433 Petticoat Square Middlesex St London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:Plumbers, electricians, broadband providers, plasterers and large item delivery

companies all need access to the ground floor parking in order to transport their equipment and

tools to the lifts. There is no street parking on Middlesex St next to the lifts and metered parking on

Gravel Lane and Harrow Place are always full. I have been flooded by the flat upstairs three times

in the past 2 years and need to give tradesmen easy access to my property. Where are tradesmen

going to park if the ground floor level is solely for the use of the police? Are there going to be any

provisions for tradesmen? The ground floor carpark also has a cage for large item waste that can't

fit down the rubbish shute. Are the residents still going to have access to this caged area? If not,

where are residents expected to place their large items of waste?

Page 206



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr damien vaugh

Address: 1 Antrim Road Belfast

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Other

Stance: Customer made comments neither objecting to or supporting the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I am a leaseholder in Petticoat Tower, In principle I am in favour of the new eastern

base being located at Middlesex Street Estate however I have some reservations . I would

welcome a police presence as it would improve safety in the area and on the estate. The areas

being proposed have been underused for many years despite attempts to find commercial or other

uses. The police base would in my opinion be a suitable use for the premises. Unfortunately where

I disagree with the proposal to disturb the podium in the process of making the premises below fit

for purpose. The podium should be enhanced but not by raising the level by half a meter.

Page 207



From: Mark Lemanski 
Sent: Friday, October 13, 2023 6:33 PM
To: Figueira, Pearl < >
Subject: Re: 23/00882/FULL

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL

Dear Pearl,

I am writing regarding the above planning application.

I strongly object to the proposed appropriation of parts of the Middlesex Street 
Housing Estate for a police station, and the associated redesign of commercial and 
residential amenity spaces at basement, ground, first floor and podium level, as 
well as changes to Gravel Lane, all of which will reduce public and residents’ 
amenity space and have detrimental effects on safety and wellbeing.

Undercroft:
The proposed undercroft would be ugly and unsafe for pedestrians and cyclists, 
with long corridors with dead corners, lack of visual permeability throughout, and 
no pedestrian priority routes amid a steep increase in car traffic.  Any proposed 
change should give clear priority to pedestrians over cars, with improved visibility. 
Visual permeability needs to be increased, with no barriers and dead corners, and 
careful positioning of bins.  Bin areas, bulk collections areas and cycle stands should 
be positioned to be as accessible, safe and visible as possible, not squeezed into 
available left over spaces. Pedestrian corridors need to have visual permeability to 
adjoining spaces to help residents to be and to feel safer. They should not have a 
double use to transport wheely bins on a regular basis.
Only two parking spaces for disabled users are shown at ground level, which is 
insufficient according to the London Plan.
The presented layout is of poor quality, in that it tries to pack maximum amenity 
into the smallest possible footprint without consideration for design, thereby 
exacerbating the negative qualities of the nested layout of the estate, adding new 
long corridors and unsupervised corners that will make this feel less safe than it is 
at the moment. The proposed semi public use would make access control of the 
undercroft almost impossible, so the space will not only feel but also be a lot 
unsafer.

Basement:
The proposed basement layout would be so convoluted that it would be 
labyrinthian and unsafe. It does not seem to comply with Safe By Design guidelines.

Podium:

Page 208



The proposed level changes to the podium would decrease available amenity
space, substantially reduce amenity space for residents (by creating extensive
‘buffer’ spaces along the perimeter and taking up space for steps and ramps) and
be less accessible to less able-bodied residents.  Existing mature and well loved
planting and green areas are shown to be removed and replaced with new planting.
Seedlings would take decades to mature. Residents shouldn’t first be subjected to
loss of amenity for the duration of the building works, which is bad enough, to then
miss out on visual amenity, birdsong etc for five years or more. Existing plants
should be retained where possible, and new plants should be of mature stock, so
that amenity and biodiversity isn’t impacted more than necessary. The current
extent of planting needs to be at least retained.
Layouts and materials would not harmonise with the architecture. Diagonals and
curves are very incongruent to the considered and confident structuralist and
brutalist language of the estate. They introduce a language at odds with the
estate’s design ethos, which like the planter design on Artizan Street, just adds a
confused sense of clutter. The design should either be sufficiently different from
the estate’s original architecture, and introduce a really organic natural design, or it
should be harmonious and strict.

Gravel Lane:
I am dismayed that the quality of Gravel Lane urbanistically and economically would
be entirely disregarded. The ground floor shop units are an important part of the
architectural identity of the estate, and the feel of the wider area. The active
frontage is essential for what Jane Jacobs coined ‘Eyes on the street’, which is
essential to a safe and welcoming urban environment, especially in a location
struggling with anti social behaviour and criminal activity including drug use. The
proposed film will form an anonymous frontage (as demonstrated by the wellbeing
centre around the corner) regardless of what ‘artwork’ will go onto it.  The shops
are of essential quality not just on gravel lane, but also with regards to the
permeability and attractiveness of the wider area, which the Aldgate Bid so
desperately tries to improve. The presented proposals run counter to these efforts
and any good urban design practice.  The proposed public realm design is poor: The
proposed public seating in what would be an unsupervised streetscape would invite
anti-social behaviour. And the trees in planters are a repeat of the trees in planters
on Harrow Place, which died and were removed last year.

Comments specific to cycle storage:
Current cycling regulations at the end of these comments, which stipulate that
cycle storage need to be close to entrance points at ground level, convenient,
easier to access than cars, supervised, safe, and easily accessibly for residents of all
ages and abilities. The proposed design does the exact opposite.
To use the proposed basement cycle storage, residents would have to push their
bicycle (incl any shopping and maybe a young child on bikes) through four sets of
doors, many of which one leaf only and opening towards you, some heavy
firedoors, none automated. And navigate a lift. This is impossible. Even with fully
automated doors, which are bound to break. The proposed cycling storage is
practically unusable.
Upright cycle storage as shown should be avoided, as less able bodied residents

Page 209



and children will be unable to use them.
I think that the number of guideline compliant cycle spaces is insufficient. Under
current standards, the London Plan stipulates a minimum of 1 bike parking space
per studio/1 bedroom unit, and 2 spaces for larger dwelling types. The majority of
the 234 flats of the estate are 2 bedrooms or more, which translates into a
requirement of well over 300 bicycle spaces. The London Plan also says that
‘Consideration should be given to providing spaces accessible to less conventional
bicycle types, such as tricycles, cargo bicycles and bicycles with trailers.’
The proposed location would be inferior to the current location in almost every
single criterium. Even if the basement was redecorated and equipped with better
lighting and CCTV, this would not make it safe or compliant.

Comments on design generally:
The proposals display little understanding of the existing architectural qualities. The
20th century society issued a letter underlining for example the particular quality of
the existing bin chutes (attached), one of which the architects have again proposed
to box in. The design of the undercroft does not at all respond to the original
careful architectural design, which features high quality in-situ concrete including
rounded corners and waffle ceilings, decorative brick facing, self coloured robust
materials. Instead they propose cheap panelling and partitions that will not
withstand the movement of bins, and will look shabby in no time.  The podium
design is entirely alien to the original podium design and the surrounding
architecture.
The design quality is too low overall. Could good designers from the GLA’s
architecture and urbanism panel be selected to take on the detail design of these
proposals if they get the go-ahead despite residents’ opposition?

Comments on safety:  Safety would be a huge problem, predominantly in the
basement, but also for the Ground Floor and all communal areas.  A large number
of people would be given access to the Ground Floor, and therefore the communal
circulation areas of the estate. Access control would be more vulnerable, as any
gates would be more likely to fail through increased use, and access by
unauthorised members of the public, which has already been a huge problem in
the past, would increase.
What is currently a relatively escapable and easy to overview area will become
really risky, with long corridors, poor visibility corners, limited alternative escape
possibilities, access given to a large number of people, and perimeter safety
compromised. This runs counter to all recommendations in Safe By Design. The
proposals would make Middlesex Street estate less safe for residents and visitors.

Comments on applicable standards:
Because the proposed changes incl change of use are substantial, the guidance
contained within the current London Plan, which provides a sound framework to
provide residents with a good standard of amenity provision, should be applied.
The regulations in the London Plan translates current laws and policy (for example
with regards to climate and transport, or disability discrimination) into workable
guidelines based on statistic averages. In developing cycle and parking numbers,
CoL officers have used their own methodology, which seem to be pulled from thin

Page 210



air, based on specific counts rather than statistical averages. This is a inadequate
methodology, a) because the numbers are artificially low through low availability of
parking permits and high prices (in the case of f car parking spaces) or bicycle
parking (unsafe, not covered by insurance, people keep bikes in storage units
instead) and b) it does not take account of future use.
If bicycle numbers for example are below average, CoL should respond by thinking
what you could do to promote cycling in line with the City’s/London’s/UK’s climate
policy and active travel obligations.
Comments on consultation:
I would also like to comment on the consultation, which was poor. Many events
were visited by only a handful of residents. There is huge consultation fatigue on
the estate, due to the number of projects happening, and also due to the disregard
of residents’ views during recent ‘consultations’. Residents are regularly presented
with design options that will all detrimentally affect the estate, there is never an
option to retain the status quo or request a better design. The City of London
regularly instrumentalises flawed and leading processed to claim that any design
taken forward was developed in consultation with ‘residents’, which is misleading
and in my view unethical.
In this case, the decision to declare elements of the estate as ‘surplus to housing
requirement’ in the first place was made without adequately assessing current and
future spatial requirements of residents and businesses, and therefore  based on an
overly optimistic and misleading representation of the extent of ‘housing
requirements’. For example, in response to the obesity and environmental crisis,
other CoL housing estates have more attractive secure and safe bicycle storage incl
repair facilities, and cater to the rise of cargo bikes, which will become much more
common and take up a lot more space than standard bikes.  The games court area
on the podium is causing noise disturbance but is essential as play provision for
older children as required in the London Plan. A relocation to the ground floor was
requested by residents but was not considered in the housing estate’s space
requirement.
How much space would be needed to re-provide even the existing, deficient
amenity for estate residents and businesses has never been considered with
sincerity, as evidenced by a CoL officer's inability to answer even basic queries
regarding parking provision breakdowns, or pedestrian and vehicular circulation at
a walkabout. The ‘surplus requirement’ decision was never based on actual
requirements of residents and businesses, but on the spatial demands of allocating
a police station.
The cumulative corrosive effect of the reduction of amenity provision over time
(communal kitchen, accessible estate office, etc) was not considered, not were uses
that will be needed in the future (car club spaces, cargo bikes spaces, delivery
spaces etc), or even new uses that would benefit the estate and wider area
We are also concerned that the impact of any use as a police station would further
exacerbate the the number of vehicles arriving at and leaving the estate, some with
alarms, which will place an acceptable burden on residents, and this burden has not
been openly and transparently investigated and communicated.
Any decision making process with such extensive repercussions on residents’
wellbeing should have been the subject to a proper options and impact appraisal. I
think that the absence of such an appraisal, the lack of engagement with residents’

Page 211



feedback, the absence even of a schedule of existing amenity provision shows a
blunt disregard for residents’ interests. I think that this fundamentally flawed
consultation process should be  sufficient grounds to reject the proposals.

In summary,  1. The proposals would make the estate less safe, because
- residents would have to cross a heavily congested vehicular area without clearly
demarcated pedestrian areas to access bins
- many more people would given access to the estate incl its communal circulation
areas
- perimeter access to the estate would be much harder to control with frequently
opening gates, which is bound to exacerbate occurrences of rough sleeping, drug
use and theft, which have already been a problem in the past
- the proposals would create an inert facade along Gravel Lane that would provide
almost no passive surveillance
- vulnerable people incl children would be expected to store bikes in the basement,
where no-one will hear you scream. Many of the more vulnerable residents incl
children are already scared of entering the basement.

2. The proposals would make the estate less child-friendly, because
- children would be unable to access bike storage safely. The proposed location is
detrimental to all current guidance.
- The play provision for older children has now been closed for two years in breach
of policy. Some residents are opposed to the re-opening because of noise. The
undercroft is the only realistic location to re-provide the ball games area and allow
the City to fulfil its obligation to provide play space.
- see also 1.

3. The proposals would make the estate less less accommodating of less able-
bodied residents, because
- it would make access to the bins more difficult (more doors, more cars to
navigate).
- it would make access of car parking more difficult (as two lifts will be used by
police, resulting in much longer routes with additional doors etc).
- It would make access to bicycle storage for anyone but the fittest almost
impossibly difficult. (I have been disabled for two years, and was often hardly able
to open one heavy door with one arm whilst navigating my bike and shopping
through with the other. The proposals would add doors and elevators that would
allow only the fittest to access bike storage). Cargo bikes and bikes for less able-
bodied people could not access this location at all, which again would be in breach
of policy.

4. The proposals would make the estate less communal, because
- the undercroft currently serves as an informal meeting place, which also serves to
make it feel relatively safe despite its sorry state. (early co-housing designs places
bin storage in central locations in recognition of its importance as frequent informal
meeting points).
- they would take up the only space that could be used to compensate for lost
amenity space.

Page 212



- they would take up the only space that could accommodate the ball games are
and resolve the conflict between young residents who want to play and old
residents who do not want the noise from a ball games area.

5. The proposals would make living on the estate more stressful, because
- building works would follow the extremely disruptive installation of a heating
system and could coincide with the construction of a high rise building next door.
The accumulative effect of building works on residents is never considered.
- noise pollution through gate operations would worsen. even the existing shutter
means that residents cannot leave windows open at night without being repeatedly
woken. Another gate would add more noise, at much increased frequency.
- the garage alarm malfunctions, complained about for years, are already a
nuisance, this would likely worsen.
- even the police are unable to assure us that vehicles would leave without sirens
switched on, at all times of day and night.

6. The proposals would make the estate less beautiful, because
- the undercroft is an intentionally dramatic and well considered design. The
concrete waffle ceiling is typical of its time, as can be seen in the Barbican Centre,
and appreciated by any architect or designer who has ever visited the site.
- the ground floor amenity space would be further fragmented into long corridors
lines by cheap partitions, as is already demonstrated by the estate office/library.
- Gravel Lane would become an inert, blank facade, instead of the urban
contribution as which it was intended, and which any urban design guidance would
describe as valuable.

Excerpts from cycling storage guidance:

Numbers:
Residential development should provide dedicated long-stay parking space for
cycles in accordance with the London Plan and guidance in the London Cycling
Design Standards:
One long-stay space per studio or one bedroom (one-person) dwelling
One and a half long-stay spaces per one bedroom (two-person) dwelling
Two long-stay spaces per two or more bedroom dwelling.
In addition, for developments of between 5 and 40 dwellings at least two short-stay
cycle parking spaces should also be provided, with at least one additional space per
40 dwellings thereafter. [In addition, cycle parking for business employees and
visitors needs to be considered.]

Location:  In line with the London Cycling Design Standards, cycle parking should be
conveniently located, secure and accessible to all. Communal cycle stores should
have an appropriate mix of stand types and adequate spacing and facilities for
larger cycles to be accessible for all.
Designing to encourage cycling:
Cycle parking should take full account of London Plan Policy T5 and the London

Page 213



Cycling Design Standards (LCDS) and be integrated into proposals in ways that 
enable residents and visitors of a development to access it by bicycle. As such, cycle 
parking should generally be prioritised over car parking space in terms of delivering 
overall quantity requirements and in terms of convenience of location for residents.

Cycle parking should also be designed to be secure and well-located. This can 
include placing parking where people feel safe e.g. visible, well-overlooked and 
well-lit areas. Internal long-stay cycle parking areas should have access for residents 
only. Cycle parking should be close to the entrance and access should avoid 
obstacles such as stairs, multiple doors, narrow doorways and tight corners. [It 
should certainly avoid steep ramps, see below]

Parking should be located at entrance level, within, or adjacent to the circulation 
area.  Developments should also provide cycle parking provision for visitors in line 
with the London Plan requirements.

London Cycling Design Standards
8.5.3 Residential cycle parking
A lack of cycle parking in residential areas was identified by the London Assembly in 
its report
Stand and deliver: cycle parking in London (2009) as a significant factor 
discouraging people from taking up cycling as a mode of transport.  Where cycle 
parking is provided within buildings, guidance in section 8.2.1 above should be 
followed.
This includes providing level access, and avoiding multiple and narrow doorways. 
Individual or communal cycle storage outside the home should be secure, sheltered 
and adequately lit, with convenient access to the street.

With best wishes, 

Mark Lemanski

° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° ° °
Public Realm Design 
& Communication

THIS E-MAIL AND ANY ATTACHED FILES ARE CONFIDENTIAL AND 
MAY BE LEGALLY PRIVILEGED. If you are not the addressee, any 
disclosure, reproduction, copying, distribution or other dissemination or use of 
this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this 
transmission in error please notify the sender immediately and then delete this 
e-mail. Opinions, advice or facts included in this message are given without 
any warranties or intention to enter into a contractual relationship with the City 
of London unless specifically indicated otherwise by agreement, letter or 
facsimile signed by a City of London authorised signatory. Any part of this e-

Page 214



mail which is purely personal in nature is not authorised by the City of
London. All e-mail through the City of London's gateway is potentially the
subject of monitoring. All liability for errors and viruses is excluded. Please
note that in so far as the City of London falls within the scope of the Freedom
of Information Act 2000 or the Environmental Information Regulations 2004,
it may need to disclose this e-mail. Website: http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 215



Page 216



If there was an error receiving my original submission last night or in case it can be considered,
here is my restated comment below: If the earlier comment was received and is still being
processed, then please prioritise that. 

(NOTE - I tried to submit this earlier but did not receive an acknowledgement. Hence I am
resubmitting and repeating some points I made, but pls disregard if earlier comment has been
received and still being processed. Thank you).

From David Rose, 23A Petticoat Tower, London, E1 7EF.  

I am a resident and leaseholder in Petticoat Tower and a member of the Community Steering
Group for this project. 

I appreciate that residents have been able to provide feed back and have some influence on the
designs. 

However I must object to the application on the following grounds: 

PODIUM
- The Podium has not been declared as surplus to requirements yet approximately 80% of the
Podium is being raised by 45cm because the Police say it is necessary
- Residents are concerned about loss of amenity and ecology and wish to save as many mature
plants as possible by safe temporary storage while construction work is underway

NEW PLANT
- Concern that siting of plant, including air sourced heat pump and emergency power generator,
at 1st floor level will cause vibration and noise disturbance to nearby residents
- Concern about venting of fumes and exhausts of new 1st floor plant

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT
- Concern that insufficient space is provided for residents, commercial units, disabled, visitors,
waste and recycling, and Police usage at ground floor level
- Concern about the risks to resident pedestrians, resident cyclists, and other pedestrians, e.g.
City workers, when using the street level highway designated areas
- Particular concern about risks to pedestrians from vehicles exiting the basement car park

CYCLE STORAGE
- Concern that insufficient account has been taken of the ease of access to the basement level
for the less able users

ESTATE ARCHITECTURE
- Raising of approximately 80% of Podium by 45cm is not in keeping with the design aesthetic of
the estate
- Enclosing one of the characteristic bin chutes of the estate is unnecessary and not in keeping
with the design aesthetic of the estate

CONSTRUCTION PHASE

- Concern about noisy work

Page 217



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Mark Lemanski

Address: 424 Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I strongly object to the proposed appropriation of parts of the Middlesex Street Housing

Estate for use as a police station, and the associated redesign of commercial and residential

amenity spaces at basement, ground, first floor and podium level, as well as changes to Gravel

Lane, all of which would reduce public and residents' amenity space and would have detrimental

effects on safety and wellbeing.

 

I have sent a comprehensive objection to the planning officer in charge.

Page 218



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Anthony Everton

Address: Flat 3c Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

Comment:I am objecting to these plans because of the noise and disruption their implementation

will cause. I have various, significant health issues and have already found the noise and

disruption caused by the replacement of the communal heating system to have been very

stressful. I don't want any more noise and disruption.

Page 219



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Miss Molly  McPherson

Address: 3d Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I am 11 and have just started secondary school and I was disappointed and worried to

hear about the plans for the podium when my mum and dad told me. I think it will be noisy when

the workmen are doing all of this. Me and my friends love playing in the podium, but we are

worried that it will all be changed. We think we won't be able to play on the podium while the work

is being done. Another thing that worries me is that there might be more drilling and banging when

they start making part of our estate into a police station. How am I supposed to do my homework if

there is lots of noise going on all around me?

Page 220



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Dr Sharon Tugwell

Address: 3D Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I do not see the designs for this project as having a net benefit for people who are

resident on the estate. There will be yet more noise and disruption, but I personally feel the worst

thing will be the significant changes required to the podium. It's upsetting that this will firstly be out

of action for a considerable period of time and will entail the loss of some of the mature plants and

flowers. The Gardening Club have put many years of effort into making the podium a little oasis

that is much enjoyed by our family. Raising the height of the podium because of stipulations

required by the City of London Police shows that it is they who are benefitting at the expense of

the people who call the Middlesex Street Estate their home.

Page 221



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Ian McPherson

Address: 3D Petticoat Tower Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:Browsing through the comments made thus far, I share the concerns already made by

many of my neighbours. It does rather appear that many of the changes proposed in these

designs are clearly and explicitly for the benefit of our new neighbours, the City of London Police,

and not for the people living on this estate.

 

I concur with others that the inevitable noise and disruption are very unwelcome. Within our own

family, the issue we most object to is the raising of a very high percentage of the podium to

accommodate needs dictated by the police. We can now presumably look forward to many months

of this little sanctuary of established greenery being torn up and reconfigured. I feel so bad for the

members of our long-established Gardening Club. I would like it noted that I strongly object to this

loss of amenity and I think that raising the podium will pose increased risk to users of the podium,

especially youngsters and people with impaired mobility. Reviewing the conceptual drawings, I

also think this variable level podium will look rather ugly.

 

Living on the third floor, I also object to the installation of various items of plant on the first floor

Page 222



because of the anticipated increase in noise, vibrations and fumes.

 

Can we assume that these plans will facilitate the City of London Police eventually being subjected

to the same parking enforcement for their vehicles as any other citizen? It has been noted multiple

times on the residents' WhatsApp groups that police now routinely park marked police vehicles on

double yellow lines on Artizan Street despite repeated complaints. This is unacceptable in my

view. Police need to be good neighbours and lead by example.

 

In the interests of balance, I commend the fact that the improved secure cycle parking proposed is

much better than the current provision.

Page 223



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Janet Curry

Address: Flat A London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

Comment:I strongly object to the proposal. My daughter and grandchildren live on the middlesex

Street estate, I have seen my daughters mental health deteriorate as a result of the stress and

impact these projects are having. The last thing they need is more noise. I am also concerned for

the safety of my grandchildren with the extra traffic in and out of the carparks as a result of the

police moving in. My grandchildren enjoy playing on the podium, the proposal takes this away from

them and when completed they will have less space to play. Please take a moment to think of the

impact this has on residents that live here.

Page 224



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name:  Kevin Curry

Address: Flat A London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Member of the Public

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

Comment:I object to these proposals. I have family who live on middlesex Street estate and I visit

on a regular basis. I have seen the impact the ongoing projects on this estate is having on

residents in particular my autistic grandson and my daughter who works from home in these

conditions. I think the less disruption the better. By digging up the entire podium for the sake of the

police moving in is really not acceptable. This is a housing estate not a police station and the 2

should not mix in my opinion. I am Concerned for the wellbeing of my family. Please think of the

residents for a change, they have to live here.

Page 225



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr Paul  Braithwaite 

Address: 221 Petticoat Square London

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

Comment:I object to the proposed destruction of the Podium

Our friends and neighbours in the Gardening Club have made the Podium a delightful and

enchanting area since the Police moved into the basement evicting residents from their garages

there has been constant noise from their ventilation fans not to mention the countless times alarms

were triggered thus calling out the Fire Brigade dozens and dozens of times These problems

persist today CoL take no responsibility as ever blaming contractors so God only knows how bad

the future developments will be The destruction of the Podium cannot be underestimated how

much this will effect all residents especially those of us on the Podium living on a building site for

several years The Podium is not surplus to housing needs and neither are the other areas of OUR

Estate disgracefully the Gardening Club were not even consulted initially I am worried about any

future projects on MSE especially seeing how the heating project has been managed and still

nowhere near completion The extra vehicle movements from ground and basement will be

detrimental to an increasingly busy Harrow Place This is not WinWin for the residents as heralded

by councillors Quite the opposite

Page 226



Comments for Planning Application 23/00882/FULL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 23/00882/FULL

Address: Middlesex Street Estate Gravel Lane London E1 7AF

Proposal: Change of use of: (i) part basement, part ground and part first floor levels of six retail

units and ancillary residential and ancillary commercial areas, to provide a police facility (sui

generis) and ancillary residential parking and storage areas and facilities, and (ii) part ground and

part first floor levels from gym use to community space (Class F2); and external alterations

including: shopfront changes, installation of plant, erection of flue and louvre treatment, works to

podium level and associated landscaping including erection of garden room, associated highways

works to Gravel Lane and landscaping, installation of security measures; and associated works.

(RECONSULTATION DUE TO AMENDED DRAWINGS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION).

Case Officer: Pearl Figueira

 

Customer Details

Name: Ms Sandra Mc Bean

Address: 8d Petticoat Tower london

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Noise

  - Other

  - Residential Amenity

  - Traffic or Highways

Comment:After reviewing the designs attached to the application, I cannot see how this proposal

will benefit the residents of the Middlesex Street Estate. The Middlesex Street Estate was built as

a housing estate. Housing developments can also be utilised to promote communities. The

estate's design, which includes communal places such as the podium, emphasises this sense of

community; it was never intended to be a military fortification.

 

Residents of the Middlesex Street Estate have been subjected to excessive noise levels as a

result of the various City of London projects on the estate and construction nearby. These

disruptions can have a significant impact on inhabitants' health and well-being.

 

Furthermore, the areas of the estate planned to be occupied by the City of London Police will

result in the loss of the residential parking on the ground and first floor levels, thereby reducing the

residential amenities of the estate. Additionally, the plans will result in partially obstructed access

to homes on the podium level, and the constant foot traffic will be disruptive to those residents.

Page 227



 

Therefore, I oppose the plans of the reformation of the podium area as they are a detriment to the

residents of the Middlesex Street Estate.

Page 228



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation Sub-Committee 13 February 2024 

Subject: 
Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Retention of a change of use of the premises from the 
lawful permitted use as Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui 
Generis (drinking establishment) use. 

Public 

Ward: Portsoken For Decision 

Registered No: 23/00255/FULL Registered on:  
6 April 2023 

Conservation Area:      Listed Building: No 

Summary 
The proposal seeks to retain an unauthorised change of use of the Portsoken 
Pavilion, 1 Aldgate Square, from the permitted retail (Class E) use to a drinking 
establishment with substantive food offer (Sui Generis) use. No physical works 
are proposed.  

 

The Portsoken Pavilion and Aldgate Square were constructed as part of the 
City's remodelling of the Aldgate gyratory system (2015 to 2019). Aldgate 
Square is located to the south-east side of the City, close to the boundary with 
the LB Tower Hamlets.  

 

Representations were received from the Aldgate School (x2), St Botolph 
Without Aldgate Church and 15 members of the public. The representations 
covered the broad themes of (a) loss of a community building (including public 
toilet provision); (b) anti-social behaviour; (c) public safety; and (d) the negative 
impact on community use of the square (particularly on after school play). The 
representations are addressed within the body of the attached report. 

 

The proposal aligns with the changes to the Use Classes Order which allow 
flexibility for businesses to adapt and diversify to meet changing demands and 
supports the primary business function of the City. There would be no loss of 
active retail frontage and the application supports the aims of Policy DM20.3: 
Retail uses elsewhere in the City, as the spaces would provide local facilities 
for the City's workforce, enhance vibrancy, and create active frontages. 

 

Page 229

Agenda Item 5



The uncontrolled spilling-out of the customers into the main Square, particularly 
during the warmer months, has been of concern for the parents of children 
attending the Aldgate School (representations have also been received from 
the church and other users). Officers recognise that the overall use of the 
Square has increased with the introduction of the bar, and as footfall in the City 
has increased over the same period. To mitigate concerns, conditions are 
proposed that would prevent spilling-out from the premises, other than to an 
area specifically licenced for such purposes, before 17:30 Monday to Friday 
during The Aldgate School's term time. This would keep the main Square free 
throughout the day for all users of the space, and would provide a two-hour 
'buffer' period between the end of the school day and any potential spilling-out 
of customers into the wider area, at a point in the day where the City transitions 
to a more night-time based economy.  

 

Colleagues from the Licencing Team inspected the site seven times across 
June and July 2023 (when use of the Square was at its busiest) and did not find 
anything of note with regards to anti-social behaviour or obstruction. 

 

The premises implemented their Management Plan, which now forms part of 
the approved documents, after the principal objections to the proposals were 
received. 

 

The site is in a busy and lively area of the City, linking Aldgate High Street to 
the southeast with Bishopsgate to the north, and contributes to a vibrant and 
dynamic City. There are five drinking establishments (including a publicly 
accessible hotel bar) within 130m of the proposal site; seven within 200m. This 
will rise to eight when the Little Ship PH (an Asset of Community Value) is 
reinstated after redevelopment.  The proposed bar/public house use, which 
also provides a substantive food offering, would not be out of character in this 
location.  

 

During operational hours, the premises provide for publicly accessible toilets 
with a fully accessible WC with baby change facility at ground floor level. The 
premises hold a weekly community chess club and was a distribution centre for 
the Community Feast, operated by the Aldgate Connect BID, in December 
2023. 

 

A condition is recommended to ensure that the premises seek to join the 
Community Toilet Scheme (CTS) within three months of the grant of planning 
permission, to ensure all the public toilets are made available to the general 
public during operational hours without the perceived requirement to purchase 

Page 230



goods and to support an increase in the membership of the Community Toilet 
Scheme in accordance with Policy DM 22.2 Provision of public toilets. 

 

Recommendation 
 

(1) That Planning Permission be granted for the above proposal in accordance 
with the details set out in the attached schedule. 
 

  

Page 231



 

  

Page 232



APPLICATION COVER SHEET   

The Portsoken Pavilion, 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF 

TOPIC INFORMATION 
1. HEIGHT 
 

EXISTING PROPOSED 

N/A  

2. FLOORSPACE 
GIA (SQM) 

 

USES EXISTING PROPOSED 

Drinking Establishment 113.5sqm  113.5sqm 

Public Toilet Provision 19.3sqm  19.3sqm 

    

    

    

TOTAL 132.8sqm TOTAL 132.8sqm  

  TOTAL UPLIFT: 0 sqm 

3. OFFICE 
PROVISION IN 
THE CAZ 

Existing:  
Proposed: 
Office uplift:  

4. EMPLOYMENT 
NUMBERS 

 

EXISTING PROPOSED 
3 Full-time 
5 Part-time 

3 Full-time 
5 Part-time 

5. VEHICLE/CYCLE 
PARKING 

EXISTING PROPOSED 
N/A  N/A  

    

    
    
    

     
 
6. HIGHWAY LOSS 

/ GAIN 
 
 

N/A 

 
7. PUBLIC REALM 
 

N/A 

8. STREET TREES  
 

EXISTING PROPOSED 
N/A   

 EXISTING PROPOSED 

Page 233



9. SERVICING 
VEHICLE TRIPS 

 

AWAITING CONFIRMATION  

10. SERVICING 
HOURS 

No servicing between the hours of 23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from 
Monday to Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following Monday 
and on Bank Holidays. 
The servicing arrangements are in accordance with the original planning permission for 
this site. 

 
11. VOLUME OF 

RETAINED 
FABRIC 

 

 
 
100% 

 
12. REGULATED  

Operational 
CARBON 
SAVINGS 

 

 
N/A 
 

13. OPERATIONAL 
CARBON 
EMISSION 
 

 
N/A         

 

 
14. EMBODIED 

CARBON 
EMISSIONS  

N/A 

 
15. WHOLE LIFE 

CYCLE CARBON 
EMISSIONS 
 

 
 
 
N/A 

16. WHOLE LIFE-
CYCLE CARBON 
OPTIONS 

  

 
17. TARGET 

BREEAM 
RATING 

 

 
N/A 

 

Page 234



18. URBAN 
GREENING 
FACTOR 

 
N/A 

19. AIR QUALITY N/A 

20. Biodiversity Net 
Gain 

N/A 

 
 
  

Page 235



Main Report 

Site 

1. The Portsoken Pavilion and Aldgate Square were constructed as part of 
the City’s remodelling of the Aldgate gyratory system (2015 to 2019). 
Aldgate Square is located to the south-east side of the City, close to the 
boundary with the LB Tower Hamlets. 

2. The Pavilion sits on the north side of the Square, adjoining Duke’s 
Place. To the west is the grade II* listed Aldgate School. To the east is 
the grade I listed St. Botolph Without Aldgate Church. 

3. The Pavilion is formed of two storeys over ground and basement levels. 
The basement level having previously been converted from a public 
subway.  

4. The building is not listed but now forms part of the new Creechurch 
Conservation Area designated on 12 December 2023. 

Relevant Planning History 
5. Conditional planning permission (application no. 14/00986/FULL) for the 

“Erection of new railings and gates and creation of enclosed gardens; 
alterations to existing churchyard railings and gates and the layout of 
the churchyard; erection of a single storey pavilion for cafe/restaurant 
use; use of existing subway tunnels for ancillary storage and servicing 
in association with the proposed pavilion; and relocation of the police 
public call box and Mocatta drinking fountain” was approved by your 
Committee on 3 February 2015. 

6. At the time planning permission was granted, a cafe/restaurant would 
have fallen within Class A1 and/or Class A3 of the Town & Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987. Drinking establishments would 
have fallen within Class A4. 

7. Revisions to the above Order, which came into force in September 
2020, amalgamated Classes A1 and A3 into a new Class E 
(Commercial, Business and Service) use. Class A4 was redesignated 
as a ‘Sui Generis’ use. 

8. Following the changes to the Order, it is considered that the permitted 
use of the premises now falls within the new Class E. 

Proposals 
9. The current planning application seeks to retain an unauthorised 

change of use of the Pavilion from the permitted retail (Class E) use to a 
drinking establishment with substantive food offer (Sui Generis) use. No 
physical works are proposed. 

10. The ground floor provides for the bar and seating area and accessible 
WC. The kitchen, cellar and additional publicly accessible toilets are at 
basement level. 

11. An external seating area is provided through the grant of a Pavement 
Licence under the Business and Planning Act 2020. 

Page 236



Consultations: 
12. The planning application was advertised on site and relevant 

neighbouring premises (The Aldgate School, Bevis Marks Synagogue 
and St Botolph Without Aldgate Church) were consulted individually. 

13. Representations were received from the Aldgate School (x2), St Botolph 
Without Aldgate Church and 15 members of the public. Copies of all 
representations are attached in full to this report. 

14. The public representations covered the broad themes of (a) loss of a 
community building (including public toilet provision); (b) anti-social 
behaviour; (c) public safety; and (d) the negative impact on community 
use of the square (particularly on after school play). 

15. The table below summarises the public representations received: 

Principal 
Themes 

Nature of 
representations 
(Sample) 

Number of 
comments 
on this 
theme 

Response 

Loss of a 
community 
building 

1. This square and 
the beautiful building, 
publicly funded, 
sitting on it were 
never intended to 
house yet another 
pub. Why have a pub 
company been 
allowed to open such 
an establishment 
here, it does not have 
planning permission 
and was never 
intended for such 
use. 
2. I am appalled yet 
another pub has 
been allowed to take 
over this beautiful 
civic building and the 
square it sits upon. 
3. The cafe and its 
associated lavatories 
were such a lovely 
addition to the 
Square. 
4. Whatever the 
building operates as, 
could its use as a 

5 There is no 
requirement for 
the premises to 
remain as a 
cafe. It is 
considered that 
the building 
continues to 
provide a 
community 
facility. 
The toilet 
facilities remain 
publicly 
accessible 
during operating 
hours as part of 
the lease 
provisions. The 
applicants have 
confirmed that 
they are content 
to sign up to the 
Community 
Toilet Scheme 
and provide 
additional 
signage so that 
members of the 
public feel 

Page 237



local public lavatory 
be retained and 
made more obvious, 
so that people realise 
they can use the loos 
without needing to 
buy a drink? 

confident using 
the toilets 
without needing 
to purchase 
food or drink 
from the 
establishment. 

    

Anti-social 
behaviour 

1. This pub has 
ruined the Square - 
the patrons are often 
drunk and rowdy. 
2. This pub is 
causing a public 
nuisance with its 
drunken customers 
outside in the public 
space of the Square. 
3. …this 
establishment this 
evening causing 
horrendous noise 
and anti-social 
behaviour. 

4 To assess 
complaints and 
usage of the 
outside area, 
colleagues from 
the Licensing 
Team advise 
that they 
inspected the 
site seven times 
across June and 
July 2023 (when 
use of the 
Square was at 
its busiest). 
They did not 
find anything of 
note regards 
anti-social 
behaviour or 
obstruction. 
Following the 
provision of 
advice to the 
premises 
management, 
no further 
complaints were 
received. 

    

Impact on 
amenity of 
Aldgate 
Square 

1. Previously, the 
square was very 
busy after school 
finished (my child 
attends the Aldgate 
School). Now, fewer 
parents and children 
tend to congregate in 

10 Suitable 
conditions have 
been 
recommended 
to address the 
cross-over 
period at the 
end of the 

Page 238



the Square, as it 
tends to be filled with 
people visiting the 
Aldgate Tap instead. 
2. Large crowds … 
spreading further 
onto the square and 
quite frankly taking it 
over, leaving glasses 
and cigarette buts 
everywhere. 
3. The Aldgate 
square is a special 
and unique green 
space for city 
children. They love 
running and playing 
there with their 
friends after school.  
This summer it has 
been overrun with 
adults drinking. 
4. It is a shame how 
a small pub without a 
defined outdoor 
space took 
ownership of the 
square, careless of 
the community. 
5. There are so few 
spaces for city and 
local children. There 
is so little grass. 
There are literally 
hundreds of pubs 
and adult spaces in 
the city. Please leave 
this one spot for 
families and children 
of Aldgate School 
and the city. 
6. This summer 
parents and kids 
have not been able to 
meet and play in the 
fountains as we have 
the last two years, 
mixing in groups of 

school day for 
parents and 
children.  
 
The operators 
have 
implemented a 
management 
plan throughout 
the Square. This 
includes regular 
collection of 
customer 
glasses, as well 
as general 
cleaning and the 
collection of 
bottles and 
cans. 

Page 239



all ages, sharing 
picnic meals into the 
evening and 
embedding a sense 
of community in the 
city for those of us 
who choose to 
effectively build our 
whole lives here 
rather than just 
commuting in and out 
consuming it. This 
amazing space has 
become somewhere 
which fails its 
community; the 
School and its 
parents need support 
and nurture, not more 
obstacles to family 
city living. 

    

Public Safety 1. The foreseeable 
consequences of 
granting this planning 
application…: 
- Aldgate Square will 
become littered with 
broken glass, 
cigarette stubs, etc. 
- One of the school 
children, or someone 
else enjoying the 
square and the 
fountain, will be 
injured by broken 
glass - potentially 
seriously 
- The church yard will 
be used as a public 
toilet 
2. Large crowds … 
spreading further 
onto the square and 
quite frankly taking it 
over, leaving glasses 

5 The operators 
have 
implemented a 
management 
plan throughout 
the Square. This 
includes regular 
collection of 
customer 
glasses, as well 
as general 
cleaning and the 
collection of 
bottles and cans 
brought into the 
Square by non-
customers who 
also use the 
Square and 
adjoining 
churchyard. 
Staffing levels 
have been 
increased to 
address the 
busier times 

Page 240



and cigarette buts 
everywhere. 
3. If my son plays 
there, I cannot have 
a good sightline to 
ensure he is safe. 
4. It's now very 
difficult to keep my 
children safe when 
leaving school - even 
walking through 
without stopping to 
play i.e. trying to 
keep close to my 3yr 
old whilst pushing a 
pram through the 
crowd. 
5. It is however 
concerning the 
change of use of the 
pavilion, the glasses 
left on the floor or 
around the square 
from which kids can 
drink or harm 
themselves. 

    

Other 1. If, pragmatically, it 
is only viable to 
operate as a bar, 
would it be possible 
to restrict outside 
drinking until 5.00pm, 
when most of the 
children have left 
school, and people 
would be leaving 
their offices? 
2. I'm not against it 
being a bar per se if 
people are not 
allowed to spill out 
over the whole 
square or if timings 
are restricted to after 
e.g. 5/6pm when 

7 Suitable 
conditions have 
been 
recommended 
to address the 
cross-over 
period at the 
end of the 
school day. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 241



children have gone 
home. Giving the 
children an hour or 
two each day doesn't 
seem too imposing. 
3. Please don't allow 
this use to persist, at 
very least say until 
1800 when even on 
the balmiest of days 
the kids have played 
themselves towards 
sleep. 
4. Businesses taking 
on sites and trading 
them without proper 
consent surely is not 
something City of 
London should be 
encouraging or 
allowing? 
5. So although I have 
no objection in 
principal to it being a 
pub, I do feel the city 
is a very safe and 
civilised place and 
there should be 
sensible 
demarcation, control 
and management of 
outside drinkers in 
their number and 
location which would 
hopefully assist with 
a decrease in noise, 
smoke, choice 
language and making 
sure there's 
comfortable space for 
other users of the 
square especially on 
a sunny afternoon 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The application 
is submitted 
following 
Planning 
Enforcement 
engagement. 

 
  

Page 242



16. The Aldgate School made the following representations: 
(i)  

• The consultation process - as a neighbouring property we are 
concerned about the recent change of use and the lack of 
notification in writing which we would normally expect with a 
planning consultation. We therefore feel insufficient consultation has 
been sought. The change of use of the pavilion has already altered 
the character of the square. 

 
• The Portsoken Pavilion was conceived as a social enterprise for the 

benefit of the local community, enhancing the environment and 
creating healthy living. Regrettably our families are no longer able to 
use this space safely due to individuals being under the influence of 
alcohol. 

 
• Safeguarding has now become an issue for our families using the 

square as the patrons of the Aldgate Tap fill a considerable area of 
the square and are not limited to the immediate area beside the 
pavilion. Our families now have a much smaller area to play and 
congregate in. 

 
• Aldgate Square itself was designed to remove barriers between 

communities, particularly in creating public space for the area’s 
multicultural residents. Since the square has opened our children 
and their families have benefitted enormously from using the 
fountains and the grassy area. That has all changed since the 
opening of the Aldgate Tap. 

 
• There is a lack of cultural sensitivity in this change of use. A 

significant number of our community are Muslim. For those parents 
and their primary age children to see individuals under the influence 
of alcohol is inappropriate especially where it is to excess. 

 
• The proposed retention of the change of use as a drinking 

establishment fails to take into account the pavilion’s location in 
relation to its immediate neighbouring properties – the Aldgate 
school and a Church of England parish church. 

 
• From a safety perspective the hazard of broken glass to the public- 

particularly to children and animals – caused by damaged glasses 
being discarded by drinkers is a real risk. 

 
• Potential for anti-social behaviour has risen as individuals react 

under the influence of alcohol. 
 
• Surely there is an obligation for the community to have a safe and 

unimpeded route across the public square. 
(ii) 

Page 243



• Consultation process: I am concerned about the recent change of 
use and the lack of consultation around the permanent change. The 
change of use of the pavilion fundamentally changes the character 
of the square and the Portsoken area. I would ask that you 
undertake a full consultation before making any changes. 

 
• Community asset: The Aldgate Square, since its opening, has been 

a community hub and a key factor in removing barriers in this 
multicultural environment. Families from the school and far beyond 
use the square on a daily basis and children enjoy using the 
fountains and running on the real grass area. Unfortunately, with the 
opening of the Aldgate Tap, this has quickly changed. 

 
• Culture and safety: The obvious and copious smoking and 

consumption of alcohol are of concern to our school community, a 
large proportion of whom are Muslim. It is a concern that the square 
is now full of individuals who are under the influence of alcohol and 
therefore the safeguarding of the children and families using the 
square is of concern.  

 
• The patrons of the Aldgate Tap fill the square and are not restricted 

to the immediate area beside the pavilion, which leaves little space 
for others to enjoy the square. 

 
• There is also a concern around broken glass generated by the 

patrons of the Aldgate Tap which has rendered the fountains 
dangerous for the children to enjoy due to fear of injury. 

 
• In its previous iteration, the toilets in the Portsoken Pavilion were 

available for the public users in the square to use. This is no longer 
the case and therefore another limiting factor for people beyond the 
pub to use the square. 

 
• I do hope that you will consider carefully the views of the school, the 

immediate neighbours of the Portsoken Pavilion, before you make 
your final decision. 

17. The Reverend Laura Jørgensen, Rector of St Botolph's without Aldgate 
made the following comments: 
We object to the change of use proposal for the Portsoken Pavilion: 
Insufficient Consultation: The church is a neighbouring property but 
received no notification in writing of this application.* We were not 
consulted about the change of use prior to the lease being granted in 
2022, whereas we were consulted throughout the process of the 
development of the new public realm in Aldgate, during which we 
expressed concern about the size of the Portsoken Pavilion but were 
reassured it was a community asset and would provide ‘active frontage’ 
for the new square and the all-important public toilets. Local 
stakeholders were also fully involved in the process to find the social 

Page 244



enterprise to take on the Pavilion once finished. To have engaged so 
fully in consultation with the local community and to then make such a 
drastic change to the use without notification other than seemingly one 
A4 notice not on a major through-route is insufficient consultation.  
We have had concerns for some time about the volume of drinkers 
outside with the warmer weather and had looked at the City of London 
Licensing website during May and June, which noted the licence was 
'suspended'. There were no signposts on that website that a change of 
use application had been made. We presume, also, that the Aldgate 
Tap have been operating under an incorrect licence to date. We have 
had to write this objection within a very short timeframe and without 
being able to take advice. 
Removal of Community Amenity: Aldgate Square was designed as a 
place for community, an outdoor space for all the different layers of the 
Aldgate community to enjoy. Prior to the Aldgate Tap's use of the 
square, Aldgate Square would see through the day different 
demographic groups enjoying having a pleasant and much needed 
outside space. These included construction workers, office workers, 
elderly residents, school children and tourists. We found that the new 
Square was transformative to community life. Local families particularly 
valued it as a safe space for children to be able to run around and enjoy 
being outside - children enjoyed rolling down the grass, chasing round 
the Square on scooters and bikes, and splashing in the play fountain. 
For many children this is the only grass they will see on a regular basis 
and was seen and valued as a safe outdoor space. These were 
moments of real cross-community connection. 
As the Summer has approached, the entire Square, particularly on a 
Thursday and Friday from lunchtime onwards has been filled from the 
Pavilion to the southern end of the Square with customers of the 
Aldgate Tap. Contrary to their application, the demographic attracted to 
the Portsoken Pavilion appears monocultural and does not reflect the 
diversity of the area. 
Aldgate Square was designed to remove barriers between communities, 
particularly in such a multi-cultural, multi-layered area at the City fringe. 
It is very clear that the community atmosphere of Aldgate Square which 
was so valued has all but disappeared, that local residents and others 
are not able to enjoy the amenity of the Square whilst surrounded by 
those drinking and smoking and music. We are concerned for our local 
residents who are Muslim, and for children with such conspicuous 
consumption of alcohol in a public square.  
The toilets, such an important part of the original scheme, are unlikely to 
be used by community members given the volume of people in the bar, 
and the change of use to a drinking establishment. The operating hours 
mean that the much needed and promised public toilet provision is not 
available to those who use the square in the mornings and at 
weekends. 

Page 245



Space Management and Health and Safety: The Aldgate Tap 
appears not to control access to the outside space at all. Chairs and 
tables are taken onto the grass. Drinkers take their pint glasses to all 
areas of the Aldgate Square. There appear to be no limits to the number 
of customers served. The previous cafe tenants were very strict about 
where their table and chairs were placed, and all customers were 
seated.  
When the Pavilion is shut, and there is space for the local community to 
use it, parents in particular are hesitant due to the possibility of broken 
glass, especially around the play fountains.  
Information on the application: We note that the applicant states that 
the previous cafe did not succeed due to the number of similar 
establishments in the area. This is not correct. The previous tenant 
struggled with a building which had significant issues such as glass 
doors breaking and toilets regularly flooding. 
To conclude, Aldgate Square was transformational to the local area, 
and the local community, local school and church congregation are now 
excluded from the only safe outdoor community space in the area, and 
we strongly believe it is an inappropriate use of the building set as it is 
between two community buildings. 
The Portsoken Pavilion was conceived as a cafe for the benefit of the 
local community, enhancing the environment and creating healthy living. 
We hope that this application will be rejected, or at least more 
consultation and discussion be undertaken please before a decision is 
made. 

18. Following receipt of the initial objections, the comments were collated. It 
was clear that a principal concern with the proposals was the 
uncontrolled spilling-out of the bar’s clientele into the main Square and, 
in particular, the affect this had on the ability of children and parents 
attending the Aldgate School to enjoy their interaction with the public 
space after school hours, particularly in the warmer months. In 
consultation with the applicant, restrictive conditions were drafted which 
would limit the hours that customers could spill-out into the wider area 
of the square. Eleven objectors, to whom the proposed conditions could 
be considered a relevant response, were notified of the proposed 
restrictions. The objectors were advised that if no response was 
received within 31 days, officers would assume that they agreed with 
the imposition of the conditions and that their previous objections could 
be treated as withdrawn.  In total, there were three responses: two from 
members of the public and one from St Botolph's without Aldgate 
Church. 

19. Although this brings the number of extant objections to nine, enabling a 
decision to be made under delegated authority, officers are of the view 
that there is sufficient public interest to warrant bringing this case before 
your Committee. 

20. Waste storage and collection provision is in accordance with the original 
planning permission. 

Page 246



21. Environmental Health have raised no objection to the proposals subject 
to conditions being imposed to ensure the amenity of the surrounding 
area is protected. These are included in the attached schedule. 
Policy Context 

22. The Development Plan consists of the London Plan 2021 and the City 
of London Local Plan 2015. The London Plan and Local Plan policies 
that are most relevant to the consideration of this case are set out in 
Appendix A to this report. 

23. The City of London (CoL) has an emerging Local Plan which was 
published for Regulation 19 consultation in early 2021. Onward 
progress of the Plan has been temporarily paused to enable further 
refinement, but it remains a material consideration in the determination 
of applications (although not part of the Development Plan). The Draft 
City Plan policies that are most relevant to the consideration of this case 
are set out in Appendix B to this report.  

24. Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) December 2023 and the Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG) which is amended from time to time. 

25. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states at paragraph 2 
that “Planning Law requires that applications for planning permission 
must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.” 

26. Chapter 8 of the NPPF seeks to promote healthy and safe communities.  
27. Paragraph 96 states that planning decisions should aim to achieve 

healthy, inclusive and safe places which promote social interaction, are 
safe and accessible and enable and support healthy lifestyles.  

28. Paragraph 97 states: 
“To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services 
the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 
a) plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, 
community facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports 
venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of 
worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities and residential environments; 
b) take into account and support the delivery of local strategies to 
improve health, social and cultural well-being for all sections of the 
community; 
c) guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, 
particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its 
day-to-day needs; 
d) ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to 
develop and modernise, and are retained for the benefit of the 
community; and 

Page 247



e) ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, 
economic uses and community facilities and services. 
Considerations 

29. The Corporation, in determining the planning application has the 
following main statutory duties to perform: 

• to have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application and to any other material considerations 
(Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990); 

• to determine the application in accordance with the development 
plan unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. 
(Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

30. The principal issues in considering this application are: 

• The extent to which the proposals comply with Government policy 
advice (NPPF). 

• The extent to which the proposals comply with the relevant policies 
of the Development Plan. 

• The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the public space of 
Aldgate Square. 

Land Use 
31. Adopted Local Plan (2015) Policy CS20 states that existing retail 

facilities should be protected unless it is demonstrated that they are no 
longer required and to resist the loss of retail frontage and floorspace. 
Paragraph 3.20.6 of the Local Plan sets out that retailing comprises 
several uses, including restaurants and cafes (Class A3) and drinking 
establishments (Class A4). These use classes have been replaced by 
amendments to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 in recent years, which have established Class E covering a broad 
range of uses including retail, restaurants and cafes, offices, and other 
uses. Pubs are now classed as a sui generis use. 

32. The Local Plan was adopted prior to these changes, but it remains the 
basis for decision-making in the City, subject to other material 
considerations. Policy DM20.3 of the Local Plan resists the loss of 
isolated retail units and small groups of retail units outside the Principal 
Shopping Centres (PSCs) and Retail Links that form an active retail 
frontage, and which enhance the City’s vibrancy. Given that the Local 
Plan considered pubs to be a form of retail use (as per paragraph 
3.20.6), there would be no loss of a retail unit as a result of this planning 
application when considered against adopted policy. 

33. Paragraph 45 of the officer’s report on the original application 
(14/00986/FULL) set out that “A café/restaurant would provide 
amenities, including toilets, for people in the area and would enhance 
the use of the public space. This use would accord with Policy DM20.3 
in providing local facilities and enhancing the City’s vibrancy. The use 
would be enhanced by use of the area adjoining the pavilion for 
ancillary external seating.”  

Page 248



34. Policy in the emerging Local Plan encourages the provision of active 
frontages across the City provided they do not impact adversely on the 
amenity of residents, workers, and visitors. 

35. Policy DM22.2 of the Local Plan seeks a widespread distribution of 
public toilets and supports an increase in the membership of the 
Community Toilet Scheme. Given that toilet facilities were recognised 
as being an important amenity in the original scheme, the applicants 
have been encouraged to sign up to the Community Toilet Scheme so 
that members of the public feel confident using the toilets without 
needing to purchase food or drink from the establishment. 

36. The application aligns with the Use Classes Order changes which allow 
flexibility for businesses to adapt and diversify to meet changing 
demands and supports the primary business function of the City. There 
would be no loss of active retail frontage and the application supports 
the aims of Policy DM20.3: Retail uses elsewhere in the City, as the 
spaces would provide local facilities for the City’s workforce, enhance 
vibrancy, and create active frontages. 
Impact on Amenity 

37. Local Plan Policy DM3.5 (Night-time entertainment) and Draft Local 
Plan Policy CV4 (Evening and Night-Time Economy) sets out that any 
proposals for new night-time entertainment and related uses will only be 
permitted where there is no unacceptable impact on the amenity of 
residents or on environmental amenity, taking into account the potential 
for noise, disturbance and odours from the operation of the premises, 
customers arriving and leaving the premises and the servicing of the 
premises. 

38. The uncontrolled spilling-out of the customers into the main Square, 
particularly during the warmer months, has been of concern for the 
parents of children attending the Aldgate School (representations have 
also been received from the church and other users). Officers recognise 
that the overall use of the Square has increased with the introduction of 
the bar, and as footfall in the City has increased over the same period. 
To mitigate concerns, conditions are proposed that would prevent 
spilling-out from the premises, other than to an area specifically 
licenced for such purposes, before 17:30 Monday to Friday during The 
Aldgate School’s term time. 

39. Should the licence for the external area (a Pavement Licence or 
equivalent) be revoked or lapse, the spilling-out of customers would not 
be permitted into any part of the Square before 17:30 Monday to Friday 
during the School’s term time. 

40. With the proposed conditions in place, the main Square would be kept 
free throughout the day for all users of the space and would provide a 
two-hour ‘buffer’ period between the end of the school day and any 
potential spilling-out of customers into the wider area, at a point in the 
day where the City transitions to a more night-time based economy. 

41. A Customer Management Plan has been submitted to accompany the 
planning application outlining the management measures to be taken to 

Page 249



avoid disturbance caused by users of the premises to the area 
generally. 

42. The operators advise that they have implemented the Management 
Plan throughout the Square. This includes regular collection of 
customer glasses, as well as general cleaning and the collection of 
bottles and cans brought into the Square by other users of the public 
space and the adjoining churchyard. Staffing levels have been 
increased to address the busier times. The continued operation of the 
premises in accordance with the Management Plan is recommended by 
condition. 

43. It is noted that the Management Plan was introduced after the initial 
objections to the planning application were received. 

44. Following complaints about large crowds, colleagues from the Licencing 
Team inspected the site seven times across June and July 2023 (when 
use of the Square was at its busiest). They did not find anything of note 
with regards to anti-social behaviour or obstruction. They advise that 
following the provision of guidance to the premises management on 
how best to manage outside drinkers, no further complaints were 
received. 

45. Environmental Health Officers have recommended conditions relating to 
the control noise and odour nuisance from mechanical plant, 
disturbance caused by music and hours of servicing. 

46. The site is in a busy and lively area of the City, linking Aldgate High 
Street to the southeast with Bishopsgate to the north, and contributes to 
a vibrant and dynamic City. There are many retail outlets in the 
immediate area including five drinking establishments within 130m of 
the proposal site; seven within 200m. This will rise to eight when the 
Little Ship PH (an Asset of Community Value) is reinstated after 
redevelopment.  

47. The proposed bar/public house use, which also provides a substantive 
food offering, would not be out of character in this location. 

48. It is considered that any potential impact on the amenity of the area can 
be suitably controlled by the imposition of relevant conditions. The 
applicant has reviewed and agreed the proposed conditions and the 
implementation of an on-going review of the Management Plan. 

49. Officers consider that the measures put in place would mitigate the 
concerns expressed by the occupiers and users of the neighbouring 
school and church buildings in relation to any impact on local amenity. 
Community Building  

50. During operational hours, the premises provides for publicly accessible 
toilets with a fully accessible WC with baby change facility at ground 
floor level. 

51. The applicant advises “It is worth noting that non-customers have 
access to our toilets until at least 11pm, meaning the hours are at 11 
hours per day, higher the previous tenant and this has reduced anti-

Page 250



social behaviour in the square from street drinkers in the evening as 
they use our toilets not the shrubs or grass.” 

52. The premises holds a weekly community chess club and was a 
distribution centre for the Community Feast, operated by the Aldgate 
Connect Business Improvement District (BID) in December 2023. The 
applicant states “We have offered the space to lots of local groups but 
there has been little interest on weekends unfortunately. The only active 
group have been Aldgate BID.” 

53. The issue of how the construction of the building was funded, and the 
purpose for which it was intended, has been raised in the 
representations received. There are no planning conditions or Section 
106 agreements that require the use to remain as community cafe, 
therefore, this would not preclude an applicant to submit an application 
for a different use class. 
Access 

54. There are no changes to the access arrangements proposed as part of 
this application. However, as noted above, the accessible WC with baby 
change facility at ground floor level is available to customers and the 
general public during operational hours. 

55. In addition, a condition is recommended to ensure that the premises 
seek to join the Community Toilet Scheme within three months of the 
grant of planning permission, to ensure all the public toilets are made 
available to the general public during operational hours without the 
perceived requirement to purchase goods and to support an increase in 
the membership of the Community Toilet Scheme in accordance with 
Policy DM 22.2 Provision of public toilets. 
Waste 

56. Waste storage and collection facilities comply with the details agreed as 
part of the original planning permission and accord with Policy DM17.1. 
Public Sector Equalities Duty 

57. When considering proposed development, the Public Sector Equality 
Duty requires the City of London Corporation to consider how the 
determination of the application will affect people who are protected 
under the Equality Act 2010, including having due regard to the effects 
of the proposed development and any potential disadvantages suffered 
by people because of their protected characteristics. 

58. Under the Act, a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, 
have due regard to the need to: 

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any 
other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Page 251



59. The relevant protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation. 

60. Public authorities also need to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination against someone because of their marriage or 
civil partnership status. 

61. It is the view of officers that a decision to grant permission, subject to 
appropriate conditions, would not disadvantage those who are protected 
under the Equality Act 2010. 

62. In relation to policy GG1 of the London Plan, the proposals are 
considered to support and promote the creation of an inclusive London 
where all Londoners, regardless of their age, disability, gender, gender 
identity, marital status, religion, race, sexual orientation, social class, or 
whether they are pregnant or have children, can share in its prosperity, 
culture and community, minimising the barriers, challenges and 
inequalities they face. 
Human Rights Act 1998 

63. It is unlawful for the City, as a public authority, to act in a way which is 
incompatible with a Convention right (being the rights set out in the 
European Convention on Human Rights (“ECHR”). 

64. It is the view of officers that there would be no infringement of the 
ECHR. 
Conclusions 

65. The proposal has been assessed in accordance with the relevant 
statutory duties and having regard to the development plan and other 
relevant policies and guidance including SPDs and SPGs, the NPPF, 
the emerging Local Plan and considering all other material 
considerations 

66. The proposed retention of the change of use of the premises to a public 
house (Sui Generis) use is considered acceptable. There would be no 
loss of active retail frontage and the application supports the aims of 
Policy DM20.3: Retail uses elsewhere in the City, as the space would 
provide local facilities for the City’s workforce, enhance vibrancy, and 
create active frontages. 

67. In order to address concerns raised in respect of potential impacts on 
the amenity of Aldgate Square, conditions are imposed which would 
control the spilling-out of customers into the main square at times when 
other users, and parents and children attending the Aldgate School 
would otherwise wish to make use of the outside space, either during 
the day or after school. This would keep the main Square free 
throughout the day for all users of the space and would provide a two-
hour 'buffer' period between the end of the school day and any potential 
spilling-out of customers into the wider area, at a point in the day where 
the City transitions to a more night-time based economy. A reviewable 
Management Plan has been submitted. 

Page 252



68. A condition is recommended to ensure that the premises seek to join 
the Community Toilet Scheme (CTS) within three months of the grant of 
planning permission, to ensure all the public toilets are made available 
to the general public during operational hours without the perceived 
requirement to purchase goods and to support an increase in the 
membership of the Community Toilet Scheme in accordance with Policy 
DM 22.2 Provision of public toilets. 

69. Having assessed the impact of the proposal and recognising the weight 
to be given to any potential harm, it is considered that the proposals 
would achieve a use for the premises which would contribute positively 
to the vibrancy and activity of the Creechurch Conservation Area and 
the area in general. 

70. Approval of the retention of the Sui Generis (Drinking Establishment) 
use is recommended. 

 

  

Page 253



Background Papers 

 

Comment 15.05.2023 Mr Eli Goldsmith 

Comment 15.05.2023 Mr Brad Solomon 

Comment 20.05.2023 Miss Shannon Harrietsham 

Comment 24.05.2023 Mr Richard Bartois 

Comment 25.05.2023 Mr Mark Hatch 

Comment 26.05.2023 Dr Richard Hammersham 

Comment 26.05.2023 Mrs Monique Goodwin 

Comment 20.06.2023 Mr Andrew Wallace 

Comment 21.06.2023 The Reverend Laura Jørgensen 

Comment 22.06.2023 Alexandra Allan (Headteacher, The Aldgate School) 

Comment 26.05.2023 Lizzie Webb (The Aldgate School) 

Comment 03.07.2023 Mrs Alessandra Alivernini 

Comment 03.07.2023 Mr Joe Tilley 

Comment 03.07.2023 Wynne Lawrence 

Comment 11.07.2023 Ms Andrea Lawrence 

Comment 11.07.2023 Mrs Chantel Haron 

Comment 14.07.2023 Ms Natalie Coe 

Comment 14.07.2023 Mr David Williams 

Comment 14.07.2023 Ms Poorvi Dave 

Comment 20.11.2023 The Reverend Laura Jørgensen 

Comment 20.11.2023 Mr Andrew Wallace 

Comment 20.11.2023 Wynne Lawrence 

 

 

 

  

Page 254



Appendix A 

 

Relevant London Plan Policies 

 

Policy GG1 (Building strong and inclusive communities) encourages early and 
inclusive engagement with stakeholders, including local communities, in the 
development of proposals, seeking to ensure positive changes to the physical 
environment and provide access to good quality community spaces, services, 
amenities and infrastructure. In addition, it supports London continuing to generate a 
wide range of economic and other opportunities promoting fairness, inclusivity and 
equality. 

 

Policy D14 (Noise) seeks to avoid significant adverse noise impacts on health and 
quality of life and mitigating and minimising the existing and potential adverse 
impacts of noise on, from, within, as a result of, or in the vicinity of new development. 

 

Policy S1 (Developing London's social infrastructure) states that development 
proposals should provide high quality, inclusive social infrastructure that addresses a 
local or strategic need and supports service delivery strategies. New facilities should 
be easily accessible by public transport, cycling and walking and should be 
encouraged in high streets and town centres. 

 

Policy G4 (Open space) identifies that "development proposals should 

1) not result in the loss of protected open space; 

2) where possible create areas of publicly accessible open space, particularly in 
areas of deficiency." 

 

Relevant GLA Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPGs) 

 

• Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment SPG (October 2014);  

• Social Infrastructure (May 2015);  

• Culture and Night-Time Economy SPG (November 2017);  

• London Environment Strategy (May 2018);  

• Cultural Strategy (2018);  

• Central Activities Zone (March 2016). 

  

Relevant Draft City Plan 2036 Policies 

 

S1 Healthy and inclusive city  

Page 255



HL1 Inclusive buildings and spaces  

HL3 Noise and light pollution  

S2 Safe and Secure City  

SA1 Crowded Places  

S6 Culture, Visitors and the Night -time Economy  

CV2 Provision of Visitor Facilities  

DE3 Public realm  

DE9 Lighting  

S9 Vehicular transport and servicing  

S10 Active travel and healthy streets  

AT1 Pedestrian movement  

AT2 Active travel including cycling  

AT3 Cycle parking  

S11 Historic environment  

S14 Open spaces and green infrastructure  

OS1 Protection and Provision of Open Spaces  

OS2 City greening  

OS3 Biodiversity  

OS4 Trees  

CE1 Zero Waste City  

  

Relevant City Corporation Guidance and Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs) 

 

Open Space Strategy (2016);  

City Public Realm (2016);  

Cultural Strategy 2018 – 2022 (2018). 

 

  

Page 256



Relevant Local Plan Policies 

CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 
 
To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 
public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
DM3.5 Night-time entertainment 

 
1) Proposals for new night-time entertainment and related uses 
and the extension of existing premises will only be permitted where it 
can be demonstrated that, either individually or cumulatively, there is no 
unacceptable impact on: 
 
a) the amenity of residents and other noise-sensitive uses;  
b) environmental amenity, taking account of the potential for noise, 
disturbance and odours arising from the operation of the premises, 
customers arriving at and leaving the premises and the servicing of the 
premises. 
 
2) Applicants will be required to submit Management Statements 
detailing how these issues will be addressed during the operation of the 
premises. 

 
CS8 Meet challenges facing Aldgate area 

 
To regenerate the amenities and environment of the Aldgate area for 
businesses, residents, workers, visitors and students, promoting 
development and investment. 

 
CS11 Encourage art, heritage and culture 

 
To maintain and enhance the City's contribution to London's world-class 
cultural status and to enable the City's communities to access a range of 
arts, heritage and cultural experiences, in accordance with the City 
Corporation's Destination Strategy. 

 
DM11.1 Visitor, Arts and Cultural 

 
1) To resist the loss of existing visitor, arts and cultural facilities 
unless: 
 
a) replacement facilities are provided on-site or within the vicinity 
which meet the needs of the City's communities; or 
b) they can be delivered from other facilities without leading to or 
increasing any shortfall in provision, and it has been demonstrated that 
there is no demand for another similar use on the site; or 

Page 257



c) it has been demonstrated that there is no realistic prospect of 
the premises being used for a similar purpose in the foreseeable future.  
 
2) Proposals resulting in the loss of visitor, arts and cultural 
facilities must be accompanied by evidence of the lack of need for those 
facilities. Loss of facilities will only be permitted where it has been 
demonstrated that the existing floorspace has been actively marketed as 
a visitor, arts or cultural facility at reasonable terms. 

 
CS15 Creation of sustainable development 

 
To enable City businesses and residents to make sustainable choices in 
their daily activities creating a more sustainable City, adapted to the 
changing climate. 

 
DM15.7 Noise and light pollution 

 
1. Developers will be required to consider the impact of their 
developments on the noise environment and where appropriate provide 
a noise assessment. The layout, orientation, design and use of buildings 
should ensure that operational noise does not adversely affect 
neighbours, particularly noise-sensitive land uses such as housing, 
hospitals, schools and quiet open spaces.  
 
2. Any potential noise conflict between existing activities and new 
development should be minimised. Where the avoidance of noise 
conflicts is impractical, mitigation measures such as noise attenuation 
and restrictions on operating hours will be implemented through 
appropriate planning conditions. 
 
3. Noise and vibration from deconstruction and construction 
activities must be minimised and mitigation measures put in place to limit 
noise disturbance in the vicinity of the development. 
 
4. Developers will be required to demonstrate that there will be no 
increase in background noise levels associated with new plant and 
equipment.  
 
5. Internal and external lighting should be designed to reduce 
energy consumption, avoid spillage of light beyond where it is needed 
and protect the amenity of light-sensitive uses such as housing, 
hospitals and areas of importance for nature conservation. 

 
CS16 Improving transport and travel 

 
To build on the City's strategic central London position and good 
transport infrastructure to further improve the sustainability and efficiency 
of travel in, to, from and through the City. 

 
DM16.3 Cycle parking 

Page 258



 
1. On-site cycle parking must be provided in accordance with the 
local standards set out in Table 16.2 or, for other land uses, with the 
standards of the London Plan. Applicants will be encouraged to exceed 
the standards set out in Table 16.2. 
 
2. On-street cycle parking in suitable locations will be encouraged 
to meet the needs of cyclists. 

 
CS19 Improve open space and biodiversity 

 
To encourage healthy lifestyles for all the City's communities through 
improved access to open space and facilities, increasing the amount and 
quality of open spaces and green infrastructure, while enhancing 
biodiversity. 

 
DM19.4 Play areas and facilities 

 
1. The City Corporation will protect existing play provision and seek 
additional or enhanced play facilities or space, particularly in areas 
identified as deficient, by: 
 
a) protecting existing play areas and facilities and, on 
redevelopment, requiring the replacement of facilities either on-site or 
nearby to an equivalent or better standard; 
b) where the creation of new play facilities is not feasible, requiring 
developers to work with the City Corporation to deliver enhanced 
provision nearby; 
c) requiring external play space and facilities as part of new 
residential developments which include 20 or more family units (those 
with 3 or more bedrooms) or 10 or more affordable units of 2 or more 
bedrooms; 
d) promoting opportunities for informal play and play within open 
spaces where it is not possible to secure formal play areas. 
 
2. Play areas and facilities should not be located where they would 
cause undue disturbance to neighbouring occupiers. 

 
CS20 Improve retail facilities 

 
To improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment, promoting the development of the five Principal Shopping 
Centres and the linkages between them. 

 
DM20.3 Retail uses elsewhere 

 
To resist the loss of isolated and small groups of retail units outside the 
PSCs and Retail Links that form an active retail frontage, particularly A1 
units near residential areas, unless it is demonstrated that they are no 
longer needed. 

Page 259



 
DM21.3 Residential environment 

 
1. The amenity of existing residents within identified residential 
areas will be protected by: 
 
a) resisting other uses which would cause undue noise 
disturbance, fumes and smells and vehicle or pedestrian movements 
likely to cause disturbance;  
b) requiring new development near existing dwellings to 
demonstrate adequate mitigation measures to address detrimental 
impact. 
 
2. Noise-generating uses should be sited away from residential 
uses, where possible. Where residential and other uses are located 
within the same development or area, adequate noise mitigation 
measures must be provided and, where required, planning conditions 
will be imposed to protect residential amenity.  
 
3. All development proposals should be designed to avoid 
overlooking and seek to protect the privacy, day lighting and sun lighting 
levels to adjacent residential accommodation.  
 
4. All new residential development proposals must demonstrate 
how potential adverse noise impacts on and between dwellings will be 
mitigated by housing layout, design and materials. 
 
5. The cumulative impact of individual developments on the 
amenity of existing residents will be considered. 

 
CS22 Maximise community facilities 

 
To maximise opportunities for the City's residential and working 
communities to access suitable health, social and educational facilities 
and opportunities, while fostering cohesive communities and healthy 
lifestyles. 

 
DM22.1 Social and community facilities 

 
1. To resist the loss of social and community facilities unless: 
 
a) replacement facilities are provided on-site or within the vicinity 
which meet the needs of the users of the existing facility; or  
b) necessary services can be delivered from other facilities without 
leading to, or increasing, any shortfall in provision; or  
c) it has been demonstrated that there is no demand for another 
similar use on site. 
 
2. Proposals for the redevelopment or change of use of social and 
community facilities must be accompanied by evidence of the lack of 

Page 260



need for those facilities. Loss of facilities will only be permitted where it 
has been demonstrated that the existing floor space has been actively 
marketed at reasonable terms for public social and community 
floorspace. 
 
3. The development of new social and community facilities should 
provide flexible, multi-use space suitable for a range of different uses 
and will be permitted: 
 
a) where they would not be prejudicial to the business City and 
where there is no strong economic reason for retaining office use;  
b) in locations which are convenient to the communities they serve; 
c) in or near identified residential areas, providing their amenity is 
safeguarded; 
d) as part of major mixed-use developments, subject to an 
assessment of the scale, character, location and impact of the proposal 
on existing facilities and neighbouring uses. 
 
4. Developments that result in additional need for social and 
community facilities will be required to provide the necessary facilities or 
contribute towards enhancing existing facilities to enable them to meet 
identified need. 

 
DM22.2 Provision of Public Toilets 

 
A widespread distribution of public toilets which meet public demand will 
be provided by:  
 
a) requiring the provision of a range of public toilet facilities in 
major retail and leisure developments, particularly near visitor 
attractions, public open spaces and major transport interchanges. This 
includes the provision of pop-up toilets in suitable areas with 
concentrations of night-time activity; 
b) supporting an increase in the membership of the Community 
Toilet Scheme; 
c) resisting the loss of existing public toilets unless adequate 
provision is available nearby and requiring the provision of replacement 
facilities;  
d) taking the opportunity to renew existing toilets which are within 
areas subject to major redevelopment schemes and seeking the 
incorporation of additional toilets in proposed developments where they 
are needed to meet increased demand. 

 

Page 261



SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 23/00255/FULL 
 
Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London 
 
Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted 
use as Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) 
use. 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
 1 During operational hours there shall be no spilling-out of customers 

from the premises before 17:30 Monday to Friday during the Aldgate 
School's termtime, unless one of the following exceptions apply:  

 (i) There is an area agreed and provided specifically for that purpose 
under a Pavement Licence issued in accordance with Part 1, Business 
and Planning Act 2020 (As Amended); or  

 (ii) There is an area agreed and provided specifically for that purpose 
under a Tables and Chairs Licence issued in accordance with Part 
VIIA, Section 115E(1)(b)(i), The Highways Act 1980; or  

 (iii) In the case of (i) and (ii) an equivalent licence issued under any 
provisions in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting the 
above Acts with or without modification.  

 Where an appropriate licence is in place, as outlined at (i), (ii) and (iii) 
above, the spilling-out of customers before 17:30 Monday to Friday 
during the Aldgate School's termtime, shall be specifically limited to the 
approved licenced area(s).  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM3.5, DM15.7, DM19.1, DM21.3. 

 
 2 The area agreed for spilling-out granted under a Pavement Licence, a 

Tables and Chairs Licence or an equivalent licence issued under any 
provisions in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting the 
above Acts with or without modification shall:  

 i) Cease and all associated paraphernalia shall be removed within 7 
days of a failure to comply with condition 1 or in the event that an 
application to remove/modify condition 1 is refused.   

 ii) In the event that the developer appeals against the Local Planning 
Authority's refusal to remove/modify the condition, the agreed area 
outside the building shall cease pending the outcome of any appeal. 
The agreed area outside of the building for spilling-out shall not resume 
until a decision to allow the removal/modification of the condition has 
been made by the Secretary of State.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM3.5, DM15.7, DM19.1, DM21.3. 

Page 262



 
 3 The drinking establishment premises hereby approved, and any 

associated spilling-out of customers into the external area, including 
the wider Aldgate Square (where permitted under the terms of 
Conditions 1 and 2 attached to this permission) shall be operated in 
accordance with "The Aldgate Tap: External Management Plan" 
received on 19 November 2023. The Management Plan shall be 
reviewed at the end of Year 1, following the grant of planning 
permission and, thereafter, as may be required from time to time by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The premises must be operated in 
accordance with the approved management plan for the life of the use. 

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining public square and 
the area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM3.5, DM15.7, DM19.4, DM21.3.  

  
 
 4 Within three months of the grant of planning permission, evidence must 

be submitted to the Local Planning Authority of the premises 
membership of the City's Community Toilet Scheme (CTS) or, where 
such membership has not been granted, details of the application 
and/or reasons for rejection.  

 REASON: To ensure all the public toilets are made available to the 
general public during operational hours without the requirement to 
purchase goods and to support an increase in the membership of the 
Community Toilet Scheme in accordance with Policy DM 22.2 
Provision of public toilets. 

 
 5 No live or recorded music shall be played that can be heard outside the 

premises.  
 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining public square and 

the area in general in accordance with the following policies of the 
Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
 6 No amplified or other music shall be played in the premises between 

the hours of 23:00 on one day and 08:00 on the next day.  
 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining public square and 

the area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
 7 There shall be no promoted events on the premises. A promoted event 

for this purpose, is an event involving music and dancing where the 
musical entertainment is provided at any time between 23:00 and 07:00 
by a disc jockey or disc jockeys one or some of whom are not 
employees of the premises licence holder and the event is promoted to 
the general public.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the adjoining premises and the 
area generally in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 

Page 263



 8 No servicing of the premises shall be carried out between the hours of 
23:00 on one day and 07:00 on the following day from Monday to 
Saturday and between 23:00 on Saturday and 07:00 on the following 
Monday and on Bank Holidays. Servicing includes the loading and 
unloading of goods from vehicles and putting rubbish outside the 
building.  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, 
DM16.2, DM21.3. 

 
 9 All parts of the existing and any future ventilation and extraction 

equipment including the odour control systems installed shall be 
cleaned, serviced and maintained in accordance with Section 5 of 
'Control of Odour & Noise from Commercial Kitchen Extract Systems' 
dated September 2018 by EMAQ+ (or any subsequent updated 
version). A record of all such cleaning, servicing and maintenance shall 
be maintained and kept on site and upon request provided to the Local 
Planning Authority to demonstrate compliance.  

 REASON: To protect the occupiers of any adjoining premises and 
public amenity in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM19.4, DM 15.7 and DM 21.3 

 
10 The existing refuse collection and storage facilities within the building 

shall be used by the operators of the Drinking Establishment (Sui 
Generis) use hereby approved and no waste shall be placed on the 
public highway.  

 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM17.1. 

 
11 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission:  

 Drawing nos. 4-C-43130 -01, 4-C-43133 -01; Unnumbered - External 
Area Extent; Site Location Plan (EGL542149).  

 Documents: The Aldgate Tap: External Management Plan rec'd 19.11. 
2023  

 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 
with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

Page 264



   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Local Plan, 

Supplementary Planning documents, and other written guidance has 
been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 266



 

 Comments 
summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below. 

Comments were submitted at 15/05/2023 6:15 PM from Mr Eli Goldsmith. 

Application Summary 

Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: 
Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful 
permitted use as Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking 
establishment) use.  

Case Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Mr Eli Goldsmith 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter 
Type: Neighbour 

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 

Reasons for 
comment: 

- Noise  
- Other  
- Residential Amenity  

Comments: Dear Planning, 
 
I am appalled yet another pub has been allowed to take over this beautiful 
civic building and the square it sits upon. 
 
Why have a pub company been allowed to open such an establishment here, 
it does not have planning permission and was never intended for such use. 
 
I object to this planning application on the grounds that it does not serve the 
local area or its residents. 
 
Eli Goldsmith 

 

 

Page 267

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7Cd8d178aec56248b2e68808db5568076f%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638197677528975653%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=G2RiXFF5g5S50xZjgKtrMHLcJ5JvjvwskgkoFU7sj3s%3D&reserved=0


From: Brad Solomon < >  
Sent: Monday, May 15, 2023 5:10 PM 
To: PLN - Comments <PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk> 
Subject: Planning proposal - objection: 23/00255/FULL 
 

 
Dear Sir/Madam,  
 
I wish to note my strong objection to the planning proposal relating to Portsoken Pavilion, 1 Aldgate 
Square, London, EC3N 1AF I noticed today 
 
Public funds where used to transform this area and build the Pavillon. 
 
There are 100+ pubs in the immediate local area already 
 
I do not object to this company per se, i have used the Euston Tap on occasion, another 'Tap' from 
this chain, but this building was never intended to become a pub and its having a detrimental effect 
on the local area. 
 
This is an abuse of the planning laws and i am shocked its been allowed to happen in what is usually 
the best run council in the UK 
 
Best, 
 
Brad Solomon 
  

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL 

Page 268

mailto:PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided 
below. 

Comments were submitted at 20/05/2023 1:04 AM from Miss Shannon Harrietsham. 

Application Summary 

Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as Class 
E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Miss Shannon Harrietsham 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter Type: Neighbour 
Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: 

- Noise  
- Other  
- Residential Amenity  

Comments: Dear Sirs, 
 
I wish to lodge an objection to the planning application made at Portsoken 
Pavilion, 1 Aldgate Square, London, EC3N 1AF 
 
The application made by Aldgate Tap Ltd is not credible and full of 
information which is simply untrue. 
 
The person and company behind this venture is Mr Jonathan Dalton of 
Bloomsbury Leisure, which is a bar/pub company, Aldgate Tap Ltd is small 
cog in this group of companies 
 
http://www.bloomsburyleisuregroup.com 
 
While the Aldgate Tap does not yet have an official website due to the lack of 
planning consent one assumes, the other 'Tap' bars, which clearly show the 
nature of this business and brand under which it operates, they have 
websites such as: 

Page 269

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7C8b1b7f7b41564a23361808db58c5cf7a%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638201378836717992%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=hVTiOH5txezvSvrJBPPIOVv4IWJTDer1UBuRuO%2FM1dU%3D&reserved=0
http://www.bloomsburyleisuregroup.com/


 
https://eustontap.com 
 
https://piccadillytap.com 
 
https://waterlootap.com 
 
This is very clearly a wet led bar/pub business. 
 
The application paints a picture that except Thursday nights, the main 
business is food, this is simply not true - any check on the business will 
confirm this falsehood. 
 
Mr Dalton could easily furnish verified sales reports that would show the food 
sales, a 60/40 food/drink split would be the minimum ratio to support his 
claims, but the report is likely to show food sales of below 10% of sales. 
 
The application also states an investment of £2,000,000 (two million) which 
is ludicrous and a complete fabrication, the true number is below £100,000. 
Can the investment of Two Million be supported by verified accounts? 
 
The application also states the community coffee focussed business failed 
due to an over supply of coffee shops in the city - another fallacy, it failed due 
to Covid and the actual permitted and intended use of the building would be 
a great success at the site. 
 
Businesses taking on sites and trading them without proper consent surely is 
not something City of London should be encouraging or allowing? 
 
It's unfair on local businesses who play by the rules and encourages 
dishonesty in applications to the council. 

 
Kind regards  

 
 
  

Page 270

https://eustontap.com/
https://piccadillytap.com/
https://waterlootap.com/


 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below. 

Comments were submitted at 24/05/2023 2:46 AM from Mr Richard Bartois. 

Application Summary 

Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Mr Richard Bartois 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter Type: Member of the Public 

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: 

- Noise  
- Other  
- Residential Amenity  

Comments: This pub has ruined the Square - the patrons are often drunk and rowdy. 
 
This square and the beautiful building publicly funded sitting on it were never 
intended to house yet another pub 
 
This is plain wrong and and an abuse of planning regulations and also public 
funds 

 
Kind regards  

  

 

 
  

Page 271

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7C2219722dcbe84e74846f08db5bf8b48c%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638204895959195899%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=BXMQGoCw9BeXoPWXLm9Vi7pHwb33%2BLo0HX6h1%2Bw2%2FuM%3D&reserved=0


 

 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below. 

Comments were submitted at 25/05/2023 12:42 AM from Mr Mark Hatch. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case 
Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Mr Mark Hatch 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter 
Type: Neighbour 

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: 

- Noise  
- Other  
- Residential Amenity  
- Traffic or Highways  

Comments: Dear Planning, 
 
This is a travesty. 
 
This screams of council corruption or simply negligence 
 
Another pub opened on the cheap without proper consent in a beautiful 
building built to benefit the community. 
 
This pub is causing a public nuisance with its drunken customers outside in 
the public space of the Square. 
 
I am appalled that local school children of all diverse faiths must witness this 
on daily basis in an area that was meant to beautify and enhance the local 
area. 
Plainly and wholly wrong 

 

Page 272

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7C5fbfd1815cbf4ff6844408db5cb09a24%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638205685788208859%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ezVCnBEMWDclleJ4QfKDGJrsq%2BcVSGEXcxjdHbOow9I%3D&reserved=0


  

 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below. 

Comments were submitted at 26/05/2023 12:21 AM from Dr richard Hammersham. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case 
Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Dr richard Hammersham 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter 
Type: Neighbour 

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: 

- Noise  
- Other  
- Residential Amenity  

Comments: Dear Planning, 
 
150+ people outside this establishment this evening causing horrendous 
noise and anti social behaviour 
 
This property does not have planning permission to be a bar and should not 
ever receive it, moreover it should not be trading as is currently without it. 
 
What has happened in The City of London where business can abuse the 
system like this!? 

 
Kind regards  

 

Page 273

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7C5acfb5c1583c45cd034008db5d76cb19%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638206537016217006%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=jIjlR%2BA872TcOW4fPo1TrS%2BEw70YNoQmnS82hl%2BAaP8%3D&reserved=0


 

 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below. 

Comments were submitted at 26/05/2023 4:24 PM from Mrs Monique Goodwin. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case 
Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Mrs Monique Goodwin 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter Type: Member of the Public 
Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: 

- Noise  
- Residential Amenity  
- Traffic or Highways  

Comments: Hello, 
 
I frequent the EC3 area for work and have often enjoyed the lovely 
Aldgate Square, particulary since it's refurbishment as a beautiful 
public space 
 
I see the venue on the square has changed form a cafe to a pub  
 
I would however like to object to two things:- 
 
1. The fact that it is currently operating without the correct license. 
This seems to me rather inappropriate. Surely a venue should first 
ask and go through the planning process before assuming all is OK 
and trading as a pub? My manager regularly drinks in the area and 
has heard from licensee's that the Aldgate Tap is owned by the 

Page 274

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7C18a3756e1acc4c889e6408db5dfd4e32%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638207114737508295%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=dWCGp4nyMK4biFhyPWDw0ZVPK0Mar6raoTT4KV9a2ug%3D&reserved=0


corporation and has been treated favourably, not least to be able to 
trade without a license. 
 
2. I believe that a licensed premise has conditions placed on it 
around furniture outside, numbers of people, serving glassware, 
playing lound music... Recently I have witnessed large crowds of 50 
or more people, drinking outside from glassware at vertical drinking 
tables and indeed spreading further onto the square and quite frankly 
taking it over, leaving glasses and cigarette buts everywhere. At least 
twice, I have heard some pretty choice language from large groups 
of gents, I believe discussing football as early as 3/4pm when the 
children are still in or leaving the school opposite. There appears to 
be no limit to the space they can take up, nor the noise and mess 
they can make or indeed how they behave. I tried to make a phone 
call from the square as I often do and my client couldn't even hear 
me! 
 
There appears to be a total lack of management from the venue.  
 
So although I have no objection in principal to it being a pub, I do feel 
the city is a very safe and civilised place and there should be 
sensible demarcation, control and management of outside drinkers in 
their number and location which would hopefully assist with a 
decrease in noise, smoke, choice language and making sure there's 
comfortable space for other users of the square especially on a 
sunny afternoon. 

 
Kind regards 
 
  

Page 275



From: Andrew Wallace   
Sent: Tuesday, June 20, 2023 5:27 PM 
To: Pln - CC - Development Dc <PLNDev@int.cityoflondon.gov.uk> 
Subject: 23/00255/FULL - Aldgate Tap - Planning Applica�on - OBJECTION 
 
THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL 
 
 
Dear City of London, 
 
My apologies for the late submission of my comments on the above referenced planning applica�on. 
I hope my comments can s�ll be put forward for considera�on with the applica�on. 
 
Aldgate Square is a beau�ful public square, between a church and a primary school. It is one of a 
very limited number of spaces in the City that offers local residents and the broader City community 
somewhere safe and atrac�ve to gather, play, picnic, and relax. My daughter is a pupil at The Aldgate 
School, and it’s an absolute joy to watch her and the other children playing in the square and its 
fountain. 
 
With that as a background I was horrified to see the pavilion being used as a pub, and Aldgate Square 
being used as a huge beer garden with large numbers of drinking and drunk office workers carrying 
and deposi�ng beer glasses all over the square, smoking, swearing, shou�ng. 
 
There are literally thousands of places for city workers to get drunk, the crea�on of yet another 
space for this ac�vity is completely unnecessary, especially when it involved the destruc�on of a 
public space. 
 
The foreseeable consequences of gran�ng this planning applica�on, and turning the pavilion onto a 
‘drinking establishment’ are: 
- Aldgate Square will become litered with broken glass, cigarete stubs, etc. 
- One of the school children, or someone else enjoying the square and the fountain, will be injured 
by broken glass - poten�ally seriously 
- The church yard will be used as a public toilet 
- This fabulous public space will be lost to the public 
 
I urge the City of London to reject this planning applica�on. 
 
Andrew Wallace 
  

Page 276

mailto:PLNDev@int.cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below. 

Comments were submitted at 03/07/2023 3:30 PM from Mrs Alessandra Alivernini. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case 
Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Mrs Alessandra Alivernini 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 

Commenter 
Type: Member of the Public 

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 

Reasons for 
comment: - Other  

Comments: To Whom it May Concern,  
 
My daughter goes at The Aldgate School and we like to spend extra time with 
friend at the square after school. The fountain over the days of hot weather 
were a must.  
 
It is however concerning the change of use of the pavillion, the glasses left on 
the floor or around the square from which kids can drink or harm themself. It is 
a shame how a small pub without a defined outdoor space took ownership of 
the square, careless of the community.  
 
I urge the City of London to reconsider this planning application. 
 
Regards, 
Alessandra Alivernini 

Kind regards  

 

Page 277

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7Ca49071254b6c468d543908db7bd20870%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638239914234458375%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=3Ts2yHvrSR4i3mRa%2Bx1Meo1CzvuOxinpeDbzq7gayIo%3D&reserved=0


 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below. 

Comments were submitted at 03/07/2023 4:22 PM from Mr Joe Tilley. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case Officer: Tony Newman  
 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Mr Joe Tilley 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter Type: Member of the Public 
Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: - Other  

Comments: When the pavilion reopened, I was open-minded about the 
transformation into a bar. I was sad to lose the cafe but also happy to 
see the building brought back into use. Having experienced it as a 
bar now for several months, I do not think that it works very well with 
its surroundings. Previously, the square was very busy after school 
finished (my child attends the Aldgate School). Now, fewer parents 
and children tend to congregate in the Square, as it tends to be filled 
with people visiting the Aldgate Tap instead.  
 
The cafe and its associated lavatories were such a lovely addition to 
the Square, and it was unfortunate that Kahaila was not able to 
reopen quickly at the end of lockdown, following the terrible 
vandalism of the windows.  
 
Kahaila did serve beer and wine, along side cake, sandwiches and 
soft drinks and I wonder if there is space for this mixed-use to come 
back? If, pragmatically, it is only viable to operate as a bar, would it 
be possible to restrict outside drinking until 5.00pm, when most of the 
children have left school, and people would be leaving their offices? 
Perhaps it could operate like Slug and Lettuce, for example, which is 

 

Page 278

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7C3c974251800e410e533a08db7bd9425d%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638239945263618297%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=xqIvGorMPgGxhG6WmZURrB4Wdl0tNOn6iUJZp8hsMN4%3D&reserved=0


more of a restaurant during the day, and then becomes more of bar-
style venue in the evening? 
 
Equally, whatever the building operates as, could its use as a local 
public lavatory be retained and made more obvious, so that people 
realise they can use the loos without needing to buy a drink? 

 
Kind regards  

  

 

  
 
  

Page 279



From: Wynne Lawrence   
Sent: Monday, July 3, 2023 4:37 PM 
To: PLN - Comments <PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk> 
Subject: Aldgate square  
 

 
Good day 
I live (petticoat lane) and work locally (st botolph building) and my son goes to the Aldgate school 
child centre. I am writing to ask that the city reject any planning application that would make the 
aldgate tap drinking establishment permanent. The aldgate square is a special and unique green 
space for city children. They love running and playing there with their friends after school.  This 
summer it has been overrun with adults drinking. Broken glass and bottles so they cannot take off 
their shoes to cool their feet in the fountain on a hot day. The grass is withered and they now cannot 
run amd play amongst all the drinking people. If my son plays there I cannot have a good sightline to 
ensure he is safe.  
There are so few spaces for city and local children. There is so little grass. There are literally 
hundreds of pubs and adult spaces in the city. Please leave this one spot for families and children of 
aldgate school and the city. The aldgate square is a unique space and wonderful amenity. Please 
preserve it for our local children and families. City workers can drink literally anywhere else. Please 
reject planning for another bar in our local square. 
Thank you for your consideration.  
Kind regards  
Wynne Lawrence  
  

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL 

Page 280

mailto:PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided 
below. 

Comments were submitted at 11/07/2023 7:09 PM from Ms Andrea Lawrence. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case 
Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Ms Andrea Lawrence 

Email: 

Address: Flat 11 Bernard House, Toynbee Street Toynbee Street LONDON 
 
Comments Details 
Commenter 
Type: Member of the Public 

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: 

- Noise  
- Other  

Comments: I live (petticoat lane) and work locally (st botolph building) and my son goes to 
the Aldgate school child centre. I am writing to ask that the city reject any 
planning application that would make the aldgate tap drinking establishment 
permanent. The aldgate square is a special and unique green space for city 
children. They love running and playing there with their friends after school. 
This summer it has been overrun with adults drinking. Broken glass and bottles 
so they cannot take off their shoes to cool their feet in the fountain on a hot 
day. The grass is withered and they now cannot run and play amongst all the 
drinking people. If my son plays there I cannot have a good sightline to ensure 
he is safe.  
There are so few spaces for city and local children. There is so little grass. 
There are literally hundreds of pubs and adult spaces in the city. Please leave 
this one spot for families and children of aldgate school and the city. The 
aldgate square is a unique space and wonderful amenity. Please preserve it for 
our local children and families. City workers can drink literally anywhere else. 
Please reject planning for another bar in our local square. 

 

Page 281

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7Cb4e0cdee3a964afd809208db8239f17c%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638246957594171183%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=zTns80Sb8ODV4Sb6aF1PZExFm4yns0mMpXSYRm6dZI0%3D&reserved=0


 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided 
below. 

Comments were submitted at 11/07/2023 8:33 PM from Mrs Chantel Haron. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case Officer: Tony Newman  
 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Mrs Chantel Haron 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter 
Type: Member of the Public 

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 

Reasons for 
comment: - Other  

Comments: I live in close proximity, and my daughter goes to the Aldgate school. I am 
writing to ask that the city reject any planning application that would make the 
aldgate tap drinking establishment permanent. Aldgate square is a special and 
unique green space for city children. They love running and playing there with 
their friends after school. This summer it has been overrun with adults drinking. 
Broken glass and bottles so they cannot take off their shoes to cool their feet in 
the fountain on a hot day. The grass is withered and they now cannot run and 
play amongst all the drinking people. If my daughter plays there I cannot have a 
good sightline to ensure she is safe.  
 
There are so few spaces for city and local children. There is so little grass. 
There are literally hundreds of pubs and adult spaces in the city. Please leave 
this one spot for families and children of aldgate school and the city. Aldgate 
square is a unique space and wonderful amenity. Please preserve it for our local 
children and families. City workers can drink literally anywhere else. Please 
reject planning for another bar in our local square. 

 
Kind regards 

Page 282

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7Cc7339cf474db47ca2b7908db8245c225%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638247008341096037%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=J0Vzy66PdORy9pRt3M9n5W7fs8MEz%2B0nuae5ojQ3ebE%3D&reserved=0


 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided 
below. 

Comments were submitted at 14/07/2023 8:16 PM from Ms Natalie Coe. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case 
Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 
Name: Ms Natalie Coe 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter Type: Neighbour 
Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: - Other  

Comments: I live locally and my daughter attends the children's centre at Aldgate 
school. I am writing to object to the Aldgate Tap planning application 
as it stands. Aldgate Square is a special and unique open space for 
city children which creates a much needed sense of community and 
somewhere to play. I've always loved seeing the way children come 
together there to run and play imaginatively together after school while 
a diverse range of parents get to meet each other when they 
otherwise wouldn't linger. It's always felt safe and clean too. 
 
This is not possible when the area is overrun with adults drinking. It's 
now very difficult to keep my children safe when leaving school - even 
walking through without stopping to play ie trying to keep close to my 
3yr old whilst pushing a pram through the crowd. 
 
I'm not against it being a bar per se if people are not allowed to spill 
out over the whole square or if timings are restricted to after eg 5/6pm 
when children have gone home. Giving the children an hour or two 
each day doesn't seem too imposing.  
 

Page 283

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7Ce6c0e75876904504371d08db849ee879%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638249590266117472%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=RugUDeexW%2Fjbpst9aNJ5BV8EaZG3llvdJA1j7xKOV8k%3D&reserved=0


This is really essential in an area with very few open public spaces - 
particularly for children who mainly live in small flats. 
 
Many thanks 

 
Kind regards 
  

Page 284



 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided 
below. 

Comments were submitted at 14/07/2023 8:54 PM from Mr David Williams. 

Application Summary 

Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case 
Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 

Name: Mr David Williams 

Email:   

Address: 5 St Andrew’s Hill London 
 
Comments Details 
Commenter Type: Member of the Public 
Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 
Reasons for 
comment: 

- Other  
- Residential Amenity  

Comments: The spread of people drinking from this bar all over the square has 
totally transformed the area outside of the City's one effective child 
focussed environment (the school). My daughter has attended 
nursery since she was 1 and my youngest is now about to start. They 
will attend the school. I have worked in the city for 15 years and 
understand the need for space for adults to relax and wind down 
after a day of work, but this was one of very few which served the 
whole community, including children. There are many bars to vent in.  
 
This summer parents and kids have not been able to meet and play 
in the fountains as we have the last two years, mixing in groups of all 
ages, sharing picnic meals into the evening and embedding a sense 
of community in the city for those of us who choose to effectively 
build our whole lives here rather than just commuting in and out 
consuming it.  
 
Drinkers have been slow to move for the kids passing through to 
leave the area, in some cases have been rude and in many cases 

Page 285

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7C66284f0e37fd4473b38308db84a420db%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638249612683920432%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=HaQ%2B8XYciPvSZepgKpzs2fIDJev%2F3ZVixbHkzpOjlT8%3D&reserved=0


behaving in a way incompatible with children being in the vicinity. 
They stand right to the edge of the fountain footprint and make 
passing without walking through it or them impossible. The area 
outside the bar is more dirty and certainly more intimidating, 
particularly if you are 95cm tall and unused to the enthusiastic crass 
humour a liquid lunch encourages. 
 
This amazing space has become somewhere which fails its 
community; the School and its parents need support and nurture, not 
more obstacles to family city living. 
 
Even by limiting outside drinking strictly to the confines of the 
footprint of the building might not be effective given the difficulty in 
enforcement and revellers pushing the boundaries.  
 
Please don't allow this use to persist, at very least say until 1800 
when even on the balmiest of days the kids have played themselves 
towards sleep. 

 
Kind regards 
  

Page 286



 Comments summary 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

Planning Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided 
below. 

Comments were submitted at 14/07/2023 10:00 PM from Ms Poorvi Dave. 

Application Summary 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF  

Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use.  

Case 
Officer: Tony Newman  

 
Click for further information 
 
Customer Details 
Name: Ms Poorvi Dave 

Email:  

Address:  

 
Comments Details 
Commenter 
Type: Member of the Public 

Stance: Customer objects to the Planning Application 

Reasons for 
comment: - Other  

Comments: There are several places and drinking spots in the city however not many green 
spaces for local children. My family often walk to the square and it's nice to sit 
and enjoy the sunshine or the water and just have a bit of green space where 
parents can sit with children and babies in prams.  
 
It's really important to conserve such green spaces that can be used for 
families. It's also right by the school and a known area with the water fountains 
which is important to the community. 
 
We've also visited the nursery for baby community classes and I believe it's in 
the interest of the local families and children to avoid making the tap a 
permanent drinking place. 

 
Kind regards 
  

Page 287

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.planning2.cityoflondon.gov.uk%2Fonline-applications%2FcentralDistribution.do%3FcaseType%3DApplication%26keyVal%3DRRB49CFHK1Z00&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7Cbfe266f37a5c481b941408db84ad65c2%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638249652496317207%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=61mxS%2B8kuKfgqMlU44L8dTtKvw%2BRmKQkb9BLlrbzRsU%3D&reserved=0


From: Laura Jorgensen  
Sent: Wednesday, June 21, 2023 4:50 PM 
To: Pln - CC - Development Dc <PLNDev@int.cityoflondon.gov.uk> 
Subject: 23/00255/FULL Objection 
 

 
Submitted via email as web portal currently notes 'Your connection is not private' 
 

Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF 
Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class 
E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use. 

From: 
The Parochial Church Council of the Ecclesiastical Parish of Saint Botolph, Aldgate and Holy 
Trinity, Minories 
St Botolph without Aldgate 
Aldgate High Street 
LONDON EC3  

 
 
Commenter type: Neighbour / Other 
Stance: Object 
Reason for comment: Noise / Other 

 
I write on behalf of the Parochial Church Council of St Botolph without Aldgate. 
We object to the change of use proposal for the Portsoken Pavillion: 
1. Insufficient Consultation: The church is a neighbouring property, but received no 
notification in writing of this application. We were not consulted about the change of use prior 
to the lease being granted in 2022, whereas we we were consulted throughout the process 
of the development of the new public realm in Aldgate, during which we expressed concern 
about the size of the Portsoken Pavillion but were reassured it was a community asset and 
would provide ‘active frontage’ for the new square and the all important public toilets. Local 
stakeholders were also fully involved in the process to find the social enterprise to take on 
the Pavillion once finished. To have engaged so fully in consultation with the local 
community and to then make such a drastic change to the use without notification other than 
seemingly one A4 notice not on a major through-route is insufficient consultation.  
We have had concerns for some time about the volume of drinkers outside with the warmer 
weather, and had looked at the City of London Licensing website during May and June, 
which noted the licence was 'suspended'. There were no signposts on that website that a 
change of use application had been made. We presume, also, that the Aldgate Tap have 
been operating under an incorrect licence to date. We have had to write this objection within 
a very short timeframe and without being able to take advice. 
2. Removal of Community Amenity: Aldgate Square was designed as a place for 
community, an outdoor space for all the different layers of the Aldgate community to enjoy. 
Prior to the Aldgate Tap's use of the square, Aldgate Square would see through the day 
different demographic groups enjoying having a pleasant and much needed outside space. 
These included construction workers, office workers, elderly residents, school children and 
tourists. We found that the new Square was transformative to community life. Local families 
particularly valued it as a safe space for children to be able to run around and enjoy being 
outside - children enjoyed rolling down the grass, chasing round the Square on scooters and 

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL 

Page 288

mailto:PLNDev@int.cityoflondon.gov.uk


bikes, and splashing in the play fountain. For many children this is the only grass they will 
see on a regular basis and was seen and valued as a safe outdoor space.. These were 
moments of real cross-community connection. 
As the Summer has approached, the entire Square, particularly on a Thursday and Friday 
from lunchtime onwards has been filled from the Pavillion to the southern end of the Square 
with customers of the Aldgate Tap (see attached photo). Contrary to their application, the 
demographic attracted to the Portsoken Pavillion appears monocultural and does not reflect 
the diversity of the area. 
Aldgate Square was designed to remove barriers between communities, particularly in such 
a multi-cultural, mutli-layered area at the City fringe. It is very clear that the community 
atmosphere of Aldgate Square which was so valued has all but disappeared, that local 
residents and others are not able to enjoy the amenity of the Square whilst surrounded by 
those drinking and smoking and music. We are concerned for our local residents who are 
Muslim, and for children with such conspicuous consumption of alcohol in a public square.  
The toilets, such an important part of the original scheme, are unlikely to be used by 
community members given the volume of people in the bar, and the change of use to a 
drinking establishment. The operating hours mean that the much-needed and promised 
public toilet provision is not available to those who use the square in the mornings and at 
weekends. 
3. Space Management and Health and Safety: The Aldgate Tap appears not to control 
access to the outside space at all. Chairs and tables are taken onto the grass. Drinkers take 
their pint glasses to all areas of the Aldgate Square. There appear to be no limits to the 
number of customers served. The previous cafe tenants were very strict about where their 
table and chairs were placed, and all customers were seated.  
When the Pavillion is shut, and there is space for the local community to use it, parents in 
particular are hesitant due to the possibility of broken glass, especially around the play 
fountains.  
 
4. Information on the application: We note that the applicant states that the previous cafe 
did not succeed due to the number of similar establishments in the area. This is not correct. 
The previous tenant struggled with a building which had significant issues such as glass 
doors breaking and toilets regularly flooding. 
To conclude, Aldgate Square was transformational to the local area, and the local 
community, local school and church congregation are now excluded from the only safe 
outdoor community space in the area, and we strongly believe it is an inappropriate use of 
the building set as it is between two community buildings. 
The Portsoken Pavilion was conceived as a cafe for the benefit of the local community, 
enhancing the environment and creating healthy living. We hope that this application will be 
rejected, or at least more consultation and discussion be undertaken please before a 
decision is made. 
 
--  
The Reverend Laura Jørgensen 
 
Rector of St Botolph's without Aldgate 
Dean of Women's Ministry for the Two Cities Area 
 
St Botolph without Aldgate 
Aldgate High Street 
London 
EC3N 1AB 
  

Page 289



From: Alexandra Allan  
Sent: Thursday, June 22, 2023 10:24 AM 
To: Pln - CC - Development Dc <PLNDev@int.cityoflondon.gov.uk> 
Subject: Objection to change of use proposal to Portsoken Pavillion 
 

 
To Whom it May Concern,  
I write on behalf of The Aldgate School, located in Aldgate Square. 
I have become aware of the use of the Portsoken Pavilion as a pub currently (the Aldgate Tap) and 
have been made aware of the permanent plan for change of use of the Portsoken Pavillion.  
 
Consultation process: I am concerned about the recent change of use and the lack of consultation 
around the permanent change. The change of use of the pavilion fundamentally changes the 
character of the square and the Portsoken area. I would ask that you undertake a full consultation 
before making any changes. 
 
 
Community asset: The Aldgate Square, since its opening, has been a community hub and a key factor in removing 
barriers in this multicultural environment. Families from the school and far beyond use the square on a daily basis 
and children enjoy using the fountains and running on the real grass area. Unfortunately with the opening of the 
Aldgate Tap, this has quickly changed.  
 
Culture and safety: The obvious and copious smoking and consumption of alcohol are of concern to our school 
community, a large proportion of whom are Muslim. It is a concern that the square is now full of individuals who are 
under the influence of alcohol and therefore the safeguarding of the children and families using the square is of 
concern. The patrons of the Aldgate Tap fill the square and are not restricted to the immediate area beside the 
pavilion, which leaves little space for others to enjoy the square. 
 
There is also a concern around broken glass generated by the patrons of the Aldgate Tap which has rendered the 
fountains dangerous for the children to enjoy due to fear of injury. 
 
In its previous iteration, the toilets in the Portsoken Pavilion were available for the public users in the square to use. 
This is no longer the case and therefore another limiting factor for people beyond the pub to use the square. 
 
I do hope that you will consider carefully the views of the school, the immediate neighbours of the Portsoken 
Pavillion, before you make your final decision.  
 
Kind regards, 
Alexandra Allan 
 
Headteacher 
The Aldgate School and Children's Centre 
St James' Passage 
Duke's Place 
EC3A 5DE 
 
Tel:  
www.thealdgateschool.org 
 
 
  

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL 

Page 290

mailto:PLNDev@int.cityoflondon.gov.uk
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.thealdgateschool.org%2F&data=05%7C01%7CTony.Newman%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7Cdb28123b54c04b0df5b308db73d5c79c%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638231134230190270%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2FneckiQGecuiOoJ1BCESHxhGek%2BYPYsZuXj3JYyzCKE%3D&reserved=0


Application Reference: 23/00255/FULL 
Address: Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF 
Proposal: Retention of a change of use of the premises from the lawful permitted use as 
Class E(b) (restaurant) to Sui Generis (drinking establishment) use. 
Case Officer: Tony Newman 
Written on behalf of the Aldgate School Community 
 
The Aldgate School 
St James’s Passage 
Dukes Place 
London  
EC3A 5DE 
office@thealdgateschool.org 
 
Commenter type: Neighbour / Other 
Stance: Object 
Reason for comment: Noise / Other 
 
To whom it may concern 
 
COMMENT: 
 

• The consulta�on process - as a neighbouring property we are concerned about the 
recent change of use and the lack of no�fica�on in wri�ng which we would normally 
expect with a planning consulta�on.  We therefore feel insufficient consulta�on has 
been sought. The change of use of the pavilion has already altered the character of 
the square. 

• The Portsoken Pavilion was conceived as a social enterprise for the benefit of the 
local community, enhancing the environment and crea�ng healthy living. Regretably 
our families are no longer able to use this space safely due to individuals being under 
the influence of alcohol. 

• Safeguarding has now become an issue for our families using the square as the 
patrons of the Aldgate Tap fill a considerable area of the square and are not limited 
to the immediate area beside the pavilion. Our families now have a much smaller 
area to play and congregate in. 

• Aldgate Square itself was designed to remove barriers between communi�es, 
par�cularly in crea�ng public space for the area’s mul�cultural residents. Since the 
square has opened our children and their families have benefited enormously from 
using the fountains and the grassy area. That has all changed since the opening of 
the Aldgate Tap. 

• There is a lack of cultural sensi�vity in this change of use. A significant number of our 
community are Muslim. For those parents and their primary age children to see 
individuals under the influence of alcohol is inappropriate especially where it is to 
excess. 

• The proposed reten�on of the change of use as a drinking establishment fails to take 
into account the pavilion’s loca�on in rela�on to its immediate neighbouring 
proper�es – the Aldgate school and a Church of England parish church 

Page 291

mailto:admin@stbotolphs.org.uk


• From a safety perspec�ve the hazard of broken glass to the public- par�cularly to 
children and animals – caused by damaged glasses being discarded by drinkers is a 
real risk. 

• Poten�al for an�-social behaviour has risen as individuals react under the influence 
of alcohol. 

• Surely there is an obliga�on for the community to have a safe and unimpeded route 
across the public square. 

 
We do hope that you will consider carefully the views of the wider school community before 
you make your final decision. 
  

Page 292



From: Laura Jorgensen   
Sent: Monday, November 20, 2023 1:33 PM 
To: Newman, Tony  
Subject: Re: Portsoken Pavilion, 1 Aldgate Square, London EC3N 1AF (Planning Application 
23/00255/FULL) 
 

 
Dear Tony,  
 
The PCC of St Botolph's met yesterday and discussed your email.  We are not withdrawing our 
objection: 
 
Our comment relating to the lack of consultation relates to the fact that we would have objected 
strongly to a bar being built in the new public realm scheme of 2018 - we only agreed then to 
something of the scale of the Portsoken Pavilion in a public square between two community 
buildings, The Aldgate School and St Botolph's as we were assured it would be of benefit to the 
whole community, rather than a bar, which impacts on local families, people of other faiths, and 
particularly on children.   We believe that this building should never have been let as a bar, it is 
detrimental to a wide range of people. 
 
There has been an increase in public urination since the opening of the bar.  We have commented 
on this to Open Spaces and to the City of London Police.   The Portsoken Pavillion has no signs saying 
that they are part of the community toilet scheme.    You note that broken glass or other issues have 
not been reported - the channels through which to do this are unclear. 
 
We acknowledge that the Aldgate Tap have made efforts to manage drinkers spilling out at certain 
times, but from 17.30 onwards in the summer when the whole Square is full of drinkers either from 
the bar, or attracted by the bar and have brought their own drink, and the music is very audible 
where are other people in the community supposed to go?  That one business is able to take over a 
public square designed with all the local communities in mind - workers, residents, tourists and 
visitors, is one of our main issues with the bar - where is the space for those who aren't drinkers or 
can't afford to go out?  The square was a fantastic and well appreciated addition to the local 
streetscape, and we were very grateful to the City of London Corporation for their investment in 
Aldgate, unfortunately it is now not a space where people who are not bar users want to be. 
 
Kind regards, 
 
Laura 
  

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL 

Page 293



From: Wynne Lawrence 
Sent: Friday, October 20, 2023 8:49 PM 
To: Newman, Tony  
Subject: Re: Portsoken Pavilion, 1 Aldgate Square, London EC3N 1AF (Planning Application 
23/00255/FULL) 
 

 
Dear Tony 
Many thanks. I'm glad that there is some accommodation and attempt at addressing local concerns 
but I really feel strongly that given the high number of drinking establishments in the City and 
surrounding areas and complete absence of safe green spaces for local children it is simply not 
appropriate to have a bar in the square. The measures taken thus far put large rust coloured metal 
eyesores in what is otherwise an attractive green and flowered space. Further they force local 
children, commuters and many others including scooters, skateboards and courier bicycles through a 
narrow gap which is now even more dangerous for children to be knocked over. The pub draws 
scores of drinkers all over the green grass on warmer days and continues to do so, pushing out the 
children. The children have very little space to run and play during the week. I urge the City to 
reconsider the zoning and tenancy of this central space in an important green space that was 
designed with the local community in mind and at great expense. 
I am single parent and work full time as many do and I pick up my child at 5.30pm. Accordingly the 
imposition of the suggested restriction will have no impact on my concerns or ameliorate the day to 
day life of my son and his friends who stay later at school in tea club because their parents work. 
I would be happy to provide further detail or discuss further with your team and am content for my 
concerns to be passed to the premises management. 
Kind regards  
Andrea 
  

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL 

Page 294



From: Andrew Wallace   
Sent: Friday, October 20, 2023 10:42 PM 
To: Newman, Tony <  
Subject: Re: Portsoken Pavilion, 1 Aldgate Square, London EC3N 1AF (Planning Application 
23/00255/FULL) 
 

 
Dear Tony,   
 
Thank you for your email and I appreciate your efforts, although they do not address my concerns.  
 
The use of the square in the way suggested means the square will alternate from a playground to a 
bar and back again every day (in the warmer months).  
 
If you have visited the square on a warm day after school finishes you will have seen young children 
using the square in the way they have done for years and the way, I suspect, it was designed to be 
used - playing barefoot in the fountain, running around, rolling around, falling over. The idea that 
the City of London would allow large numbers of - very possibly drunk - people to have use of the 
same square the night before as a bar is reckless beyond belief. Whatever the operator may 
promise, glasses will be broken and broken glass will be left on the square - and the next day a 
barefoot child will be running around the same area. There will be an accident - possibly a life 
changing accident - and the City of London will be responsible.  
 
Please do not repurpose one of the very few beautiful public spaces in the City to create yet another 
place for people to get drunk.  
 
Kind regards, 
Andrew 
 

THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 296


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	4 Middlesex Street Estate, Gravel Lane, London, E1 7AF
	Representations

	5 Portsoken Pavilion 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF
	The Portsoken Pavilion, 1 Aldgate Square London EC3N 1AF
	Representations_Redacted
	From: Brad Solomon < >  Sent: Monday, May 15, 2023 5:10 PM To: PLN - Comments <PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk> Subject: Planning proposal - objection: 23/00255/FULL
	From: Andrew Wallace
	From: Wynne Lawrence   Sent: Monday, July 3, 2023 4:37 PM To: PLN - Comments <PLNComments@cityoflondon.gov.uk> Subject: Aldgate square
	From: Laura Jorgensen
	Sent: Wednesday, June 21, 2023 4:50 PM To: Pln - CC - Development Dc <PLNDev@int.cityoflondon.gov.uk> Subject: 23/00255/FULL Objection
	From:
	From: Alexandra Allan
	Sent: Thursday, June 22, 2023 10:24 AM To: Pln - CC - Development Dc <PLNDev@int.cityoflondon.gov.uk> Subject: Objection to change of use proposal to Portsoken Pavillion





